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1Annual Report 2024

A note from Sundar, April 2025

To our investors, 2024 marked a year of powerful 
momentum for Google and Alphabet, fueled by our 
AIܭfirst strategy۽ �eܻre shiĨĨing neŏ Ĩroducts faster 
than ever, driving AI breaĀthroughs, and delivering AIܻs 
benefits to more ĨeoĨle globally through our uniĪue 
fullܭstacĀ aĨĨroach ܰ from foundational infrastructure, 
to models and research, to Ĩroducts and Ĩlaƍorms 
serving billions of ĨeoĨle and businesses۽

�orldܭclass infrastructure
Googleܻs unĨaralleled bacĀbone netŏorĀ sĨans 
more than ٴٴٶ countries and territories connected 
by more than 2 million miles of terrestrial and subsea 
cables, creating a suĨer resilient foundation for our 
AIܭĨoŏered future۽ �his netŏorĀ, ŏhich moves at 
ܸGoogle sĨeedܹ ܰ nearܭŝero latency ܰ for billions 
of users worldwide is now available to enterprises 
everyŏhere through the Cloud �ide Area XetŏorĀ 
 �e also maĀe our �ensor Processing ۽ܢor Cloud �AXܡ
�nits, the same chiĨs ŏe used to train our most 
caĨable AI models, available to businesses through 
Google Cloud۽ Must a feŏ ŏeeĀs ago at Cloud Xext, 
ŏe announced our ٻth generation �P�: Ironŏood۽ 
Itܻs the most Ĩoŏerful chiĨ ŏeܻve ever built and ŏill 
enable the next frontier of AI models۽ 

Leading AI research and models
Our leading research teams continue to advance 
the field ŏith our generative AI research ĨaĨers, 
cited three times more than any other comĨany 
or educational institution in the ŏorld۽ In ٸٶٴٶ, 
our research drove advances in the underlying 
models, from breakthroughs in multimodality to 
longܭcontext understanding۽ Last "ecember, ŏe 
launched Gemini ٴ۽ٶ models, ŏhich shoŏ advances 
in comĨlex reasoning, native image outĨut, and 
agentic caĨabilities۽ And ýust last month, ŏe tooĀ 
another big leaĨ, ŏith Gemini ٹ۽ٶ Pro, ŏhich Ĩushes 
the frontier of thinĀing۽ Our most intelligent AI model 
yet, Gemini ٹ۽ٶ Pro launched as the best model in the 
ŏorld on tasĀs reĪuiring advanced reasoning۽ Itܻs also 
our most inܭdemand model, ŏith an ܭٴټĨercentܭĨlus 
increase in active users in Google AI Studio and the 
Gemini API the month of release۽ All told, over four 
million develoĨers use our Gemini models, including 
Gemma 3, our family of open models, showing high 
Ĩerformance even on a single >ٴٴٵ GP۽�

AIܭĨoŏered Ĩroducts
Gemini is noŏ used across all of our ٹٵ Ĩroducts, ŏith 
half a billion users ܰ including Google MaĨs ŏhich 
became our seventh Ĩroduct to reach ٶ billion users 
last year۽ Gemini enhances our core Ĩroducts and 
creates entirely neŏ exĨeriences, too۽ In Search, 
AI Overvieŏs noŏ reach ٵ billion ĨeoĨle܀ notably, users 
engaging ŏith AI Overvieŏs return to Search for more 
of their information needs۽ �eܻre excited about our 
neŏest exĨeriment, AI Mode, ŏhich is taĀing on even 
more comĨlicated Īueries ŏith AI۽ �eܻre also building 
novel exĨeriences liĀe "eeĨ Research for Gemini aĨĨ 
users and XotebooĀLM, to helĨ ĨeoĨle delve even 
deeĨer on toĨics they care about۽

�eܻre excited about our neŏest exĨeriment, AI Mode, 
ŏhich is taĀing on even more comĨlicated Īueries ŏith AI۽

Of course Gemini is not our only industryܭleading 
model۽ �eo ٶ ܰ ŏhich creates video ŏith realistic 
motion and highܭĪuality outĨut, uĨ to ٸO ܰ is noŏ the 
leading video generation model, emĨoŏering creators 
to bring their most vivid ideas to life۽ Our AI tools are 
also helĨing ĨeoĨle and organiŝations create, learn, 
and get things done in ŏays they couldnܻt a couĨle 
of years ago ܰ from brainstorming neŏ ideas ŏith 
Gemini Live to ĪuicĀly generating interactive ŏeb 
aĨĨ ĨrototyĨes in Gemini aĨĨܻs Canvas۽ �ith Proýect 
Astra, noŏ in the Gemini aĨĨ in your Ĩhone, ŏeܻre 
testing neŏ ŏays to helĨ you interact ŏith the ŏorld 
around you۽ £ou can asĀ Gemini about anything you 
see۽ Share your screen or camera in Gemini Live to 
brainstorm, troubleshoot, and more۽ ߊ
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Advancing science ߞ society
 also saŏ imĨortant Ĩrogress that is advancing ٸٶٴٶ
science and discovery۽ "emis >assabis and Mohn 
MumĨer from Google "eeĨMind received the Xobel 
Priŝe for Chemistry for their ŏorĀ on AlĨhaFold, 
a protein-folding breakthrough now being used by 
 �eܻve made ۽million researchers around the ŏorld ٶ
neŏ stateܭofܭtheܭart ŏeather forecasting models 
available to researchers and businesses۽ And 
our neŏ FireSat initiative ŏill use highܭresolution 
satellite imagery and AI to detect fires as small 
as ٹxٹ meters, ŏhich ŏill be a game changer for 
fighting ŏildfires globally۽

"emis >assabis and Mohn MumĨer from Google "eeĨMind received 
the Xobel Priŝe for Chemistry for their ŏorĀ on AlĨhaFold, a Ĩroteinܭ
folding breaĀthrough noŏ being used by ٶ million researchers 
around the ŏorld۽

Investing in the future
MaĀing AI helĨful for everyone reĪuires deeĨer 
investments in infrastructure, ýob training, and clean 
energy ŏhich can create ýobs and oĨĨortunities for 
ĨeoĨle۽ �hatܻs ŏhy ŏe Ĩlan to invest aĨĨroximately 
 in caĨital exĨenditures, launch ٹٶٴٶ billion in ٹٻݝ
a firstܭever Ĩroýect to Ĩoŏer data centers using 
small modular nuclear reactors, and exĨand training 
through our ٴٶٵݝ million AI OĨĨortunity Fund۽ 

Strong business momentum
�eܻve seen strong momentum across the breadth 
of our business over the Ĩast year۽ �aĀe a looĀ at 
Search and our ads business: �e already see more 
than ٹ trillion searches on Google annually, and ŏith 
AI, ŏeܻre continuing to exĨand the tyĨes of Īuestions 
that ĨeoĨle can asĀ۽ AI Overvieŏs have increased the 
volume of commercial Īueries۽ And today ĨeoĨle 
shoĨ more than a billion times a day across Google۽

But the momentum goes ŏell beyond Search: 
£ou�ube Music and Premium have exceeded 
 billion ٵ million subscriĨtions, and £ou�ube hit ٹٶٵ
monthly Ĩodcast users and is noŏ the mostܭŏatched 
streaming service in the ۽�S۽ Android remains the 
ŏorldܻs most ĨoĨular oĨerating system, ŏith more 
than ٷ billion active devices ŏorldŏide۽ Collectively 
Google One and £ou�ube have amassed over ٴٴٶ 
million subscribers۽ Our neŏ Pixel Ĩhones have suĨer 
advanced cameras, imĨroved Ĩerformance, and are 
built ŏith our AI tools deeĨly integrated۽ And Google 
Cloud had one of the highest growth rates among 
leading cloud Ĩroviders last year۽ Meanŏhile, �aymo 
is noŏ serving more than ٴٴٶO Ĩaid rides a ŏeeĀ 
ŏhile exĨanding into neŏ cities, and Calico, �ing, 
and IsomorĨhic Labs continue to create neŏ 
oĨĨortunities in biotech, logistics, and more۽ 

Thank you to our investors, partners, and employees 
ŏho have made this Ĩrogress Ĩossibleٹٶٴٶ ۽ is off 
to an incredible start, and ŏeܻre excited for ŏhatܻs 
to come۽

Sundar ܭ
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

8^zW ܳڐڑO 
��XX��Q zEw^z� w�z~��X� �^ ~Eݔ�A^X ٷٵ ^z ܡٹٵÑ8^ ܢ �>E ~E��zA�AE~ E¢�>�X9E ��ٸٷٽٵ 8^ �

8or tîe ƈsc±ă ŕe±r eĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ
OR

��z�X~A�A^X zEw^z� w�z~��X� �^ ~Eݔ�A^X ٷٵ ^z ܡٹٵÑ8^ ܢ �>E ~E��zA�AE~ E¢�>�X9E ��ٸٷٽٵ 8^ �
8or tîe tr±ĉsitioĉ ĨerioÑ èroĈ ܲܲܲܲܲܲܲܲܲܲ to ܲܲܲܲܲܲܲܲܲܲ۽

�oĈĈissioĉ ƈăe ĉuĈÊerٴټٹٻٷܭٵٴٴ ۿ 

"eă±ŏ±re
 t±te or otîer ýurisÑictioĉ oè~ܡ
iĉcorĨor±tioĉ or oré±ĉiŝ±tioĉܢ

�Qw>��E� AX�۽
ܢEx±ct ĉ±Ĉe oè reéistr±ĉt ±s sĨeciƈeÑ iĉ its cî±rterܡ

ٽٵٽٻٺٻٵܭٵٺ
  EĈĨăoŕer ۽~۽z۽Aܡ

AÑeĉtiƈc±tioĉ Xoܢ۽
 �ĈĨîitîe±tre w±rĀŏ±ŕ ٴٴٺٵ

Wouĉt±iĉ �ieŏ۾ � ٷٸٴٸٽ �
 ܢiĉcăuÑiĉé ŝiĨ coÑe ۾�ÑÑress oè ĨriĉciĨ±ă executive officesܡ

 ٴٴٴٴܭٷٹٶ ܢٴٹٺܡ 
ܢiĉcăuÑiĉé ±re± coÑe ۾zeéistr±ĉtܻs teăeĨîoĉe ĉuĈÊerܡ

~E��zA�AE~ zE9A~�EzE" w�z~��X� �^ ~E��A^X 8^ ܨ�ܧڒڑ �>E ��ۿ�
Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

�ă±ss � �oĈĈoĉ ~tocĀٵٴٴ۽ٴݝ ۾ Ĩ±r v±ăue 9^^9Q X±sÑ±Ī ~tocĀ W±rĀet QQ� 
ܢX±sÑ±Ī 9ăoÊ±ă ~eăect W±rĀetܡ

�ă±ss � �±Ĩit±ă ~tocĀٵٴٴ۽ٴݝ ۾ Ĩ±r v±ăue GOOG X±sÑ±Ī ~tocĀ W±rĀet QQ� 
ܢX±sÑ±Ī 9ăoÊ±ă ~eăect W±rĀetܡ

~E��zA�AE~ zE9A~�EzE" w�z~��X� �^ ~E��A^X 8^ ܨ9ܧڒڑ �>E ��ۿ�
Title of each class

Xoĉe

Indicate by check mark 
�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽

YES NO
 • if the registrant is a ŏellܭĀnoŏn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule ٹٴٸ of the Securities Act۽

 • if the registrant is not reĪuired to file reĨorts Ĩursuant to Section ٷٵ or Section ܡٹٵdܢ of the Act۽

 • ŏhether the registrant ܢٵܡ has filed all reĨorts reĪuired to be filed by Section ٷٵ or ܡٹٵdܢ of the 
Securities Exchange Act of ٸٷٽٵ during the Ĩreceding ٶٵ months ܡor for such shorter Ĩeriod that the 
registrant ŏas reĪuired to file such reĨortsܢ, and ܢٶܡ has been subýect to such filing reĪuirements 
for the Ĩast ٴٽ days۽ 
 • ŏhether the registrant has submiƎed electronically every Interactive "ata File reĪuired to be 
submiƎed Ĩursuant to Rule ٹٴٸ of Regulation Sٹٴٸ۽ٶٷٶߠܡ �ܭ of this chaĨterܢ during the Ĩreceding 
۽ܢor for such shorter Ĩeriod that the registrant ŏas reĪuired to submit such filesܡ months ٶٵ
 • ŏhether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a nonܭaccelerated filer, a smaller reĨorting comĨany, or an 
emerging groŏth comĨany۽ See the definitions of ܸlarge accelerated filer,ܹ  ܸaccelerated filer,ܹ  ܸsmaller reĨorting comĨany,ܹ  and 
ܸemerging groŏth comĨanyܹ in Rule ٶٵbٶܭ of the Exchange Act۽
Large accelerated filerݔ Accelerated filerݔ Non-accelerated filer  Smaller reĨorting comĨanyݔ Emerging groŏth comĨanyݔ

 • If an emerging groŏth comĨany, indicate by checĀ marĀ if the registrant has elected not to use the extended 
transition Ĩeriod for comĨlying ŏith any neŏ or revised financial accounting standards Ĩrovided Ĩursuant to Section 
۽of the Exchange Act ܢaܡٷٵ
 • ŏhether the registrant has filed a reĨort on and aƎestation to its managementܻs assessment of the effectiveness 
of its internal control over financial reĨorting under Section ܡٸٴٸbܢ of the SarbanesܭOxley Act ۽� ٹٵܡS۽Cܡٶٺٶٻ۽bܢܢ 
by the registered Ĩublic accounting firm that ĨreĨared or issued its audit reĨort۽
 • If securities are registered Ĩursuant to Section ܡٶٵbܢ of the Act, indicate by checĀ marĀ ŏhether the financial statements 
of the registrant included in the filing reƋect the correction of an error to Ĩreviously issued financial statements۽
 • ŏhether any of those error corrections are restatements that reĪuired a recovery analysis of incentiveܭbased 
comĨensation received by any of the registrantܻs executive officers during the relevant recovery Ĩeriod Ĩursuant 
to ܡٵܭ"ٴٵ۽ٴٸٶߠb۽ܢ 

YES NO
 • ŏhether the registrant is a shell comĨany ܡas defined in Rule ٶٵbٶܭ of the Exchange Act۽ܢ



ii AlĨhabet ٸٶٴٶ Annual ReĨort

As of Mune ٸٶٴٶ ,ټٶ, the aggregate marĀet value of shares held by nonܭaffiliates of the registrant ܡbased uĨon the closing sale 
Ĩrices of such shares on the XasdaĪ Global Select MarĀet on Mune ܢٸٶٴٶ ,ټٶ ŏas aĨĨroximately ٴ۽ٶݝ trillion۽ For ĨurĨoses 
of calculating the aggregate marĀet value of shares held by nonܭaffiliates, ŏe have assumed that all outstanding shares are 
held by nonܭaffiliates, exceĨt for shares held by each of our executive officers, directors, and ޫٹ or greater stocĀholders۽ 
In the case of ޫٹ or greater stocĀholders, ŏe have not deemed such stocĀholders to be affiliates unless there are facts and 
circumstances ŏhich ŏould indicate that such stocĀholders exercise any control over our comĨany, or unless they hold ޫٴٵ or 
more of our outstanding common stocĀ۽ �hese assumĨtions should not be deemed to constitute an admission that all executive 
officers, directors, and ޫٹ or greater stocĀholders are, in fact, affiliates of our comĨany, or that there are not other Ĩersons 
ŏho may be deemed to be affiliates of our comĨany۽ Further information concerning shareholdings of our officers, directors, 
and ĨrinciĨal stocĀholders is included or incorĨorated by reference in Part III, Item ٶٵ of this Annual ReĨort on Form ܭٴٵO۽

As of Manuary ٹٶٴٶ ,ټٶ, there ŏere ٷٷټ,ٹ million shares of AlĨhabetܻs Class A stocĀ outstanding, ٴٺټ million shares of AlĨhabetܻs 
Class B stocĀ outstanding, and ٻٽٸ,ٹ million shares of the AlĨhabetܻs Class C stocĀ outstanding۽

"^��WEX�~ AX�^zw^z��E" �£ zE8EzEX�E
Portions of the registrantܻs Proxy Statement for the ٹٶٴٶ Annual Meeting of StocĀholders are incorĨorated herein by reference 
in Part III of this Annual ReĨort on Form ܭٴٵO to the extent stated herein۽ Such Ĩroxy statement ŏill be filed ŏith the Securities 
and Exchange Commission ŏithin ٴٶٵ days of the registrantܻs fiscal year ended "ecember ۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ
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X^�E ��^�� 8^z��z"ܳQ^^OAX9 ~���EWEX�~
�his Annual ReĨort on Form ܭٴٵO contains forŏardܭlooĀing statements ŏithin the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of ۽ٹٽٽٵ �hese include, among other things, statements regarding:

• the groŏth of our business and revenues and our 
exĨectations about the factors that inƋuence our success 
and trends in our business;

• fluctuations in our revenues and margins and various 
factors contributing to such Ƌuctuations܀

• our exĨectation that the continuing shiƌ to an online ŏorld 
as the digital economy evolves ŏill continue to benefit 
ourݔbusiness܀

• our exĨectation that the revenues that ŏe derive beyond 
advertising ŏill continue to increase and may affect our margins܀

• our exĨectation that our traffic acĪuisition costs ܡ�ACܢ and 
the associated �AC rate ŏill Ƌuctuate, ŏhich could affect 
our overall margins܀

• our exĨectation that our monetiŝation trends ŏill Ƌuctuate, 
ŏhich could affect our revenues and margins܀

• Ƌuctuations in Ĩaid clicĀs and costܭĨerܭclicĀ as ŏell as 
imĨressions and costܭĨerܭimĨression, and various factors 
contributing to such Ƌuctuations܀

• our exĨectation that ŏe ŏill continue to Ĩeriodically revieŏ, 
refine, and uĨdate our methodologies for monitoring, 
gathering, and counting the number of Ĩaid clicĀs and 
imĨressions, and for identifying the revenues generated 
by the corresĨonding clicĀ and imĨression activity܀

• our exĨectation that our results ŏill be affected by our 
Ĩerformance in international marĀets as users in develoĨing 
economies increasingly come online;

• our exĨectation that our foreign exchange risĀ management 
Ĩrogram ŏill not fully offset our net exĨosure to Ƌuctuations 
in foreign currency exchange rates;

• the exĨected variability of gains and losses related 
to hedging activities under our foreign exchange risĀ 
management Ĩrogram܀

• the amount and timing of revenue recognition from 
customer contracts ŏith commitments for Ĩerformance 
obligations, including our estimate of the remaining amount 
of commitments and ŏhen ŏe exĨect to recogniŝe revenue܀

• our exĨectation that our caĨital exĨenditures ŏill increase, 
including our exĨected sĨend and the exĨected increase in 
our technical infrastructure investment to suĨĨort the groŏth 
of our business and our longܭterm initiatives, in Ĩarticular in 
suĨĨort of artificial intelligence ܡAIܢ Ĩroducts and services܀

• our Ĩlans to continue to invest in neŏ businesses, Ĩroducts, 
services and technologies, and systems, as ŏell as to 
continue to invest in acĪuisitions and strategic investments܀

• our Ĩace of hiring and our Ĩlans to Ĩrovide comĨetitive 
comĨensation Ĩrograms܀

• our exĨectation that our cost of revenues, research 
and develoĨment ܡRܢ"ߞ exĨenses, sales and marĀeting 
exĨenses, and general and administrative exĨenses may 
increase in amount and/or may increase as a Ĩercentage 
of revenues and may be affected by a number of factors܀

• estimates of our future emĨloyee comĨensation exĨenses܀
• our exĨectation that our other income ܡexĨenseܢ, net 

 ŏill Ƌuctuate in the future, as it is largely driven by ,ܢEߞOIܡ
market dynamics;

• our exĨectation that our effective tax rate and cash tax 
Ĩayments could increase in future years܀

• seasonal fluctuations in internet usage, advertising 
exĨenditures, and underlying business trends such as 
traditional retail seasonality, which are likely to cause 
Ƌuctuations in our Īuarterly results܀

• the sufficiency of our sources of funding܀
• our Ĩotential exĨosure in connection ŏith neŏ and Ĩending 

investigations, Ĩroceedings, and other contingencies, 
including the Ĩossibility that certain legal Ĩroceedings to 
ŏhich ŏe are a Ĩarty could harm our business, financial 
condition, and oĨerating results܀

• our exĨectation that ŏe ŏill continue to face heightened 
regulatory scrutiny, and changes in regulatory conditions, 
laŏs, and Ĩublic Ĩolicies, ŏhich could affect our business 
Ĩractices and financial results܀

• the exĨected timing, amount, and effect of AlĨhabet Incܻ۽ s 
share reĨurchases and dividends܀

• our long-term sustainability goals;

as ŏell as other statements regarding our future oĨerations, 
financial condition and ĨrosĨects, and business strategies۽ 
ForŏardܭlooĀing statements may aĨĨear throughout this 
reĨort and other documents ŏe file ŏith the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC), including without limitation, 
the folloŏing sections: Part I, Item ٵ ܸBusinessܹ܀ Part I, 
Item ٵA ܸRisĀ Factorsܹ܀ and Part II, Item ٻ ܸManagementܻs 
"iscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of OĨerationsܹ۽  ForŏardܭlooĀing statements generally can be 
identified by ŏords such as ܸ anticiĨates,ܹ  ܸ believes,ܹ  ܸ could,ܹ  
ܸestimates,ܹ  ܸ exĨects,ܹ  ܸ intends,ܹ  ܸ may,ܹ  ܸ Ĩlans,ܹ  ܸ Ĩredicts,ܹ  
ܸĨroýects,ܹ  ܸŏill be,ܹ  ܸŏill continue,ܹ  ܸŏill liĀely result,ܹ  and 
similar exĨressions۽ �hese forŏardܭlooĀing statements are 
based on current exĨectations and assumĨtions that are 
subýect to risĀs and uncertainties, ŏhich could cause our 
actual results to differ materially from those reƋected in the 
forŏardܭlooĀing statements۽ Factors that could cause or 
contribute to such differences include, but are not limited 
to, those discussed in this Annual ReĨort on FormܭٴٵݔO, 
including the risĀs discussed in Part I, Item ٵA ܸRisĀ Factorsܹ 
and the trends discussed in Part II, Item ٻ ܸManagementܻs 
"iscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
OĨerations,ܹ  and those discussed in other documents ŏe file 
ŏith the SEC۽ �e undertaĀe no obligation to revise or Ĩublicly 
release the results of any revision to these forŏardܭlooĀing 
statements, exceĨt as reĪuired by laŏ۽ Given these risĀs 
and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to Ĩlace undue 
reliance on such forward-looking statements.

As used herein, ܸ AlĨhabet,ܹ  ܸ the comĨany,ܹ  ܸ ŏe,ܹ  ܸ us,ܹ  ܸ our,ܹ  
and similar terms include AlĨhabet Inc۽ and its subsidiaries, 
unless the context indicates otherwise.

AܸlĨhabet,ܹ  ܸGoogle,ܹ  and other trademarĀs of ours aĨĨearing in 
this reĨort are our ĨroĨerty۽ �e do not intend our use or disĨlay 
of other comĨaniesܻ trade names or trademarĀs to imĨly an 
endorsement or sĨonsorshiĨ of us by such comĨanies, or any 
relationshiĨ ŏith any of these comĨanies۽



Part I

Item 1. Business
Overview
As our founders Larry and Sergey wrote in the original founders’ letter, “Google is not a conventional company. We do not 
intend to become one.” That unconventional spirit has been a driving force throughout our history, inspiring us to tackle big 
problems and invest in moonshots. It led us to be a pioneer in the development of AI and, since 2016, an AI-first company. 
We continue this work under the leadership of Alphabet and Google CEO, Sundar Pichai.

Alphabet is a collection of businesses — the largest of which is Google. We report Google in two segments, Google 
Services and Google Cloud, and all non-Google businesses collectively as Other Bets. Supporting these businesses, we 
have centralized certain AI-related research and development which is reported in Alphabet-level activities. Alphabet’s 
structure is about helping each of our businesses prosper through strong leaders and independence.

Access and Technology for Everyone
The Internet is one of the world’s most powerful equalizers; it propels ideas, people, and businesses large and small. Our 
mission to organize the world’s information and make it universally accessible and useful is as relevant today as it was when 
we were founded in 1998. Since then, we have evolved from a company that helps people find answers to a company that 
also helps people get things done.

We are focused on building an even more helpful Google for everyone, and we aspire to give everyone the tools they 
need to increase their knowledge, health, happiness, and success. Google Search helps people find information and 
make sense of the world in more natural and intuitive ways, with trillions of searches on Google every year. YouTube 
provides people with entertainment, information, and opportunities to learn something new and helps support the creator 
economy through the YouTube Partner Program. Google Cloud helps customers solve today’s business challenges, improve 
productivity, reduce costs, and unlock new growth engines. We are continually innovating and building new products and 
features to helĨ our users, Ĩartners, customers, and communities and have invested more than ݔٴٹٵݝbillion in research and 
development in the last five years in support of these efforts.

Making AI Helpful for Everyone
We believe AI is a profound platform shift, one that can bring meaningful and positive change to people and societies 
across the world, and to our business. At Google, we have been bringing AI into our products and services for more than a 
decade and making them available to our users.

 In 2023, we took a significant step on our journey to make AI more helpful for everyone with the introduction of Gemini, 
our natively multimodal AI model. In 2024, we launched Gemini 2.0, our most capable model yet. Gemini can generalize and 
seamlessly understand, operate across, and combine different types of information including text, code, audio, image, and 
video. Gemini is powering AI features across our products and services that are helping people everyday. Today, all seven of 
our two billion-user products — Android, Chrome, Gmail, Maps, Play Store, Search, and YouTube — are using Gemini.

Our Google Cloud products, including Google Cloud Platform and Google Workspace, help organizations stay at the 
forefront of innovation with our AI-optimized infrastructure, AI development platform, world-class models, as well as 
assistive agents and applications.

We believe AI has the potential to solve important societal, scientific, and engineering challenges. For example, in 2020, 
Google DeepMind’s AlphaFold system solved a 50-year-old protein folding challenge, and in 2024, we introduced 
AlĨhaFoldٷݔ, built on the Ĩrevious models, to Ĩredict the structure and interactions of all the molecules in lifeܻs Ĩrocesses۽

We are focused on transforming our products to provide the most helpful tools to our users and customers as we deliver on 
our mission to organize the world’s information and make it universally accessible and useful.
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Deliver the Most Advanced, Safe, and Responsible AI
We aim to build the most advanced, safe, and responsible AI through a full stack of robust AI-optimized infrastructure, 
including data centers, chips, and a global fiber network; world class research teams; and a broad global reach through 
products and platforms that touch billions of people and customers around the world.

We are driving efficiencies in our data centers, while making significant hardware and model improvements. For example, 
since we started serving AI Overviews to our users, we have significantly lowered machine costs and latency through 
hardware, engineering, and technical breakthroughs. Our AI-optimized infrastructure allows us to use, and offer our 
customers, a range of AI accelerator options, including our own custom-built Tensor Processing Units (TPUs).

Our teams across Alphabet leverage Gemini, as well as other AI models we have previously developed and announced, to 
deliver the best product and service experiences for our users, advertisers, partners, customers, and developers. We are 
using Gemini 2.0 in new research prototypes, including Project Astra, which explores the future capabilities of a universal AI 
assistant and Project Mariner, an early prototype capable of taking actions in Chrome as an experimental extension.

We believe our approach to AI must be both bold and responsible. That means developing AI in a way that maximizes the 
positive benefits to society while addressing its potential challenges, guided by our AI Principles.

Enable Organizations and Developers to Innovate on Google Cloud
AI is a major technology shift for enterprises. Globally, businesses from startups to large enterprises, and the public sector 
are thinking about how to drive transformation. That is why we are focused on making it easy and scalable for others to 
innovate, and grow, with AI. That means providing advanced computing infrastructure and expanding access to Google’s 
latest AI models. Our Vertex AI platform gives developers the ability to train, tune, augment, test, and deploy applications 
using Gemini, Imagen, Veo, and other generative AI models. Gemini for Google Cloud provides pre-packaged AI agents 
that can assist developers to write, document, test, and operate software as well as assist cybersecurity teams to analyze, 
detect, protect, and respond to threats.

Improve Knowledge, Learning, Creativity, and Productivity
As AI continues to improve rapidly, we are focused on transforming our products to provide our users the most helpful 
tools. Examples include AI Overviews, which allow users to ask their most complex questions, break down concepts in a 
format that is useful for them, or take a video and ask a question out loud, and NotebookLM, which helps users understand 
complex information by summarizing sources and providing relevant quotes. We are embedding the power of generative 
AI to continue helping our users express themselves and get things done. For example, the Gemini app allows users to 
collaborate with new AI features that include image generation capabilities, coding support, and app integration. Gemini for 
Google Workspace helps users write, organize, visualize, accelerate workflows, and have richer meetings. Additionally, we 
are using Gemini to improve recommendations on YouTube. We also know businesses of all sizes around the world rely on 
Google Ads to find customers and grow their businesses — and we make that even easier with AI. For example, advertisers 
are able to use our updated image generation in Google Ads to produce high-quality imagery for their campaigns, and 
Demand Gen helps them reach their target audiences.

Build the Most Helpful Personal Computing Platforms and Devices
Over the years, our Pixel phones have incorporated AI compute directly into the device and built experiences on top of 
it. Our latest Pixel devices were built with Gemini Nano, bringing the best AI-assistive experiences to our users, such as 
Gemini on Pixel, Pixel Screenshots, and Pixel Studio. Our Android and Chrome operating systems enable users to access 
Gemini, and other Google AI features throughout their day. For example, with Circle to Search built directly into the Android 
experience, users can search anything they see on their phone using a simple gesture.

Moonshots
Many companies get comfortable doing what they have always done, making only incremental changes. This incrementalism 
leads to irrelevance over time, especially in technology, where change tends to be revolutionary, not evolutionary. 
OurݔacĪuisitions of £ou�ube and Android and subseĪuent launch of Chrome have matured into maýor Ĩlatforms for digital 
video and mobile devices and a safer, popular browser. In Other Bets, our fully autonomous driving technology company, 
Waymo, is now providing fully autonomous, paid ride-hailing services to customers in multiple cities.
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Our early investments in AI started out as moonshots but are now incorporated into our core products and central to future 
developments. We continue to look toward the future and to invest for the long term, most notably for the application of AI 
to our products and services, as well as other frontier technologies such as quantum computing. As we said in the original 
founders’ letter, we will not shy away from high-risk, high-reward projects that we believe in, as they are the key to our 
long-term success.

Privacy and Security
We make it a priority to protect the privacy and security of our products, users, and customers, even if there are near-term 
financial consequences. We do this by continuously investing in building products that are secure by default; strictly 
upholding responsible data practices that emphasize privacy by design; and building easy-to-use settings that put people 
in control. We are continually enhancing these efforts over time, whether by enabling users to auto-delete their data, 
applying privacy technologies like on-device processing, giving people tools to control their experience, or advancing 
anti-malware, anti-phishing, and password security features.

Google
For reporting purposes Google comprises two segments: Google Services and Google Cloud.

Google Services
Serving Our Users
We have always been committed to building helpful products that can improve the lives of millions of people worldwide. 
Our product innovations are what make our services widely used, and our brand one of the most recognized in the world. 
Google Services’ core products and platforms include ads, Android, Chrome, devices, Gmail, Google Drive, Google Maps, 
Google Photos, Google Play, Search, and YouTube, with broad and growing adoption by users around the world.

Our products and services have come a long way since the company was founded more than 25 years ago. While Google 
Search started as a way to find web pages, organized into ten blue links, we have driven technical advancements and 
product innovations that have transformed Google Search into a dynamic, multimodal experience. We first expanded 
from traditional desktop browsers into mobile web search, making it easier to navigate on smaller screens. As new 
types of content surfaced on the internet, Universal Search made it possible to search multiple content types, like news, 
images, videos, and more, to deliver rich, relevant results. The introduction of new search modalities, like voice and visual 
search, made it easier for people to express their curiosity in natural and intuitive ways. We took that a step further with 
multisearch, which lets people search with text and images at the same time. Large language models have made it possible 
to express more natural language queries, vastly improving the types of questions users can ask, and the quality of results. 
Each advancement has made it easier and more natural for people to find what they are looking for. We are now using 
Gemini customized for Google Search to provide our users an improved Search experience, and AI Overviews has been 
released in more than one hundred countries, reaching more than one billion users.

This drive to make information more accessible and helpful has led us over the years to improve the discovery and creation 
of digital content both on the web and through platforms like Google Play and YouTube. People are consuming many forms 
of digital content, including watching videos, streaming TV, playing games, listening to music, reading books, and using 
apps. Working with content creators and partners, we continue to build new ways for people around the world to create and 
find great digital content.

Fueling all of these great digital experiences are extraordinary platforms and devices. That is why we continue to invest in 
platforms like our Android mobile operating system, Chrome browser, and Chrome operating system, as well as our family of 
devices. We see tremendous potential for devices to be helpful and make people’s lives easier by combining the best of our 
AI, software, and hardware. This potential is reflected in our latest generation of devices, such as the new Pixel 9 series and 
the Pixel Watch 3. Creating products and services that people rely on every day is a journey that we are investing in for the 
long-term.

How We Make Money
We have built world-class advertising technologies for advertisers, agencies, and publishers to power their digital 
marketing businesses. Our advertising solutions help millions of companies grow their businesses through our wide 
range of products across devices and formats, and we aim to ensure positive user experiences by serving the right ads 
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at the right time and by building deep partnerships with brands and agencies. AI has been foundational to our advertising 
business for more than a decade. Products like Demand Gen, Performance Max, and Product Studio use the full power of 
our AI to help advertisers find untapped and incremental conversion opportunities.

Google Services generates revenues primarily by delivering both performance and brand advertising that appears on 
Google Search & other properties, YouTube, and Google Network partners’ properties (“Google Network properties”). 
We continue to invest in both performance and brand advertising and seek to improve the measurability of advertising so 
advertisers understand the effectiveness of their campaigns.

• Performance advertising creates and delivers relevant ads that users will click on leading to direct engagement with 
advertisers. Performance advertising lets our advertisers connect with users while driving measurable results. Our ads 
tools allow performance advertisers to create simple text-based ads.

• Brand advertising helps enhance users’ awareness of and affinity for advertisers’ products and services, through 
videos, text, images, and other interactive ads that run across various devices. We help brand advertisers deliver digital 
videos and other types of ads to specific audiences for their brand-building marketing campaigns.

We have allocated substantial resources to stopping bad advertising practices and protecting users on the web. We focus 
on creating the best advertising experiences for our users and advertisers in many ways, including filtering out invalid 
traffic, removing billions of bad ads from our systems every year, and closely monitoring the sites, apps, and videos where 
ads appear and blocklisting them when necessary to ensure that ads do not fund bad content.

In addition, Google Services increasingly generates revenues from products and services beyond advertising, including:

• consumer subscriptions, which primarily include revenues from YouTube services, such as YouTube TV, YouTube Music 
and Premium, and NFL Sunday Ticket, as well as Google One;

• platforms, which primarily include revenues from Google Play sales of apps and in-app purchases; and
• devices, which primarily include sales of the Pixel family of devices.

Google Cloud
Through our Google Cloud Platform and Google Workspace offerings, Google Cloud generates revenues primarily from 
consumption-based fees and subscriptions for infrastructure, platform, applications, and other cloud services. Customers 
use Google Cloud in multiple ways such as:

• AI-optimized Infrastructure: provides open, reliable, and scalable compute, networking, and storage to enable 
customers to run workloads anywhere — on our Cloud, at the edge, or in their data centers. It can be used to migrate and 
modernize IT systems and to train and serve various types of AI models.

• Developer Platform: provides developers, through the Vertex AI platform, the ability to train, tune, augment, test, and 
deploy applications using Gemini and other leading generative AI models. We offer widely used first-party, third-party, 
and open models along with services such as vector search, grounding, and distillation to further improve the cost and 
quality of models.

• Cybersecurity: provides AI powered cybersecurity solutions to help customers analyze, detect, protect, and respond to 
a broad range of cybersecurity threats, to further strengthen security outcomes, prioritize which threats to investigate, 
and identify attack paths, as well as accelerate resolution of cybersecurity threats.

• Data and Analytics: provides a variety of different types of databases — relational, key-value, and in-memory — to store 
and manage data for different types of applications and deliver data to AI agents. Our data platform also unifies data 
lakes, data warehouses, data governance, and advanced machine learning into a single platform that helps users analyze 
data using AI models across any cloud.

• Applications: offers a broad applications portfolio, including Gemini for Google Cloud and Gemini for Google Workspace, 
as well as purpose-built agents for Search and our Customer Engagement Suite. AI has been used in Google Workspace 
for years to improve grammar, efficiency, security, and more with features like Smart Reply, Smart Compose, and malware 
and phishing protection in Gmail. Now, Gemini for Google Workspace brings our AI-powered agents into Gmail, Docs, 
Sheets and more to help users write, organize, visualize, accelerate workflows, and have richer meetings.
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Other Bets
Across Alphabet, we are also using technology to try to solve big problems that affect a wide variety of industries, 
including transportation and health technology. Alphabet’s investment in the portfolio of Other Bets includes businesses 
that are at various stages of development, ranging from those in the R&D phase to those that are in the beginning 
stages of commercialization. Our goal is for them to become thriving, successful businesses. Other Bets operate as 
independent companies and some of them have their own boards with independent members and outside investors. 
While these early-stage businesses naturally come with considerable uncertainty, some of them are already generating 
revenue and making important strides in their industries. Revenues from Other Bets are generated primarily from the sale 
of healthcare-related services, and internet services.

Competition
Our business is characterized by rapid change as well as new and disruptive technologies. We face formidable competition 
in every aspect of our business, including but not limited to, from:

• general purpose search engines and information services;
• vertical search engines and e-commerce providers for queries on topics such as those related to travel, jobs, and health, 

which users may navigate directly to rather than go through Google;
• online advertising platforms and networks, including online shopping and streaming services;
• other forms of advertising, such as billboards, magazines, newspapers, radio, and television as our advertisers typically 

advertise in multiple media, both online and offline;
• digital content and application platform providers;
• providers of enterprise cloud services;
• developers and providers of AI products and services;
• companies that design, manufacture, and market consumer hardware products, including businesses that have 

developed proprietary platforms;
• providers of digital video services;
• social networks, which users may rely on for product or service referrals, rather than seeking information through 

traditional search engines;
• providers of workspace communication and connectivity products; and
• digital assistant providers.

Competing successfully depends heavily on our ability to develop and distribute innovative products and technologies 
to the marketplace across our businesses. For example, for advertising, competing successfully depends on attracting 
and retaining:

• users, for whom other products and services are literally one click away, largely on the basis of the relevance of our 
advertising, as well as the general usefulness, security, and availability of our products and services;

• advertisers, primarily based on our ability to generate sales leads, and ultimately customers, and to deliver their 
advertisements in an efficient and effective manner across a variety of distribution channels; and

• content providers, primarily based on the quality of our advertiser base, our ability to help these partners generate 
revenues from advertising, and the terms of our agreements with them.

For additional information about competition, see Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Ongoing Commitment to Sustainability
Our environmental strategy has two key pillars, supported by our dedication to accessible information and technological 
innovation:

• Our products: We are empowering people with information about the environmental impacts of their choices.
• Our operations: We are working to drive sustainability and efficiency across our operations and value chain.

Through our products, we have an aspiration to help individuals, cities, and other partners collectively reduce one gigaton 
of their carbon equivalent emissions annually by 2030.
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In 2021, we set an ambitious goal to reach net-zero emissions across all of our operations and value chain by 2030. 
To make progress toward this effort, we aim to reduce 50% of our combined Scope 1, Scope 2 (market-based), and 
Scope 3 absolute emissions (compared to our 2019 base year) by 2030, and we plan to invest in nature-based and 
technology-based carbon removal solutions to neutralize our remaining emissions.

Our primary approach to reducing our Scope 2 emissions is through the procurement of carbon-free energy (CFE). In 
2020, we set a goal to run on 24/7 CFE every hour of every day on every grid where we operate by 2030. In 2023, we began 
implementing our carbon removals strategy, and we have begun establishing impactful partnerships and have started 
contracting for carbon removal credits.

Achieving net-zero emissions and 24/7 CFE by 2030 are extremely ambitious goals. We also know that our path to net-zero 
emissions will not be easy or linear. Some of our plans may take years to deliver results, particularly where they involve 
building new large-scale infrastructure with long lead times. Our approach will continue to evolve and will require us to 
navigate significant uncertainty, including the uncertainty around the future environmental impact of AI, which is complex 
and difficult to predict. In addition, solutions for some key global challenges do not currently exist, and will depend 
heavily on the development and improvement of new technologies by us and by the energy sector. As our business and 
industry continue to evolve, we expect our total GHG emissions to rise before dropping toward our absolute emissions 
reduction target.

For additional information about risks and uncertainties applicable to our work on sustainability and efficiency, see Item 1A 
Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Culture and Workforce
We are a company of curious, talented, and passionate people. We embrace collaboration and creativity, and encourage 
the iteration of ideas to address complex challenges in technology and society.

Our people are critical for our continued success, so we work hard to create an environment where employees can have 
fulfilling careers, and be happy, healthy, and perform at a high level. We offer industry-leading benefits and programs 
to take care of the diverse needs of our employees and their families, including opportunities for career growth and 
development, resources to support their financial health, and access to excellent healthcare choices. Our competitive 
compensation programs help us to attract and retain key talent, and we will continue to invest in recruiting talented people 
to technical and non-technical roles, and rewarding them well. We provide a variety of high quality training and support to 
managers to build and strengthen their capabilities-–ranging from courses for new managers, to learning resources that 
help them provide feedback and manage performance, to coaching and individual support.

As of December 31, 2024, Alphabet had 183,323 employees. We have work councils and statutory employee representation 
obligations in certain countries, and we are committed to supporting protected labor rights, maintaining an open culture, 
and listening to all employees. Supporting healthy and open dialogue is central to how we work, and we communicate 
information about the company through multiple internal channels to our employees.

When appropriate we partner with outside companies on a contractual basis to provide a specialized service or to 
temporarily cover a short-term need. The employees of our suppliers and staffing partners — vendors and temporary staff, 
respectively — and independent contractors who are self-employed, make up our extended workforce. We choose our 
partners and staffing agencies carefully, and review their compliance with Google’s Supplier Code of Conduct.

Government Regulation
We are subject to numerous United States (U.S.) federal, state, and local, as well as foreign laws and regulations covering 
a wide variety of subjects, and the scope of this coverage continues to broaden with continuing new legal and regulatory 
developments in the U.S. and internationally. Like other companies in the technology industry, we face increasingly 
heightened scrutiny from both U.S. and foreign governments with respect to our compliance with laws and regulations. 
Many of these laws and regulations are evolving and their applicability and scope, as interpreted by the courts, remain 
uncertain. Particularly with regard to AI; competition; consumer protection; content moderation; data privacy and security; 
news publications; and sustainability and other social matters, we have seen an increase in new and evolving laws and 
regulations, as well as related enforcement actions and investigations, being proposed and implemented in recent years 
by legislative and regulatory bodies around the world. As we have seen in recent years, different laws and regulations on 
the same topic may not always have the same requirements, and even when requirements overlap, the rules are not always 
consistently implemented, interpreted, and enforced from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.
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Our compliance with these laws and regulations may be onerous and could, individually or in the aggregate, increase our 
cost of doing business, make our products and services less useful, limit our ability to pursue certain business practices 
or offer certain products and services, cause us to change our business models and operations, affect our competitive 
position relative to our peers, and/or otherwise harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

For additional information about government regulation applicable to our business, see Item 1A Risk Factors; Trends in 
Our Business and Financial Effect in Part II, Item 7; and Legal Matters in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Intellectual Property
We rely on various intellectual property laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our 
proprietary technology and our brand. We have registered, and applied for the registration of, U.S. and international 
trademarks, service marks, domain names, and copyrights. We have also filed patent applications in the U.S. and foreign 
countries covering certain of our technology, and acquired patent assets to supplement our portfolio. We have licensed in 
the past, and expect that we may license in the future, certain of our rights to other parties. For additional information, see 
Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information
Our website is located at www.abc.xyz, and our investor relations website is located at www.abc.xyz/investor. Access to our 
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and our Proxy Statements, 
and any amendments to these reports, is available on our investor relations website, free of charge, after we file or furnish 
them with the SEC and they are available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

We webcast via our investor relations YouTube channel and website our earnings calls and certain events we participate 
in or host with members of the investment community. Our investor relations website also provides notifications of 
news or announcements regarding our financial performance and other items that may be material or of interest to our 
investors, including SEC filings, investor events, press and earnings releases, and blogs. We also share Google news and 
product updates on Google’s Keyword blog at https://www.blog.google/ and News From Google page on X at x.com/
NewsFromGoogle, and our executive officers may also use certain social media channels, such as X and LinkedIn, to 
communicate information about earnings results and company updates, which may be of interest or material to our 
investors. Further, corporate governance information, including our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, governance 
guidelines, board committee charters, and code of conduct, is also available on our investor relations website under the 
heading “Governance.” The information contained on, or that may be accessed through our websites or our executive 
officers’ social media channels, is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report 
or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to those 
described below, which could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results, and affect the 
trading price of our Class A and Class C stock.

Risks Specific to our Company
We generate a significant portion of our revenues from advertising. Reduced spending by advertisers, 
a loss of partners, or new and existing technologies that block ads online and/or affect our ability to 
personalize ads could harm our business.
We generated more than 75% of total revenues from online advertising in 2024. Many of our advertisers, companies that 
distribute our products and services, digital publishers, and content providers can terminate their contracts with us at any 
time. These partners may not continue to do business with us if we do not create more value (such as increased numbers 
of users or customers, new sales leads, increased brand awareness, or more effective monetization) than their available 
alternatives. Changes to our advertising policies and data privacy practices, such as our initiatives related to third-party 
cookies, including our announcement in July 2024 to move from phasing out all third-party cookies to a proposed user 
choice model (which remains subject to continuing discussions with regulators), as well as changes to other companies’ 
advertising and/or data privacy practices have in the past, and may in the future, affect the advertising services that we are 
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able to provide. In addition, technologies have been developed that make personalized ads more difficult, or that block the 
display of ads altogether, and some providers of online services have integrated technologies that could potentially impair 
the availability and functionality of third-party digital advertising. Failing to provide superior value or deliver advertisements 
effectively and competitively could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

In addition, expenditures by advertisers tend to correlate with overall economic conditions. Adverse macroeconomic 
conditions have affected, and may in the future affect, the demand for advertising, resulting in fluctuations in the amounts 
our advertisers spend on advertising, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.

We face intense competition. If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services that 
are useful to users, customers, and other partners, we may not remain competitive, which could harm our 
business, financial condition, and operating results.
Our business environment is rapidly evolving and intensely competitive. Our businesses face changing technologies, 
shifting user needs, and frequent introductions of rival products and services. To compete successfully, we must accurately 
anticipate technology developments and deliver innovative, relevant and useful products, services, and technologies in a 
timely manner. As our businesses evolve, the competitive pressure to innovate will encompass a wider range of products 
and services. We must continue to invest significant resources in technical infrastructure and R&D, including through 
acquisitions, in order to enhance our technology, products, and services.

We have many competitors in different industries. Our current and potential domestic and international competitors range 
from large and established companies to emerging start-ups. Some competitors have longer operating histories and well-
established relationships in various sectors. They can use their experience and resources in ways that could affect our 
competitive position, including by making acquisitions and entering into other strategic arrangements; continuing to invest 
heavily in technical infrastructure, R&D, and in talent; initiating intellectual property and competition claims (whether or not 
meritorious); and continuing to compete for users, advertisers, customers, and content providers. Further, discrepancies 
in enforcement of existing laws may enable our lesser known competitors to aggressively interpret those laws without 
commensurate scrutiny, thereby affording them competitive advantages. Our competitors may also be able to innovate 
and provide products and services faster or more cost effectively than we can or may foresee the need for products and 
services before we do.

We are expanding our investment in AI across the entire company. This includes generative AI and continuing to integrate 
AI capabilities into our products and services. AI technology and services are highly competitive, rapidly evolving, and 
require significant investment, including technical infrastructure, development and operational costs, to meet the changing 
needs and expectations of our existing users and attract new users. Our ability to deploy certain AI technologies critical 
for our products and services and for our business strategy may depend on the availability and pricing of third-party 
equipment and other technical infrastructure operations costs, including network capacity, energy, and equipment costs. 
Additionally, other companies may develop AI products and technologies that are similar or superior to our technologies 
or more cost-effective to develop and/or deploy. Other companies may also have (or in the future may obtain) patents 
or other proprietary rights that would prevent, limit, or interfere with our ability to make, use, or sell our own AI products 
and services.

Our financial condition and operating results may also suffer if our products and services are not responsive in a timely 
manner to the evolving needs and desires of our users, advertisers, publishers, customers, and content providers, or if 
we miscalculate those needs and desires and invest significantly in areas that fail to gain sufficient market traction. As 
new and existing technologies continue to develop, competitors and new entrants may be able to offer experiences that 
are, or that are perceived to be, substantially similar to or better than ours. These technologies could reduce usage of our 
products and services, and force us to compete in different ways and expend significant resources to develop and operate 
equal or better products and services. Competitors’ success in providing compelling products and services or in attracting 
and retaining users, advertisers, publishers, customers, and content providers could harm our financial condition and 
operating results.

Our ongoing investment in new businesses, products, services, and technologies is inherently risky, and 
could divert management attention and harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We have invested and expect to continue to invest in new businesses, products, services, and technologies in a wide range 
of industries beyond online advertising. The investments that we are making across our businesses, such as building AI 
capabilities into new and existing products and services, reflect our ongoing efforts to innovate and provide products and 
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services that are helpful to users, advertisers, publishers, customers, and content providers. Our investments ultimately 
may not be commercially viable or may not result in an adequate return of capital and, in pursuing new strategies, we may 
incur unanticipated liabilities.

We have invested significantly and expect to continue to invest significantly in our property and equipment, including our 
technical infrastructure, and we expect these assets to benefit our business over their estimated useful lives. Changes in 
facts and circumstances such as changes to ongoing business operations, changes in the planned use and utilization of 
assets, and/or technological advancements, could indicate a change in the period over which we expect to benefit from the 
asset and impact our financial condition and operating results.

Innovations in our products and services could also result in changes to user behavior and affect our revenue trends. These 
endeavors involve significant risks and uncertainties, including diversion of resources and management attention from 
current operations, different monetization models, and the use of alternative investment, governance, or compensation 
structures that may fail to adequately align incentives across the company or otherwise accomplish their objectives.

Within Google Services, we continue to invest heavily in devices, including our smartphones, home devices, and wearables, 
which is a highly competitive market with frequent introduction of new products and services, rapid adoption of 
technological advancements by competitors, increased market saturation in developed countries, short product life cycles, 
evolving industry standards, continual improvement in performance characteristics, and price and feature sensitivity on the 
part of consumers and businesses. There can be no assurance we will be able to provide devices that compete effectively.

Within Google Cloud, we devote significant resources to develop and deploy our enterprise-ready cloud services, including 
Google Cloud Platform and Google Workspace, and we are advancing our AI platforms and models to support these tools 
and technologies. We are incurring costs to build and maintain infrastructure to support cloud computing services, invest 
in cybersecurity, and hire talent, particularly to support and scale our sales force. At the same time, our competitors are 
rapidly developing and deploying cloud-based services. Pricing, including platform switching costs, are challenging across 
the industry, and delivery models are competitive and constantly evolving, and we may therefore not achieve our business 
objectives. Further, our business with financial services, healthcare, and public sector customers may present additional 
risks, including regulatory compliance risks. For instance, we may be subject to government audits and cost reviews, and 
any failure to comply or any deficiencies found may expose us to legal, financial, and/or reputational risks. Evolving laws 
and regulations may require us to make new capital investments, build new products, and seek partners to deliver localized 
services in other countries, and we may not be able to meet sovereign operating requirements.

Within Other Bets, we are investing significantly in areas such as health, life sciences, and transportation, among others. 
These investment areas face intense competition from large, experienced, and well-funded competitors, and our offerings, 
many of which involve the development of new and emerging technologies, may not be successful, or be able to compete 
effectively or operate at sufficient levels of profitability.

In addition, new and evolving products and services, including those that use AI, raise ethical, technological, legal, 
regulatory, and other challenges, which may negatively affect our brands and demand for our products and services. 
Because all of these investment areas are inherently risky, no assurance can be given that such strategies and offerings will 
be successful or will not harm our reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

Our revenue growth rate could decline over time, and we may experience downward pressure on our 
operating margin in the future.
Our revenue growth rate could decline over time as a result of a number of factors, including changes in the devices and 
modalities used to access our products and services; changes in geographic mix; deceleration or declines in advertiser 
spending; competition; changes in customer usage and demand for our existing products and increasing demand for new 
technologies; decreases in the pricing of our products and services; ongoing product and policy changes; and shifts to 
lower priced products and services.

In addition, we may experience downward pressure on our operating margin resulting from a variety of factors, such as an 
increase in the mix of lower-margin products and services, in particular from the continued expansion of our business into 
new fields, including products and services such as our devices, Google Cloud, and consumer subscription products, as 
well as significant investments in Other Bets, all of which may have margins lower than those we generate from advertising. 
In particular, margins on our devices have had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on our consolidated margins 
due to pressures on pricing and higher cost of sales. We may also experience downward pressure on our operating margins 
from increasing regulations, increasing competition, and increasing costs for many aspects of our business, including 
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higher level of investment in technical infrastructure. Further, certain of our costs and expenses are generally less variable 
in nature and may not correlate to changes in revenue. We may also not be able to continue to execute our efficiency 
efforts successfully or in a timely manner. Due to these factors and the evolving nature of our business, our historical 
revenue growth rate and historical operating margin may not be indicative of our future performance. For additional 
information, see Trends in Our Business and Financial Effect and Revenues and Monetization Metrics in Part II, Item 7 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the value of 
our products, services, and brands as well as affect our ability to compete.
Our patents, trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights, and other intellectual property rights are important assets for us. 
Various events outside of our control pose a threat to our intellectual property rights, as well as to our products, services, 
and technologies. For example, effective intellectual property protection may not be available in every country in which our 
products and services are distributed or made available through the Internet. Also, the efforts we have taken to protect 
our proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effective. Although we seek to obtain patent protection for our innovations, 
it is possible we may not be able to protect some of these innovations. Moreover, we may not have adequate patent or 
copyright protection for certain innovations that later turn out to be important. There is always the possibility that the 
scope of the protection gained will be insufficient or that an issued patent may be deemed invalid or unenforceable.

We also seek to maintain certain intellectual property as trade secrets. The secrecy of such trade secrets and other 
sensitive information could be compromised, which could cause us to lose the competitive advantage resulting from these 
trade secrets. We also face risks associated with our trademarks. For example, there is a risk that the word “Google” could 
become so commonly used that it becomes synonymous with the word “search.” Some courts have ruled that “Google” is 
a protectable trademark, but it is possible that other courts, particularly those outside of the U.S., may reach a different 
determination. If this happens, we could lose protection for this trademark, which could result in other people using the 
word “Google” to refer to their own products, thus diminishing our brand.

Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business and our ability to compete. Also, 
protecting our intellectual property rights is costly and time consuming. Any increase in the unauthorized use of our 
intellectual property could make it more expensive to do business and harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our business depends on strong brands, and failing to maintain and enhance our brands would hurt our 
ability to expand our base of users, advertisers, customers, content providers, and other partners.
Our strong brands have significantly contributed to the success of our business. Maintaining and enhancing the brands 
within Google Services, Google Cloud, and Other Bets increases our ability to enter new categories and launch new and 
innovative products and services that better serve the needs of our users, advertisers, customers, content providers, and 
other partners. Our brands have been, and may in the future be, negatively affected by a number of factors, including, 
among others, reputational issues, third-party content shared on our platforms, data privacy and security issues and 
developments, and product or technical performance failures. For example, if we fail to respond appropriately to the 
sharing of misinformation or objectionable content on our services and/or products or objectionable practices by 
advertisers, or otherwise to adequately address user concerns, our users may lose confidence in our brands.

Furthermore, failure to maintain and enhance our brands could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and 
operating results. Our success will depend largely on our ability to remain a technology leader and continue to provide 
high-quality, trustworthy, innovative products and services that are truly useful and play a valuable role in a range of settings.

We face a number of manufacturing and supply chain risks that could harm our business, financial 
condition, and operating results.
We face a number of risks related to manufacturing and supply chain management, which could affect our ability to supply 
both our products and our services.

We rely on contract manufacturers to manufacture or assemble our devices as well as servers and networking equipment 
used in our technical infrastructure, certain components of which we may supply. We rely on third parties to supply 
components and distribute our products and services. Our business could be negatively affected if we are not able to 
engage these companies with the necessary capabilities or capacity on reasonable terms, or if those we engage fail to 
meet their obligations (whether due to financial difficulties or other reasons), or make adverse changes in the pricing or 
other material terms of our arrangements with them.
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We have experienced and/or may in the future experience supply shortages, price increases, quality issues, and/or longer 
lead times that could negatively affect our operations, driven by raw material and/or component availability, manufacturing 
capacity, labor shortages, industry allocations, logistics capacity, inflation, foreign currency exchange rates, tariffs, 
sanctions and export controls, trade disputes and barriers, forced labor concerns, sustainability sourcing requirements, 
geopolitical tensions, armed conflicts, natural disasters or pandemics, the effects of climate change (such as sea level 
rise, drought, flooding, heat waves, wildfires and resultant air quality effects and power shutdowns associated with wildfire 
prevention, and increased storm severity), power and transmission availability, and significant changes in the financial or 
business condition of our suppliers. Some of the components we use in our technical infrastructure and our devices are 
available from only one or limited sources, and we may not be able to find replacement vendors on favorable terms in the 
event of a supply chain disruption. A significant supply interruption that affects us or our vendors could delay critical data 
center upgrades or expansions and delay consumer product availability.

We may enter into long-term contracts for materials and products that commit us to significant terms and conditions. We 
may face costs for materials and products that are not consumed due to market demand, technological change, changed 
consumer preferences, quality, product recalls, and warranty issues. For instance, because certain of our hardware supply 
contracts have volume-based pricing or minimum purchase requirements, if the volume of sales of our devices decreases 
or does not reach projected targets, we could face increased materials and manufacturing costs or other financial liabilities 
that could make our products more costly per unit to manufacture and harm our financial condition and operating results. 
Furthermore, certain of our competitors may negotiate more favorable contractual terms based on volume and other 
commitments that may provide them with competitive advantages and may affect our supply. For example, industry supply 
capacity for AI accelerators, including Graphics Processing Units, or GPUs, as well as our custom-built TPUs, is highly 
competitive and rapidly evolving. If we are unable to negotiate favorable contractual terms or our competitors claim the 
supply or capacity first, we may face supply constraints.

Our devices have had, and in the future may have, quality issues resulting from design, manufacturing, or operations. 
Sometimes, these issues may be caused by components we purchase from other manufacturers or suppliers. If the quality 
of our products and services does not meet expectations or our products or services are defective or require a recall, it 
could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

We require our suppliers and business partners to comply with laws and, where applicable, our company policies and 
practices, such as the Google Supplier Code of Conduct, regarding workplace and employment practices, data security, 
environmental compliance, and intellectual property licensing, but we do not control them or their practices. Violations of 
law or unethical business practices could result in supply chain disruptions, canceled orders, harm to key relationships, and 
damage to our reputation. Their failure to procure necessary license rights to intellectual property could affect our ability to 
sell our products or services and expose us to litigation or financial claims.

Interruption to, interference with, or failure of our complex information technology and communications 
systems could hurt our ability to effectively provide our products and services, which could harm our 
reputation, financial condition, and operating results.
The availability of our products and services and fulfillment of our customer contracts depend on the continuing operation 
of our information technology and communications systems. Our systems are vulnerable to damage, interference, or 
interruption from modifications or upgrades, terrorist attacks, state-sponsored attacks, natural disasters or pandemics, 
geopolitical tensions or armed conflicts, export controls and sanctions, the effects of climate change (such as sea 
level rise, drought, flooding, heat waves, wildfires and resultant air quality effects and power shutdowns associated 
with wildfire prevention, and increased storm severity), power and transmission availability challenges, utility outages, 
telecommunications failures, computer viruses, software bugs, cyber attacks, supply-chain attacks, computer denial 
of service attacks, phishing schemes, or other attempts to harm or access our systems. Some of our data centers are 
located in areas with a high risk of major earthquakes or other natural disasters. Our data centers are also subject to 
break-ins, sabotage, and intentional acts of vandalism, and, in some cases, to potential disruptions resulting from problems 
experienced by facility operators or disruptions as a result of geopolitical tensions and conflicts happening in the area. Some 
of our systems are not fully redundant, and disaster recovery planning cannot account for all eventualities. The occurrence 
of a natural disaster or pandemic, closure of a facility, or other unanticipated problems affecting our data centers could 
result in lengthy interruptions in our service. In addition, our products and services are highly technical and complex and 
have contained in the past, and may contain in the future, errors or vulnerabilities, which could result in interruptions in or 
failure of our services or systems. Any of these incidents could impede or prevent us from effectively offering products and 
providing services, which could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.
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Our international operations expose us to additional risks that could harm our business, reputation, 
financial condition, and operating results.
Our international operations are significant to our revenues and net income, and we plan to continue to grow internationally. 
International revenues accounted for approximately 51% of our consolidated revenues in 2024. In addition to risks 
described elsewhere in this section, our international operations expose us to other risks, including the following:

• restrictions on foreign ownership and investments, and stringent foreign exchange controls that might prevent us from 
repatriating cash earned in countries outside the U.S.;

• sanctions, import and export controls, other market access barriers, political unrest, geopolitical tensions, changes 
in regimes, or armed conflict (such as ongoing conflicts in the Middle East and Ukraine), any of which may affect our 
business continuity, increase our operating costs, limit demand for our products and services, limit our ability to source 
components or final products, or prevent or impede us from operating in certain jurisdictions, complying with local laws, 
or offering products or services;

• longer payment cycles in some countries, increased credit risk, and higher levels of payment fraud;
• an evolving foreign policy landscape that could harm our revenues and could subject us to litigation, new regulatory 

costs and challenges (including new customer requirements), uncertainty regarding regulatory outcomes, and other 
liabilities under local laws that may not offer due process or clear legal precedent;

• anti-corruption laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and other local laws prohibiting certain payments to 
government officials, violations of which could result in civil and criminal penalties; and

• different employee/employer relationships; different labor laws, regulations, and labor practices; and other challenges 
caused by distance, language, local expertise, and cultural differences, increasing the complexity of doing business in 
multiple jurisdictions.

Because we conduct business in currencies other than U.S. dollars but report our financial results in U.S. dollars, we have 
faced, and will continue to face, exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Although we hedge a portion 
of our international currency exposure, significant fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign 
currencies have in the past and may in the future adversely affect our revenues and earnings. Hedging programs are also 
inherently risky and could expose us to additional risks that could harm our financial condition and operating results.

We are exposed to fluctuations in the fair values of our investments and, in some instances, our financial 
statements incorporate inherently subjective valuation methodologies.
The fair value of our debt and equity investments may in the future be, and certain investments have been in the past, 
negatively affected by liquidity, credit deterioration or losses, performance and financial results of the underlying entities, 
foreign exchange rates, changes in interest rates, the effect of new or changing regulations, the stock market in general, or 
other factors.

We measure certain of our non-marketable equity and debt securities, certain other instruments including stock-based 
compensation awards settled in the stock of Other Bet companies, and certain assets and liabilities acquired in a business 
combination, at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, which is inherently subjective and requires management judgment and 
estimation. All gains and losses on non-marketable equity securities are recognized in OI&E, which increases the volatility 
of our OI&E. The unrealized gains and losses or impairments we record from fair value remeasurements in any particular 
period may differ significantly from the gains and losses we ultimately realize on such investments.

As a result of these factors, the value of our investments could decline, which could harm our financial condition and 
operating results.

Risks Related to our Industry
People access our products and services through a variety of platforms and devices that continue to evolve 
with the advancement of technology and user preferences. If manufacturers and users do not widely adopt 
versions of our products and services developed for these interfaces, our business could be harmed.
People access our products and services through a growing variety of devices such as desktop computers, phones, 
laptops and tablets, video game consoles, voice-activated speakers, wearables (including virtual reality and augmented 
reality devices), automobiles, and television-streaming devices. Our products and services may be less popular on some 
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interfaces. Each manufacturer or distributor may establish unique technical standards for its devices, and our products and 
services may not be available or may only be available with limited functionality for our users or our advertisers on these 
devices as a result. Some manufacturers may also elect not to include our products on their devices.

It is hard to predict the challenges we may encounter in adapting our products and services and developing competitive 
new products and services. We expect to continue to devote significant resources to creating and supporting products and 
services across multiple platforms and devices. Failing to attract and retain a substantial number of device manufacturers, 
suppliers, distributors, developers, and users, or failing to develop products and technologies that work well on new 
devices and platforms, could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results and ability to capture future 
business opportunities.

Issues in the development and use of AI may result in reputational harm and increased liability exposure.
Our evolving AI-related efforts may give rise to risks related to harmful content, inaccuracies, discrimination, intellectual 
property infringement or misappropriation, violation of rights of publicity, defamation, data privacy, cybersecurity, and 
other issues. As a result of these and other challenges associated with innovative technologies, our implementation of 
AI systems could subject us to competitive harm, regulatory action, legal liability (including under new and proposed 
legislation and regulations), new applications of existing data protection, privacy, intellectual property, and other laws, and 
brand or reputational harm.

Some uses of AI will present ethical issues and may have broad effects on society. In order to implement AI responsibly 
and minimize unintended harmful effects, we have already devoted and will continue to invest significant resources to 
develop, test, and maintain our products and services, but we may not be able to identify or resolve all AI-related issues, 
deficiencies, and/or failures before they arise. Unintended consequences, uses, or customization of our AI tools and 
systems may negatively affect human rights, privacy, employment, or other social concerns, which may result in claims, 
lawsuits, brand or reputational harm, and increased regulatory scrutiny, any of which could harm our business, financial 
condition, and operating results.

Data privacy and security concerns relating to our technology and our practices could harm our 
reputation, cause us to incur significant liability, and deter current and potential users or customers from 
using our products and services. Computer viruses, software bugs or defects, security breaches, and 
attacks on our systems could result in the improper disclosure and use of user data and interference with 
our users’ and customers’ ability to use our products and services, harming our business and reputation.
Concerns about, including the adequacy of, our practices with regard to the collection, use, governance, disclosure, or 
security of personal data or other data-privacy-related matters, even if unfounded, could harm our business, reputation, 
financial condition, and operating results. Our policies and practices may change over time as expectations and regulations 
regarding privacy and data change.

Our products and services involve the storage, handling, and transmission of proprietary and other sensitive information. 
Malicious software such as viruses, software bugs, theft, misuse, defects, vulnerabilities in our products and services, 
as well as cyber attacks, phishing schemes, and other types of security breaches expose us to a risk of loss or improper 
use and disclosure of such information, which could result in litigation and other potential liabilities, including regulatory 
fines and penalties, as well as reputational harm. Additionally, our products incorporate highly technical and complex 
technologies, and thus our technologies and software have contained, and are likely in the future to contain, undetected 
errors, bugs, and/or vulnerabilities. We continue to add new features involving AI to our offerings and internal systems, and 
features that rely on AI may be susceptible to unanticipated security threats as our and the market’s understanding of AI-
centric security risks and protection methods continue to develop. We have in the past discovered, and may in the future 
discover, some errors in our software code only after we have released the code. Systems and control failures, security 
breaches, failure to comply with our privacy policies, and/or inadvertent disclosure of user data could result in regulatory 
and legal exposure, seriously harm our reputation, brand, and business, and impair our ability to attract and retain users 
or customers. Such incidents have occurred in the past and may continue to occur due to the scale and nature of our 
products and services. While there is no guarantee that such incidents will not cause significant damage, we expect to 
continue to expend significant resources to maintain security protections that limit the effect of bugs, theft, misuse, and 
security vulnerabilities or breaches.
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We experience cyber attacks and other attempts to gain unauthorized access to our systems on a regular basis. Cyber 
attacks continue to evolve in sophistication and volume, and inherently may be difficult to detect for long periods of time. 
For example, the development and implementation of AI technologies may further increase our exposure to or exacerbate 
the risks of cyber attacks or other security incidents, particularly where such technologies are exploited by third parties to 
breach our or other parties’ systems, including when such technologies are used to target our employees or impersonate 
members of senior management in order to gain unauthorized access to our systems. We have also seen, and will continue 
to see, industry-wide software supply chain vulnerabilities, which could affect our or other parties’ systems. We expect 
to continue to experience such incidents or vulnerabilities in the future. Our efforts to prevent security incidents and 
address undesirable activity on our platform may require us to spend additional resources to prepare and defend against 
such threats, and could also increase the risk of retaliatory attack. In addition, we face the risk of cyber attacks by nation-
states and state-sponsored actors. These attacks may target us or our customers, particularly our public sector customers 
(including federal, state, and local governments). Geopolitical tensions or armed conflicts, such as the ongoing conflict in 
the Middle East and Ukraine, may increase these risks.

We may experience security and/or privacy issues, whether due to employee or insider error or malfeasance, system 
errors, or vulnerabilities in our or other parties’ systems. While we may not determine some of these issues to be material 
at the time they occur and may remedy them quickly, there is no guarantee that these issues will not ultimately result 
in significant legal, financial, and reputational harm, including government inquiries, enforcement actions, litigation, and 
negative publicity. There is also no guarantee that a series of related issues may not be determined to be material at a later 
date in the aggregate, even if they may not be material individually at the time of their occurrence. Because the techniques 
used to obtain unauthorized access to, disable or degrade service provided by or otherwise sabotage systems change 
frequently and often are recognized only after being launched against a target, even taking all reasonable precautions, 
including those required by law, we have been unable in the past and may continue to be unable to anticipate or detect 
attacks or vulnerabilities or implement adequate preventative measures.

Further, if any partners with whom we share user or other customer information fail to implement adequate data-security 
practices, fail to comply with our terms and policies, or otherwise suffer a network or other security breach, our users’ 
data may be improperly accessed, used, or disclosed. If an actual or perceived breach of our or our business partners’ or 
service providers’ security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures would be harmed, 
we could lose users and customers, our trade secrets or those of our business partners may be compromised, and we may 
be exposed to significant legal and financial risks, including legal claims (which may include class-action litigation) and 
regulatory actions, fines, and penalties. Any of the foregoing consequences could harm our business, reputation, financial 
condition, and operating results.

While we have dedicated significant resources to privacy and security incident response capabilities, including dedicated 
worldwide incident response teams, our response process, particularly during times of a natural disaster or pandemic, 
may not be adequate, may fail to accurately assess the severity of an incident, may not be fast enough to prevent or limit 
harm, or may fail to sufficiently remediate an incident. As a result, we may suffer significant legal, reputational, or financial 
exposure, which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.

For additional information, see also our risk factor on privacy and data protection regulations under ‘Risks Related to Laws, 
Regulations, and Policies’ below.

Our ongoing investments in safety, security, and content review will likely continue to identify abuse of our 
platforms and misuse of user data.
In addition to our efforts to prevent and mitigate cyber attacks, we are making significant investments in safety, security, 
and review efforts to combat misuse of our services and unauthorized access to user data by third parties, including 
investigation and review of platform applications that could access the information of users of our services. As a result 
of these efforts, we have in the past discovered, and may in the future discover, incidents of unnecessary access to or 
misuse of user data or other undesirable activity by third parties. However, we may not have discovered, and may in the 
future not discover, all such incidents or activity, whether as a result of our data limitations, including our lack of visibility 
over our encrypted services, the scale of activity on our platform, or other factors, including factors outside of our control 
such as a natural disaster or pandemic, and we may learn of such incidents or activity via third parties. Such incidents 
and activities may include the use of user data or our systems in a manner inconsistent with our terms, contracts or 
policies, the existence of false or undesirable user accounts, election interference, improper ad purchases, activities that 
threaten people’s safety on- or off-line, or instances of spamming, scraping, or spreading disinformation. While we may 
not determine some of these incidents to be material at the time they occurred and we may remedy them quickly, there 
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is no guarantee that these issues will not ultimately result in significant legal, financial, and reputational harm, including 
government inquiries and enforcement actions, litigation, and negative publicity. There is also no guarantee that a series 
of related issues may not be determined to be material at a later date in the aggregate, even if they may not be material 
individually at the time of their occurrence.

We may also be unsuccessful in our efforts to enforce our policies or otherwise prevent or remediate any such incidents. Any 
of the foregoing developments may negatively affect user trust and engagement, harm our reputation and brands, require us 
to change our business practices in ways that harm our business operations, and adversely affect our business and financial 
results. Any such developments may also subject us to additional litigation and regulatory inquiries, which could result in 
monetary penalties and damages, divert management’s time and attention, and lead to enhanced regulatory oversight.

Problematic content on our platforms, including low-quality user-generated content, web spam, content 
farms, and other violations of our guidelines could affect the quality of our services, which could harm our 
reputation and deter our current and potential users from using our products and services.
We, like others in the industry, face violations of our content guidelines across our platforms, including sophisticated 
attempts by bad actors to manipulate our hosting and advertising systems to fraudulently generate revenues, or to 
otherwise generate traffic that does not represent genuine user interest or intent. While we invest significantly in efforts to 
promote high-quality and relevant results and to detect and prevent low-quality content and invalid traffic, we have been 
unable and may continue to be unable to detect and prevent all such abuses or promote uniformly high-quality content. 
Increased use of AI in our offerings and internal systems may create new avenues of abuse for bad actors.

Many websites violate or attempt to violate our guidelines, including by seeking to inappropriately rank higher in search 
results than our search engine’s assessment of their relevance and utility would rank them. Such efforts have affected, and 
may continue to affect, the quality of content on our platforms and lead them to display false, misleading, or undesirable 
content. Although English-language web spam in our search results has been reduced, and web spam in most other 
languages is limited, we expect web spammers will continue to seek inappropriate ways to improve their rankings. Although 
we continue to invest in and deploy proprietary technology to detect and prevent web spam on our platforms, there is no 
guarantee that our technology will always be successful, and our users may have negative experiences on our platforms 
if our technology fails to work as intended, which may affect our users’ decisions in continuing to use our platforms. We 
also face other challenges from low-quality and irrelevant content websites, including content farms, which are websites 
that generate large quantities of low-quality content to help them improve their search rankings. We are continually 
launching algorithmic changes designed to detect and prevent abuse from low-quality websites, but we may not always be 
successful. We also face other challenges on our platforms, including violations of our content guidelines involving incidents 
such as attempted election interference; activities that threaten the safety and/or well-being of our users, including minors, 
on- or off-line; and the spreading of misinformation or disinformation.

If we fail to either detect and prevent an increase in problematic content or effectively promote high-quality content, it 
could hurt our reputation for delivering relevant information or reduce use of our platforms, harming our financial condition 
and operating results. It may also subject us to litigation and regulatory actions, which could result in monetary penalties 
and damages and divert management’s time and attention.

Our business depends on continued and unimpeded access to the Internet by us and our users. Internet 
access providers may be able to restrict, block, degrade, or charge for access to certain of our products 
and services, which could lead to additional expenses and the loss of users and advertisers.
Our products and services depend on the ability of our users to access the Internet, and certain of our products require 
significant network capacity to work effectively. Currently, this access is provided by companies that have significant 
market power in the broadband and internet access marketplace, including incumbent telephone companies, cable 
companies, mobile communications companies, and government-owned service providers. Some of these providers have 
taken, or have stated that they may take, measures that could degrade, disrupt, or increase the cost of user access to 
certain of our products by restricting or prohibiting the use of their infrastructure to support or facilitate our offerings, by 
charging increased fees to us or our users to provide our offerings, or by providing our competitors preferential access. 
Some jurisdictions have adopted regulations prohibiting certain forms of discrimination by internet access providers; 
however, substantial uncertainty exists in the U.S. and elsewhere regarding such protections. In addition, in some 
jurisdictions, our products and services have been subject to government-initiated restrictions or blockages. These could 
harm existing key relationships, including with our users, customers, advertisers, and/or content providers, and impair our 
ability to attract new ones; harm our reputation; and increase costs, thereby negatively affecting our business.
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Risks Related to Laws, Regulations, and Policies
We are subject to a variety of new, existing, and changing laws and regulations worldwide that could harm 
our business, and will likely be subject to an even broader scope of laws and regulations as we continue to 
expand our business.
We are subject to numerous U.S. federal and state as well as foreign laws and regulations covering a wide variety of 
subjects, and our introduction of new businesses, products, services, and technologies will likely continue to subject us 
to additional laws and regulations. In recent years, governments around the world have proposed and adopted a large 
number of new laws and regulations relevant to the digital economy, particularly in the areas of data privacy and security, 
competition, AI, and online content. The costs of compliance with these measures are high and are likely to increase in the 
future, including as a result of differing, and sometimes conflicting, laws and regulations.

New or changing laws and regulations, or interpretations or applications of existing laws and regulations in a manner 
inconsistent with our interpretations of such laws and regulations and/or our practices, have resulted in, and may continue 
to result in, less useful products and services, altered business models and operations, limited ability to pursue certain 
business practices or offer certain products and services, substantial costs, and civil or criminal liability. Examples include 
laws and regulations regarding:

• Competition and technology platforms’ business practices: Laws and regulations focused on large technology 
platforms, including the Digital Markets Act in the European Union (EU); regulations and legal settlements in the U.S., 
South Korea, and elsewhere that affect Google Play’s billing policies, fees, and business model; as well as litigation and 
new and expected regulations in a range of jurisdictions, including, among others, in the UK, Japan, and India.

• AI: Laws and regulations focused on the development, use, and provision of AI technologies and other digital products 
and services, which could result in monetary penalties or other regulatory actions. For example, the EU AI Act came into 
force on August 1, 2024, and will generally become fully applicable after a two-year transitional period (although certain 
obligations will take effect at an earlier or later time). The EU AI Act introduces various requirements for AI systems 
and models placed on the market or put into service in the EU, including specific transparency and other requirements 
for general purpose AI systems and the models on which those systems are based. In the U.S., there is increasing 
uncertainty as to the federal government’s approach to AI regulation going forward, as the continued applicability of the 
White House’s 2023 Executive Order on the Safe, Secure, and Trustworthy Development and Use of Artificial Intelligence, 
which lays out a framework for the U.S. government, among other things, to monitor private sector development of 
certain foundation models, remains subject to regulatory development. Several states are considering enacting or have 
already enacted regulations concerning the use of AI technologies, including those focused on consumer protection, and 
depending on the scope of AI regulation at the federal level, some states may move to regulate AI model development 
and deployment. Further, at the federal and state level, there have been various proposals (and in some cases laws 
enacted) addressing “deepfakes” and other AI-generated synthetic media.

• Data privacy, collection, processing, and portability: Laws and regulations further restricting the collection, processing, 
and/or sharing of user or advertising-related data, including privacy and data protection laws; laws affecting the processing 
of children’s data (as discussed further below), data breach notification laws; laws limiting data transfers (including data 
localization laws); and laws requiring data portability (including the EU Data Act, as discussed further below).

• Copyright and other intellectual property: Copyright and related laws, including the EU Directive on Copyright in the 
Digital Single Market and European Economic Area transpositions, which have introduced new licensing regimes, increase 
liability with respect to content uploaded by users or linked to from our platforms, or create property rights in news 
publications that could require payments to news agencies and publishers, which may result in other regulatory actions.

• Content moderation: Various laws covering content moderation and removal, and related disclosure obligations, such 
as the EU’s Digital Services Act, Florida’s Senate Bill 7072 and Texas’ House Bill 20, and laws and proposed legislation 
in Singapore, Australia, and the United Kingdom that impose penalties for failure to remove certain types of content 
or require disclosure of information about the operation of our services and algorithms, which may make it harder for 
services like Google Search and YouTube to detect and deal with low-quality, deceptive, or harmful content, or on the 
other hand, may impinge on the rights of free expression, which, in turn, could impact how our platforms are viewed by 
users. Additionally, legislators are increasingly focused on regulating online child safety, including content protections 
for minors under eighteen years of age. These regulations could result in our having to modify our products and services 
and incur additional costs to operate and monitor minors’ experiences on our products and services.

• Consumer protection: Consumer protection laws, including the EU’s New Deal for Consumers, which could result in 
monetary penalties and create a range of new compliance obligations.
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In addition, the applicability and scope of these and other laws and regulations, as interpreted by courts, regulators, or 
administrative bodies, remain uncertain and could be interpreted in ways that harm our business. For example, we rely on 
statutory safe harbors, like those set forth in the Digital Millennium Copyright Act and Section 230 of the Communications 
Decency Act in the U.S. and the Digital Services Act in Europe, to protect against liability for various linking, caching, 
ranking, recommending, and hosting activities. Legislation or court rulings affecting these safe harbors may harm us 
and may impose significant operational challenges. There are legislative proposals and pending litigation in the U.S., 
EU, and around the world that could diminish or eliminate safe harbor protection for websites and online platforms. Our 
development, use, and commercialization of AI products and services (including our implementation of AI in our offerings 
and internal systems) could subject us to regulatory action and legal liability, including under specific legislation regulating 
AI, as well as new applications of existing data protection, cybersecurity, privacy, intellectual property, and other laws.

Further, we are subject to evolving laws, regulations, policies, and international accords relating to matters beyond our core 
products and services, including environmental sustainability, climate change, human capital, and employment matters. In 
response, we have implemented robust programs, adopted reporting frameworks and principles, and announced a number 
of complex and ambitious goals and initiatives that may require considerable investments. We cannot guarantee that our 
goals and initiatives will be fully realized on the timelines we expect or at all, and projects that are completed as planned 
may not achieve the results we anticipate.

We are and may continue to be subject to claims, lawsuits, regulatory and government inquiries and 
investigations, enforcement actions, consent orders, and other forms of regulatory scrutiny and legal 
liability, including competition matters, that could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and 
operating results.
We are subject to claims, lawsuits, regulatory and government inquiries and investigations, other proceedings, and orders 
involving competition, intellectual property, data privacy and security, tax and related compliance, labor and employment, 
commercial disputes, content generated by our users, goods and services offered by advertisers or publishers using our 
platforms, personal injury, and other matters.

The U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), various U.S. states, and other plaintiffs have filed, and may continue to file in 
the future, several antitrust lawsuits about various aspects of our business, including our advertising technologies and 
practices, the operation and distribution of Google Search, and the operation and distribution of the Android operating 
system and Play Store.

For example, the DOJ and a number of state Attorneys General filed a lawsuit alleging that Google violated antitrust laws 
relating to Search and Search advertising, and in August 2024, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia ruled that 
Google violated such antitrust laws. The Court is holding a separate proceeding to determine remedies, which could include 
alterations to our products and services and our business models and operations, including structural remedies, and/or our 
distribution arrangements, among other changes. While we plan to appeal, there can be no assurance that our appeal will 
succeed, or that we will be able to change or decrease the severity of any remedies that may be ordered, and any or all of 
these potential remedies could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

Also, in December 2023, a California jury delivered a verdict in Epic Games v. Google finding that Google violated antitrust 
laws relating to Google Play’s business. The presiding judge issued a remedies decision in October 2024 that ordered a 
variety of alterations to our business models and operations and contractual agreements for Android and Google Play. 
�eݔare aĨĨealing the verdict, but if ŏe are unsuccessful, ŏe could face significant exĨenses to imĨlement the remedies, 
and such costs and alterations could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

Furthermore, in December 2020, several State Attorneys General, led by the Texas Attorney General, filed an antitrust 
lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas alleging that Google violated antitrust and other laws 
relating to its advertising technology. This case is set for trial in March 2025, and we could face significant civil penalties. 
In January 2023, the DOJ and several Attorneys General sued in the Eastern District of Virginia alleging similar antitrust 
violations relating to Google’s advertising technology. Trial in the DOJ matter concluded in September 2024 with a 
decision expected in early 2025. If we are unsuccessful, we could face an order on remedies that could harm our business, 
reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

In addition to these regulatory proceedings, private individual and collective actions that overlap with claims pursued by 
regulators are pending in the U.S. and in several other jurisdictions. Adverse results in these or similar future lawsuits may 
include awards of monetary damages and remedies that could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and 
operating results.
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Other regulatory agencies in the U.S. and around the world, including competition enforcers, consumer protection 
agencies, and data protection authorities, have challenged and may continue to challenge our business practices and 
compliance with laws and regulations. We are cooperating with these investigations and defending litigation or appealing 
decisions where appropriate.

We are also subject to a variety of claims including product warranty, product liability, and consumer protection claims 
related to product defects, among other litigation, and we may also be subject to claims involving health and safety, 
hazardous materials usage, other environmental effects, AI training, development, and commercialization, or service 
disruptions or failures. Claims have been brought, and we expect will continue to be brought, against us for defamation, 
negligence, breaches of contract, patent, copyright and trademark infringement, unfair competition, unlawful activity, 
torts, privacy rights violations, fraud, or other legal theories based on the nature and content of information available on 
or via our services, the design and effect of our products and services, or due to our involvement in hosting, transmitting, 
marketing, branding, or providing access to content created by third parties.

Various laws, regulations, investigations, enforcement lawsuits, and regulatory actions have involved in the past, and may in 
the future result in substantial fines and penalties, injunctive relief, ongoing monitoring and auditing obligations, changes to 
our products and services, alterations to our business models and operations, including divestiture, and collateral related 
civil litigation or other adverse consequences. Any of these legal proceedings could also result in legal costs, diversion of 
management resources, and negative publicity, all of which could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and 
operating results.

Estimating liabilities for our pending proceedings is a complex, fact-specific, and speculative process that requires 
significant judgment, and the amounts we are ultimately liable for may be less than or exceed our estimates. The resolution 
of one or more such proceedings has resulted in, and may in the future result in, additional substantial fines, penalties, 
injunctions, and other sanctions that could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

For additional information about the ongoing material legal proceedings to which we are subject, see Legal Proceedings in 
Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Privacy, data protection, data usage, and portability regulations are complex and rapidly evolving areas. 
Any failure or alleged failure to comply with these laws could harm our business, reputation, financial 
condition, and operating results.
Authorities around the world have adopted and are considering a number of legislative and regulatory proposals 
concerning data protection, data usage and portability, and encryption of user data. Additionally, the increasing adoption 
of AI technologies, which rely on the collection of large amounts of data and use of such data for training purposes, 
has led data protection authorities around the world to consider and adopt new and evolving interpretations of data 
protection laws, imposing specific obligations with respect to the processing of personal data, including required notices, 
consents, and opt-outs. Further, the increased risk of inadvertent disclosure of confidential information or personal data in 
connection with the utilization of AI technologies may result in stronger regulatory scrutiny, leading to legal and regulatory 
investigations and enforcement actions that may negatively affect our business, even if unfounded. Adverse legal rulings, 
legislation, or regulation have resulted in, and may continue to result in, fines and orders requiring that we change our 
practices, which have had and could continue to have an adverse effect on how we provide services, harming our business, 
reputation, financial condition, and operating results. These laws and regulations are evolving and subject to interpretation, 
and compliance obligations could cause us to incur substantial costs or harm the quality and operations of our products 
and services in ways that harm our business. Examples of these laws include:

• The EU General Data Protection Regulation and the United Kingdom General Data Protection Regulations, which apply 
to all of our activities conducted from an establishment in the EU or the United Kingdom, respectively, or related to 
products and services that we offer to EU or the United Kingdom users or customers, respectively, or the monitoring of 
their behavior in the EU or the UK, respectively.

• Various U.S. federal, U.S. state, and foreign privacy laws related to the processing and security of personal data, including 
(1) comprehensive privacy laws that provide data privacy rights (including, in California, a private right of action in the event 
of a data breach resulting from our failure to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices) and 
impose significant obligations on controllers and processors of consumer data; (2) laws imposing obligations on businesses 
that collect or disclose biometric information (including, in Illinois, Texas, and Washington); (3) laws governing the collection 
and processing of children and minor’s data and how companies provide age appropriate online experiences (including, 
in the U.S., the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act of 1998, the pending Children and Teens’ Online Privacy Protection 
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Act (COPPA 2.0), which passed the U.S. Senate in 2024, and similar U.S. state laws related to children’s privacy, such as 
the New York Child Data Protection Act, and the United Kingdom’s Age-Appropriate Design Code); and (4) laws regulating 
internet-connected devices (such as, in California, the Internet of Things Security Law).

• The EU’s Digital Markets Act, which will require in-scope companies to obtain user consent for combining data across 
certain products and require search engines to share anonymized data with rival companies, among other changes; and 
the EU Data Act, which introduces new data portability requirements with respect to connected products (i.e., ‘internet 
of things’ products) and related services, as well as interoperability obligations on data processing services.

Further, we are subject to evolving laws and regulations that dictate whether, how, and under what circumstances we can 
transfer, process and/or receive personal data, as well as ongoing enforcement actions from supervisory authorities related 
to cross-border transfers of personal data. The validity of various data transfer mechanisms we currently rely upon remains 
subject to legal, regulatory, and political developments globally, which may require us to adapt our existing arrangements.

We face, and may continue to face, intellectual property infringement or misappropriation, violation of 
rights of publicity, and other claims that could be costly to defend, result in significant damage awards or 
other costs (including indemnification awards), and limit our ability to use certain technologies.
We, like other internet, technology, and media companies, are frequently subject to litigation based on allegations of 
infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights, including patent, copyright, trade secrets, and trademarks. 
Parties have also sought broad injunctive relief against us by filing claims in U.S. and international courts and the U.S. 
International Trade Commission (ITC) for exclusion and cease-and-desist orders. In addition, patent-holding companies 
may frequently seek to generate income from patents they have obtained by bringing claims against us. As we continue to 
expand our business, the number of intellectual property claims against us has increased and may continue to increase as 
we develop and acquire new products, services, and technologies, including AI technologies.

Adverse results in any of these lawsuits may include awards of monetary damages, costly royalty or licensing agreements 
(if licenses are available at all), or orders limiting our ability to sell our products and services in the U.S. or elsewhere, 
including by preventing us from offering certain features, functionalities, products, or services in certain jurisdictions. They 
may also cause us to change our business practices in ways that could result in a loss of revenues for us and otherwise 
harm our business.

Many of our agreements with our customers and partners, including certain suppliers, require us to defend against certain 
intellectual property infringement claims and in some cases indemnify them for certain intellectual property infringement 
claims against them, which could result in increased costs for defending such claims or significant damages if there 
were an adverse ruling in any such claims. Such customers and partners may also discontinue the use of our products, 
services, and technologies, as a result of injunctions or otherwise, which could result in loss of revenues and harm our 
business. Moreover, intellectual property indemnities provided to us by our suppliers, when obtainable, may not cover all 
damages and losses suffered by us and our customers arising from intellectual property infringement claims. Furthermore, 
in connection with our divestitures, we have agreed, and may in the future agree, to provide indemnification for certain 
potential liabilities, including those associated with intellectual property claims. Regardless of their merits, intellectual 
property claims are often time consuming and expensive to litigate or settle. To the extent such claims are successful, they 
could harm our business, including our product and service offerings, financial condition, and operating results.

We could be subject to changes in tax rates, the adoption of new U.S. or international tax legislation, or 
exposure to additional tax liabilities.
We are subject to a variety of taxes and tax collection obligations in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Our 
effective tax rates are affected by a variety of factors, including changes in the mix of earnings in jurisdictions with different 
statutory tax rates, net gains and losses on hedges and related transactions under our foreign exchange risk management 
program, changes in our stock price for shares issued as employee compensation, changes in the valuation of our deferred 
tax assets or liabilities, and the application of different provisions of tax laws or changes in tax laws, regulations, or 
accounting principles (including changes in the interpretation of existing laws). Further, if we are unable or fail to collect 
taxes on behalf of customers, employees and partners as the withholding agent, we could become liable for taxes that are 
levied against third parties.

We are subject to regular review and audit by both domestic and foreign tax authorities. As a result, we have received, and 
may in the future receive, assessments in multiple jurisdictions, on various tax-related assertions, such as transfer-pricing 
adjustments or permanent-establishment claims. Any adverse outcome of such a review or audit could harm our financial 
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condition and operating results, require adverse changes to our business practices, or subject us to additional litigation 
and regulatory inquiries. In addition, the determination of our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities 
requires significant judgment and often involves uncertainty. Although we believe our estimates are reasonable, the 
ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our financial statements and may affect our financial results 
in the period or periods for which such determination is made.

Furthermore, due to shifting economic and political conditions, tax policies, laws, or rates in various jurisdictions may be 
subject to significant changes in ways that could harm our financial condition and operating results. For example, various 
jurisdictions around the world have enacted or are considering revenue-based taxes such as digital services taxes and 
other targeted taxes, which could lead to inconsistent and potentially overlapping international tax regimes. The U.S. has 
imposed a 1% excise tax on the fair market value of shares repurchased, which could potentially increase in the future. 
The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) is coordinating negotiations among more than 
 countries ŏith the goal of achieving consensus around substantial changes to international tax Ĩolicies, including theݔٴٸٵ
implementation of a minimum global effective tax rate of 15%, on which various jurisdictions around the world have either 
introduced draft legislation or adopted final legislation. Our effective tax rate and cash tax payments could increase as a 
result of these changes.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Stock
We cannot guarantee that any share repurchase program or dividend program will be continuously active 
or fully consummated or will enhance long-term stockholder value, and share repurchases or dividends 
could increase the volatility of our stock prices and could diminish our cash reserves.
We engage in share repurchases of our Class A and Class C stock from time to time in accordance with authorizations 
from the Board of Directors of Alphabet. Our repurchase program does not have an expiration date and does not 
obligate Alphabet to repurchase any specific dollar amount or to acquire any specific number of shares. In April 2024, we 
announced the approval of our cash dividend program and began paying regular cash dividends to our Class A, Class B, 
and Class C stockholders. Any and all future cash dividends are subject to declaration by our Board of Directors in its sole 
discretion, and in accordance with the requirements of any applicable laws, rules, and regulations, including the Delaware 
General Corporation Law. Our cash dividend program does not require, and our Board of Directors may decide not to 
declare, a cash dividend each quarter, and does not obligate our Board of Directors to declare a dividend at any specific 
dollar amount per share. Any such decision by our Board of Directors may depend on a variety of factors that it may deem 
relevant, including but not limited to our earnings, liquidity, financial condition, other capital deployment opportunities, level 
of indebtedness, and general market conditions. Our share repurchases or dividends could affect our share trading prices, 
increase their volatility, reduce our cash reserves and may be suspended or terminated at any time, which may result in a 
decrease in the trading prices of our stock.

The concentration of our stock ownership limits our stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters.
Our Class B stock has 10 votes per share, our Class A stock has one vote per share, and our Class C stock has no voting 
rights۽ As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, Larry Page and Sergey Brin beneficially oŏned aĨĨroximately ޫٸ۽ٻټ of our outstanding 
Class B stock, which represented approximately 52.1% of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. Through their 
stock ownership, Larry and Sergey have significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including 
the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or our 
assets, for the foreseeable future. In addition, because our Class C stock carries no voting rights (except as required by 
applicable law), the issuance of the Class C stock, including in future stock-based acquisition transactions and to fund 
employee equity incentive programs, could continue Larry and Sergey’s current relative voting power and their ability to 
elect all of our directors and to determine the outcome of most matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders. The share 
repurchases made pursuant to our repurchase program may also affect Larry and Sergey’s relative voting power. This 
concentrated control limits or severely restricts other stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters and we may take 
actions that some of our stockholders do not view as beneficial, which could reduce the market price of our Class A stock 
and our Class C stock.
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Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that 
stockholders may consider favorable.
Provisions in Alphabet’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of 
control or changes in our management. These provisions include the following:

• Our Board of Directors has the right to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the Board of Directors 
or the resignation, death, or removal of a director.

• Our stockholders may not act by written consent, which makes it difficult to take certain actions without holding a 
stockholders’ meeting.

• Our certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors. This limits the ability of minority 
stockholders to elect director candidates.

• Stockholders must provide advance notice to nominate individuals for election to the Board of Directors or to propose 
matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting. These provisions may discourage or deter a potential 
acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting 
to obtain control of our company.

• Our Board of Directors may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of undesignated preferred stock, which makes it 
possible for our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede 
the success of any attempt to acquire us.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to certain Delaware anti-takeover provisions. Under Delaware law, a 
corporation may not engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its outstanding voting stock 
unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other things, the Board of Directors has approved the 
transaction. Our Board of Directors could rely on Delaware law to prevent or delay an acquisition of us.

The trading price for our Class A stock and non-voting Class C stock may continue to be volatile.
The trading price of our stock has at times experienced significant volatility and may continue to be volatile. In addition 
to the factors discussed in this report, the trading prices of our Class A stock and Class C stock have fluctuated, and 
may continue to fluctuate widely, in response to various factors, including, among others, the size or continuity of either 
our share repurchase or dividend programs, the activities of our peers and changes in broader economic and political 
conditions around the world. These broad market and industry factors could harm the market price of our Class A stock 
and our Class C stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.

General Risks
Our operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results difficult to predict and could cause our 
results to fall short of expectations.
Our operating results have fluctuated, and may in the future fluctuate, as a result of a number of factors, many outside of 
our control, including the cyclical nature and seasonality in our business and geopolitical events. As a result, comparing 
our operating results (including our expenses as a percentage of our revenues) on a period-to-period basis may not be 
meaningful, and our past results should not be relied on as an indication of our future performance. Consequently, our 
operating results in future quarters may fall below expectations.

Acquisitions, joint ventures, investments, and divestitures could result in operating difficulties, dilution, 
and other consequences that could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Acquisitions, joint ventures, investments, and divestitures are important elements of our overall corporate strategy and use 
of capital, and these transactions could be material to our financial condition and operating results. We expect to continue 
to evaluate and enter into discussions regarding a wide array of such potential strategic arrangements, which could create 
unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. Some of the areas where we face risks include:

• diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to challenges related to acquisitions and other 
strategic arrangements;

• failure to obtain required approvals on a timely basis, if at all, from governmental authorities; conditions placed upon 
approval that could, among other things, delay or prevent us from completing a transaction, or otherwise restrict our 
ability to realize the expected financial or strategic goals of a transaction; or investigations or litigation by governmental 
authorities related to our acquisitions and other strategic arrangements;
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• failure to successfully integrate the acquired operations, technologies, services, and personnel (including cultural 
integration and retention of employees) and further develop the acquired business or technology;

• implementation of controls (or remediation of control deficiencies), procedures, and policies at the acquired company;
• integration of the acquired company’s accounting and other administrative systems, and the coordination of product, 

engineering, and sales and marketing functions;
• transition of operations, users, and customers onto our existing platforms;
• in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need to integrate operations across different cultures and languages and to 

address the particular economic, currency, political, and regulatory risks associated with specific countries;
• failure to accomplish commercial, strategic or financial objectives with respect to investments, joint ventures, and other 

strategic arrangements;
• failure to realize the value of investments and joint ventures due to a lack of liquidity;
• liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including patent and trademark infringement 

claims, data privacy and security issues, violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabilities, warranty claims, product 
liabilities, and other known and unknown liabilities; and

• litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, 
customers, former stockholders, or other third parties.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions and 
other strategic arrangements could cause us to fail to realize their anticipated benefits, incur unanticipated liabilities, and 
harm our business generally.

Our acquisitions and other strategic arrangements could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the 
incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, or amortization expenses, or impairment of goodwill and/or purchased long-
lived assets, and restructuring charges, any of which could harm our financial condition and operating results. Also, the 
anticipated benefits or value of our acquisitions and other strategic arrangements may not materialize. In connection 
with our divestitures and certain other strategic arrangements, we have agreed, and may in the future agree, to provide 
indemnification for certain potential liabilities, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.

We rely on highly skilled personnel and, if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel, hire qualified 
personnel, or maintain and continue to adapt our corporate culture, we may not be able to grow or operate 
effectively.
Our performance and future success depends in large part upon the continued service of key technical leads as well as 
members of our senior management team. For instance, Sundar Pichai is critical to the overall management of Alphabet 
and its subsidiaries and plays an important role in the development of our technology, maintaining our culture, and setting 
our strategic direction.

Our ability to compete effectively and our future success depend on our continuing to identify, hire, develop, motivate, 
and retain highly skilled personnel for all areas of our organization. Competition in our industry for qualified employees 
is intense, and certain of our competitors have directly targeted, and may continue to target, our employees. In addition, 
our compensation arrangements, such as our equity award programs, may not always be successful in attracting new 
employees and retaining and motivating our existing employees. Immigration policy and regulatory changes may also affect 
our ability to hire, mobilize, or retain some of our global talent. All of our executive officers and key employees are at-will 
employees, and we do not maintain any key-person life insurance policies.

In addition, we believe that our corporate culture fosters innovation, creativity, and teamwork. As our organization grows 
and evolves, we may need to adapt our corporate culture and work environments to ever-changing circumstances, such 
as during times of a natural disaster or pandemic, and these changes could affect our ability to compete effectively or 
have an adverse effect on our corporate culture. Under our hybrid work models, we may experience increased costs and/or 
disruption, in addition to potential effects on our ability to operate effectively and maintain our corporate culture.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity
We maintain a comprehensive process for identifying, assessing, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats 
as part of our broader risk management system and processes. For example, some risks include our software supply 
chain and other third-party dependencies, vulnerabilities in our products and services, theft of our intellectual property, 
and attempts to compromise our infrastructure. We obtain input, as appropriate, for our cybersecurity risk management 
program on the security industry and threat trends from multiple external experts and internal threat intelligence teams. 
Teams of dedicated privacy, safety, and security professionals oversee cybersecurity risk management and mitigation, 
incident prevention, detection, and remediation. These teams comprise professionals with deep cybersecurity expertise 
across multiple industries and are led by our Vice President of Privacy, Safety, and Security Engineering, who has 20 years 
of experience, including roles in technology infrastructure for two other large public companies. Our executive leadership 
team, along with input from the above teams, are responsible for our overall enterprise risk management system and 
processes and regularly consider cybersecurity risks in the context of other material risks to the company.

As part of our cybersecurity risk management system, our incident management teams track and log privacy and security 
incidents across Alphabet, our vendors, and other third-party service providers to remediate and resolve any such 
incidents. Significant incidents are reviewed regularly by a cross-functional working group to determine whether further 
escalation is appropriate. Any incident assessed as potentially being or potentially becoming material is promptly escalated 
for further assessment, and then reported to designated members of our senior management. We consult with outside 
counsel as appropriate, including on materiality analysis and disclosure matters, and our senior management makes the 
final materiality determinations and disclosure and other compliance decisions. Our management apprises Alphabet’s 
independent public accounting firm of matters and any relevant developments.

The Audit and Compliance Committee has oversight responsibility for risks and incidents relating to cybersecurity threats, 
including compliance with disclosure requirements, cooperation with law enforcement, and related effects on financial and 
other risks, and it reports any findings and recommendations, as appropriate, to the full Board for consideration. Senior 
management regularly discusses cyber risks and trends and, should they arise, any material incidents with the Audit and 
Compliance Committee. Internal Audit maintains a dedicated cybersecurity auditing team that independently tests our 
cybersecurity controls.

Our business strategy, results of operations and financial condition have not been materially affected by risks from 
cybersecurity threats, including as a result of previously identified cybersecurity incidents, but we cannot provide 
assurance that they will not be materially affected in the future by such risks or any future material incidents. For more 
information on our cybersecurity related risks, see Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

AteĈ ݍݍ۽ٶwroĨerties
Our headquarters are located in Mountain View, California. We own and lease office facilities and data centers around the 
world, primarily in Asia, Europe, and North America. We believe our existing facilities are in good condition and suitable for 
the conduct of our business.

AteĈ ݍݍ۽ٷQeé±ă wroceeÑiĉés
For a description of our material pending legal proceedings, see Legal Matters in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein by 
reference.

AteĈ ݍݍ۽ٸWiĉe ~±èetŕ "iscăosures
Not applicable.
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Part II

AteĈ ݍݍ۽ٹ W±rĀet èor zeéistr±ĉtܻs �oĈĈoĉ EĪuitŕ۾ zeă±teÑ 
Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities

As of October 2, 2015, Alphabet Inc. became the successor issuer of Google Inc. pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the 
Exchange Act. Our Class A stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “GOOG” since 
August 19, 2004, and under the symbol “GOOGL” since April 3, 2014. Prior to August 19, 2004, there was no public market 
for our stock. Our Class B stock is neither listed nor traded. Our Class C stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select 
Market under the symbol “GOOG” since April 3, 2014.

Holders of Record
As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, there ŏere aĨĨroximately ٷٸٻ,ٻ and ٵٻٺ,ٵ stocĀholders of record of our ClassݔA stocĀ and 
ClassݔC stocĀ, resĨectively۽ Because many of our shares of Class A stocĀ and Class C stocĀ are held by broĀers and other 
institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these 
record holders۽ As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, there ŏere aĨĨroximately ٻٹ stocĀholders of record of our Class B stocĀ۽

Dividend Program
Dividend payments to stockholders of Class A, Class B, and Class C shares were $3.5 billion, $519 million, and $3.3 billion, 
resĨectively, for the year ended "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ �he comĨany intends to Ĩay Īuarterly cash dividends in the future, 
subject to review and approval by the company’s Board of Directors in its sole discretion. We regularly evaluate our cash 
and capital structure, including the size, pace, and form of capital return to stockholders.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table presents information with respect to Alphabet’s repurchases of Class A and Class C stock during the 
Īuarter ended "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ:

Period

Total Number 
of Class A

Shares 
Purchased 

(in thousands)(1)

Total Number 
of Class C

Shares 
Purchased 

(in thousands)(1)

Average Price 
Paid per 

�ă±ssݔ�ݔ~î±re(2)

Average Price 
Paid per 

Class C Share(2)

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 
as Part of Publicly 

Announced 
Programs

(in thousands)(1)

Approximate 
Dollar Value of 

Shares that May 
Yet Be Purchased 

Under the Program 
(in millions)

^ctoÊerڹڻݘܭݘڹݘ ںہڿܜڽ ڸۀڸܜڸڻ ށ ھھܛڿھڹ ށ ڼۀܛۀھڹ ںڿۀܜڽڻ ށ ہہھܜڻڽ

XoveĈÊerڸڻݘܭݘڹݘ ڽںڻܜڼ ڸڽڼܜںں ށ ڿہܛڼڿڹ ށ ۀہܛڽڿڹ ڽڿڿܜھں ށ ڻںڸܜہڼ

"eceĈÊerڹڻݘܭݘڹݘ ہڽڽܜڻ ںڿڽܜہڹ ށ ڿڸܛڿۀڹ ށ ںڽܛڿۀڹ ڹڻڹܜڻں ށ ڼڸڿܜڼڼ

Total ھڿھܜڻڹ ںڸڹܜںڿ ۀڿڿܜڽۀ

(1) Repurchases are being executed from time to time, subject to general business and market conditions and other investment 
opportunities, through open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions, including through Rule 10b5-1 plans. The 
repurchase program does not have an expiration date. For additional information related to share repurchases, see Note 11 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Average price paid per share includes costs associated with the repurchases.

Stock Performance Graphs
The graph below matches Alphabet Inc. Class A’s cumulative five-year total stockholder return on common stock with the 
cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 index, the NASDAQ Composite index, and the RDG Internet Composite index. The 
graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all 
dividendsܢ from "ecemberٽٵٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, to "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ �he returns shoŏn are based on historical results and are not 
intended to suggest future performance.
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Comparison of Cumulative 5-Year Total Return*
ALPHABET INC. CLASS A COMMON STOCK
Among Alphabet Inc., the S&P 500 Index, the
NASDAQ Composite Index, and the RDG Internet Composite Index
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 ۽in stocĀ or index, including reinvestment of dividends ,ٽٵٴٶ ,ٵٷݔinvested on "ecember ٴٴٵݝ܈
Copyright© 2025 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.

The graph below matches Alphabet Inc. Class C’s cumulative five-year total stockholder return on capital stock with the 
cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 index, the NASDAQ Composite index, and the RDG Internet Composite index. The 
graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our Class C capital stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of 
all dividendsܢ from "ecemberٽٵٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, to "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ �he returns shoŏn are based on historical results and are not 
intended to suggest future performance.

Comparison of Cumulative 5-Year Total Return*
ALPHABET INC. CLASS C CAPITAL STOCK
Among Alphabet Inc., the S&P 500 Index, the
NASDAQ Composite Index, and the RDG Internet Composite Index
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*$100 invested on December 31, 2019, in stock or in index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Copyright© 2025 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.

AteĈ ܥݍݍ۽ٺzeserveÑܦ
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AteĈݍݍ۽ٻݔ W±ĉ±éeĈeĉtܻs "iscussioĉ ±ĉÑ �ĉ±ăŕsis oè 8iĉ±ĉci±ă 
Condition and Results of Operations

Please read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with “Note 
about Forward-Looking Statements,” Part I, Item 1 “Business,” Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors,” and our consolidated financial 
statements and related notes included under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following section generally discusses 2024 results compared to 2023 results. Discussion of 2023 results compared to 
2022 results to the extent not included in this report can be found in Item 7 of our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Understanding Alphabet’s Financial Results
Alphabet is a collection of businesses — the largest of which is Google. We report Google in two segments, Google 
Services and Google Cloud; we also report all non-Google businesses collectively as Other Bets. For further details on our 
segments, see Part I, Item 1 Business and Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Trends in Our Business and Financial Effect
The following long-term trends have contributed to the results of our consolidated operations, and we anticipate that they 
will continue to affect our future results:

• Users’ behaviors and advertising continue to shift online as the digital economy evolves.

The continuing evolution of the online world has contributed to the growth of our business and our revenues since 
inception. We expect that this evolution will continue to benefit our business and our revenues, although at a slower pace 
than we have experienced historically. In addition, we face increasing competition for user engagement and advertisers, 
including from other developers and providers of AI products and services, which may affect our revenues.

• Users continue to access our products and services using diverse devices and modalities, which allows for new 
advertising formats that may benefit our revenues but adversely affect our margins.

Our users are accessing our products and services via diverse devices and modalities beyond traditional desktop, such as 
smartphones, wearables, connected TVs, and smart home devices, and want to be able to be connected no matter where 
they are or what they are doing. We are focused on expanding our products and services to stay in front of these trends in 
order to maintain and grow our business.

We benefit from advertising revenues generated from different channels, including mobile, and newer advertising formats. 
The margins from these channels and newer products have generally been lower than those from traditional desktop 
search. Additionally, as the market for a particular device type or modality matures, our advertising revenues may be 
affected. For example, changing dynamics within the global smartphone market, such as increased market saturation in 
developed countries, can affect our mobile advertising revenues.

We expect TAC paid to our distribution partners and Google Network partners to increase as our revenues grow and TAC 
as a percentage of our advertising revenues (“TAC rate”) to be affected by changes in device mix; geographic mix; partner 
agreement terms; partner mix; the percentage of queries channeled through paid access points; product mix; the relative 
revenue growth rates of advertising revenues from different channels; and revenue share terms.

We expect these trends to continue to affect our revenues and put pressure on our margins.

• As online advertising evolves, we continue to expand our product offerings, which may affect our monetization.

As interactions between users and advertisers change, and as online user behavior evolves, for example with AI, we 
continue to expand our product offerings to serve these changing needs, which may affect monetization of our products 
and services. We expect to continue to incorporate AI innovations into our products, such as AI in Search, that could affect 
our monetization trends. When developing new products and services we generally focus first on user experience and then 
on monetization.
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• As users in developing economies increasingly come online, our revenues from international markets continue 
to increase, and may require continued investments. In addition, movements in foreign exchange rates affect 
sucîݔreveĉues۽

The shift to online, as well as the advent of the multi-device world, has brought opportunities outside of the U.S., including 
in emerging markets, such as India. We continue to invest heavily and develop localized versions of our products and 
advertising programs relevant to our users in these markets. This has led to a trend of increased revenues from emerging 
markets. We expect that our results will continue to be affected by our performance in these markets, particularly as 
low-cost mobile devices become more available. This trend could affect our revenues as developing markets initially 
monetize at a lower rate than more mature markets.

International revenues represent a significant portion of our revenues and are subject to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar. While we have a foreign exchange risk management program designed to reduce 
our exposure to these fluctuations, this program does not fully offset their effect on our revenues and earnings.

• The revenues that we derive beyond advertising are increasing and may adversely affect our margins.

Revenues from cloud, consumer subscriptions, platforms, and devices, which may have differing characteristics than our 
advertising revenues, have grown over time, and we expect this trend to continue as we focus on expanding our products 
and services. The margins on these revenues vary significantly and are generally lower than the margins on our advertising 
revenues. For example, sales of our devices adversely affect our consolidated margins due to pressures on pricing and 
higher cost of sales.

• As we continue to serve our users and expand our businesses, we will invest heavily in operating and capital 
expenditures.

We continue to make significant research and development investments in areas of strategic focus as we seek to develop 
new, innovative offerings, improve our existing offerings, and rapidly and responsibly deploy AI across our businesses. 
We also expect to increase, relative to 2024, our investment in our technical infrastructure, including servers, network 
equipment, and data centers, to support the growth of our business and our long-term initiatives, in particular in support 
of AI products and services. In addition, acquisitions and strategic investments remain important elements in our use of 
capital and contribute to the breadth and depth of our offerings, expand our expertise in engineering and other functional 
areas, and build strong partnerships around strategic initiatives.

• We continue to face an evolving regulatory environment, and we are subject to claims, lawsuits, investigations, and 
other forms of potential legal liability, which could affect our business practices and financial results.

Changes in social, political, economic, tax, and regulatory conditions or in laws and policies governing a wide range of 
topics and related legal matters, including investigations, lawsuits, and regulatory actions, have resulted in fines and 
caused us to change our business practices. As these global trends continue, our cost of doing business may increase, our 
products and services may become less useful, our ability to pursue certain business practices or offer certain products 
or services may be limited, and we may need to change our business models and operations to comply with evolving 
regulatory and legal matters. For additional information, see Part I, Item 1A Risk Factors and Legal Matters in Note 10 of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

• Our employees are critical to our success and we expect to continue investing in them.

Our employees are among our best assets and are critical for our continued success. We expect to continue hiring talented 
employees around the globe and to provide competitive compensation programs. For additional information, see Culture 
and Workforce in Part I, Item 1 Business of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Revenues and Monetization Metrics
We generate revenues by delivering relevant, cost-effective online advertising; cloud-based solutions that provide 
enterprise customers of all sizes with infrastructure, platform services, and applications; sales of other products and 
services, such as fees received for subscription-based products, apps and in-app purchases, and devices. For additional 
information on how we recognize revenue, see Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition to the long-term trends and their financial effect on our business discussed above, fluctuations in our revenues 
have been and may continue to be affected by a combination of factors, including:

• changes in foreign currency exchange rates;
• changes in pricing, such as those resulting from changes in fee structures, discounts, and customer incentives;
• general economic conditions and various external dynamics, including geopolitical events, regulations, and other 

measures and their effect on advertiser, consumer, and enterprise spending;
• new product, service, and market launches; and
• seasonality.

Additionally, fluctuations in our revenues generated from advertising (“Google advertising”), other sources (“Google 
subscriptions, platforms, and devices”), Google Cloud, and Other Bets have been, and may continue to be, affected by 
other factors unique to each set of revenues, as described below.

Google Services
Google Services revenues consist of Google advertising as well as Google subscriptions, platforms, and devices revenues.

Google Advertising
Google advertising revenues are comprised of the following:

• Google Search & other, which includes revenues generated on Google search properties (including revenues from traffic 
generated by search distribution partners who use Google.com as their default search in browsers, toolbars, etc.), and 
other Google owned and operated properties like Gmail, Google Maps, and Google Play;

• YouTube ads, which includes revenues generated on YouTube properties; and
• Google Network, which includes revenues generated on Google Network properties participating in AdMob, AdSense, 

and Google Ad Manager.
We use certain metrics to track how well traffic across various properties is monetized as it relates to our advertising 
revenues: paid clicks and cost-per-click pertain to traffic on Google Search & other properties, while impressions and 
cost-per-impression pertain to traffic on our Google Network properties.

Paid clicks represent engagement by users and include clicks on advertisements by end-users on Google search properties 
and other Google owned and operated properties including Gmail, Google Maps, and Google Play. Cost-per-click is 
defined as click-driven revenues divided by our total number of paid clicks and represents the average amount we charge 
advertisers for each engagement by users.

Impressions include impressions displayed to users on Google Network properties participating primarily in AdMob, 
AdSense, and Google Ad Manager. Cost-per-impression is defined as impression-based and click-based revenues divided 
by our total number of impressions, and represents the average amount we charge advertisers for each impression 
displayed to users.

As our business evolves, we periodically review, refine, and update our methodologies for monitoring, gathering, and 
counting the number of paid clicks and the number of impressions, and for identifying the revenues generated by the 
corresponding click and impression activity.
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Fluctuations in our advertising revenues, as well as the change in paid clicks and cost-per-click on Google Search & other 
properties and the change in impressions and cost-per-impression on Google Network properties and the correlation 
between these items have been, and may continue to be, affected by factors in addition to the general factors described 
above, such as:

• advertiser competition for keywords;
• changes in advertising quality, formats, delivery or policy;
• changes in device mix;
• seasonal fluctuations in internet usage, advertising expenditures, and underlying business trends, such as traditional 

retail seasonality; and
• traffic growth in emerging markets compared to more mature markets and across various verticals and channels.

Google subscriptions, platforms, and devices
Google subscriptions, platforms, and devices revenues are comprised of the following:

• consumer subscriptions, which primarily include revenues from YouTube services, such as YouTube TV, YouTube Music 
and Premium, and NFL Sunday Ticket, as well as Google One;

• platforms, which primarily include revenues from Google Play sales of apps and in-app purchases;
• devices, which primarily include sales of the Pixel family of devices; and
• other products and services.

Fluctuations in our Google subscriptions, platforms, and devices revenues have been, and may continue to be, affected by 
factors in addition to the general factors described above, such as changes in customer usage and demand, number of 
subscribers, and the timing of product launches.

Google Cloud
Google Cloud revenues are comprised of the following:

• Google Cloud Platform, which generates consumption-based fees and subscriptions for infrastructure, platform, and 
other services. These services provide access to solutions such as AI offerings including our AI infrastructure, Vertex AI 
platform, and Gemini for Google Cloud; cybersecurity; and data and analytics;

• Google Workspace, which includes subscriptions for cloud-based communication and collaboration tools for enterprises, 
such as Calendar, Gmail, Docs, Drive, and Meet, with integrated features like Gemini for Google Workspace; and

• other enterprise services.

Fluctuations in our Google Cloud revenues have been, and may continue to be, affected by factors in addition to the 
general factors described above, such as changes in customer usage and demand.

Other Bets
Revenues from Other Bets are generated primarily from the sale of healthcare-related services, and internet services.

Costs and Expenses
Our cost structure has two components: cost of revenues and operating expenses. Our operating expenses include costs 
related to R&D, sales and marketing, and general and administrative functions. Certain of our costs and expenses, including 
those associated with the operation of our technical infrastructure as well as components of our operating expenses, 
are generally less variable in nature and may not correlate to changes in revenue. Additionally, fluctuations in employee 
compensation expenses may not directly correlate with changes in headcount, due to factors such as annual stock-based 
compensation (SBC) awards that generally vest over four years.
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Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues is comprised of TAC and other costs of revenues.

• TAC includes:
• amounts paid to our distribution partners who make available our search access points and services. Our distribution 

partners include browser providers, mobile carriers, original equipment manufacturers, and software developers; and
• amounts paid to Google Network partners primarily for ads displayed on their properties.

• Other cost of revenues primarily includes:
• content acquisition costs, which are payments to content providers from whom we license video and other content 

for distribution, primarily related to YouTube (we pay fees to these content providers based on revenues generated, 
subscriber counts, or a flat fee);

• depreciation expense related to our technical infrastructure;
• employee compensation expenses related to our technical infrastructure and other operations such as content review 

and customer and product support;
• inventory and other costs related to the devices we sell; and
• other technical infrastructure operations costs, including network capacity, energy, and equipment costs.

TAC as a percentage of revenues generated from ads placed on Google Network properties are significantly higher than 
TAC as a percentage of revenues generated from ads placed on Google Search & other properties, because most of the 
advertiser revenues from ads served on Google Network properties are paid as TAC to our Google Network partners.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses are generally incurred during our normal course of business, which we categorize as either R&D, sales 
and marketing, or general and administrative.

The main components of our R&D expenses are:

• depreciation;
• employee compensation expenses for engineering and technical employees responsible for R&D related to our existing 

and new products and services; and
• third-party services fees primarily relating to consulting and outsourced services in support of our engineering and 

product development efforts.

The main components of our sales and marketing expenses are:

• employee compensation expenses for employees engaged in sales and marketing, sales support, and certain customer 
service functions; and

• spend relating to our advertising and promotional activities in support of our products and services.

The main components of our general and administrative expenses are:

• employee compensation expenses for employees in finance, human resources, information technology, legal, and other 
administrative support functions;

• expenses relating to legal and other matters, including certain fines and settlements; and
• third-party services fees, including audit, consulting, outside legal, and other outsourced administrative services.

Other Income (Expense), Net
OI&E, net primarily consists of interest income (expense), the effect of foreign currency exchange gains (losses), net 
gains (losses) and impairment on our marketable and non-marketable securities, performance fees, and income (loss) and 
impairment from our equity method investments.

For additional information, including how we account for our investments and factors that can drive fluctuations in the value 
of our investments, see Note 1 and Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 as well as 
Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Provision for Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes represents the estimated amount of federal, state, and foreign income taxes incurred in the U.S. 
and the many jurisdictions in which we operate. The provision includes the effect of reserve provisions and changes to 
reserves that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties.

For additional information, including a reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate to our effective tax rate, see Note 14 
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Executive Overview
The following table summarizes our consolidated financial results (in millions, except for per share information and 
percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024 $ Change % Change

�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑݘreveĉues ށ ݘڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ށ ݘۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ ށ ݘڼںھܜںڼݘ ޾ڼڹ

�î±ĉéeݘiĉݘcoĉsoăiÑ±teÑݘcoĉst±ĉtݘcurreĉcŕݘreveĉuesܢڹܡ ޾ڽڹ

�ostݘoèݘreveĉues ށ ݘںڻڻܜڻڻڹ ށ ݘھڸڻܜھڼڹ ށ ݘڼڿہܜںڹݘ ޾ڸڹ

^Ĩer±tiĉéݘexĨeĉses ށ ݘہھڿܜہۀ ށ ݘںںڻܜڹہ ށ ݘڻڽڽܜڹݘ ޾ں

^Ĩer±tiĉéݘiĉcoĈe ށ ݘڻہںܜڼۀ ށ ݘڸہڻܜںڹڹ ށ ݘڿہڸܜۀںݘ ޾ڻڻ

^Ĩer±tiĉéݘĈ±réiĉ ޾ڿں ޾ںڻ ޾ڽ

^tîerݘiĉcoĈeܡݘexĨeĉseݘܜܢĉet ށ ݘڼںڼܜڹ ށ ݘڽںڼܜڿ ށ ݘڹڸڸܜھݘ ޾ڹںڼ

XetݘiĉcoĈe ށ ݘڽہڿܜڻڿ ށ ݘۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ ށ ݘڻںڻܜھںݘ ޾ھڻ

"iăuteÑݘEw~ܢںܡ ށ ݘڸۀܛڽ ށ ݘڼڸܛۀ ށ ݘڼںܛںݘ ޾ہڻ

(1) See “Use of Non-GAAP Constant Currency Information” below for details relating to our use of constant currency information.
(2) For additional information on the calculation of diluted EPS, see Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in 

Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

• Revenues were $350.0 billion, an increase of 14% year over year, primarily driven by an increase in Google Services 
revenues of $32.4 billion, or 12%, and an increase in Google Cloud revenues of $10.1 billion, or 31%.

• Total constant currency revenues, which exclude the effect of hedging, increased 15% year over year.
• Cost of revenues was $146.3 billion, an increase of 10% year over year, primarily driven by increases in content 

acquisition costs, TAC, and depreciation expense.
• Operating expenses were $91.3 billion, an increase of 2% year over year, primarily driven by increases in depreciation 

expense, employee compensation expenses, and third-party services fees. These increases were partially offset by 
reductions in charges related to legal and other matters and charges related to our office space optimization efforts. 
The overall increase in employee compensation expenses was partially offset by a reduction in employee severance and 
related charges.

Other Information:
• Dividend payments to stockholders of Class A, Class B, and Class C shares, which were first paid in June 2024, were 

 For ۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔbillion for the year ended "ecember ٸ۽ٻݝ billion, resĨectively, totaling ٷ۽ٷݝ million, and ٽٵٹݝ ,billion ٹ۽ٷݝ
additional information, see Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

• Repurchases of Class A and Class C shares were $11.9 billion and $50.2 billion, respectively, totaling $62.0 billion for the 
year ended "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ For additional information, see Xote ٵٵ of the Xotes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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• Employee severance and related charges for the year ended December 31, 2024 were $1.0 billion, a decrease of 
$1.1 billion as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Office space charges, including accelerated rent 
and accelerated depreciation, for the year ended December 31, 2024 were $796 million, a decrease of $1.3 billion as 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. Substantially all of these charges were included in Alphabet-level 
activities.

• Operating cash flow was $125.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024.
• Capital expenditures, which primarily reflected investments in technical infrastructure, were $52.5 billion for the year 

ended December 31, 2024.
• As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had ٷٶٷ,ٷټٵ emĨloyees۽

Financial Results
Revenues
The following table presents revenues by type (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

9ooéăeݘ~e±rcîݘߞݘotîer ށ ڻڻڸܜڽڿڹ ށ ڼۀڸܜۀہڹ

£ou�uÊeݘ±Ñs ڸڹڽܜڹڻ ڿڼڹܜھڻ

9ooéăeݘXetŏorĀ ںڹڻܜڹڻ ہڽڻܜڸڻ

9ooéăeݘ±Ñvertisiĉé ڽڽۀܜڿڻں ڸہڽܜڼھں

9ooéăeݘsuÊscriĨtioĉsݘܜĨă±tèorĈsݘܜ±ĉÑݘÑevices ۀۀھܜڼڻ ڸڼڻܜڸڼ

9ooéăeݘ~ervicesݘtot±ă ڻڼڽܜںڿں ڸڻہܜڼڸڻ

9ooéăeݘ�ăouÑ ۀۀڸܜڻڻ ہںںܜڻڼ

^tîerݘ�ets ڿںڽܜڹ ۀڼھܜڹ

>eÑéiĉéݘé±iĉsܡݘăossesܢ ھڻں ڹڹں

�ot±ăݘreveĉues ށ ڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ށ ۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ

Google Services
Google advertising revenues

9ooéăe ~e±rcî ߞ otîer
Google Search & other revenues increased $23.1 billion from 2023 to 2024. The overall growth was driven by interrelated 
factors including increases in search queries resulting from growth in user adoption and usage on mobile devices; growth in 
advertiser spending; and improvements we have made in ad formats and delivery.

YouTube ads
YouTube ads revenues increased $4.6 billion from 2023 to 2024. The growth was driven by our brand advertising products 
followed by our direct response advertising products, both of which benefited from increased spending by our advertisers.

Google Network
Google Network revenues decreased $953 million from 2023 to 2024, primarily driven by a decrease in Google Ad Manager 
and AdMob revenues. Additionally, Google Network revenues were adversely affected by changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates.
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Monetization Metrics
The following table presents changes in monetization metrics for Google Search & other revenues (paid clicks and cost-per-click) 
and Google Network revenues (impressions and cost-per-impression), expressed as a percentage, from 2023 to 2024:

9ooéăeݘ~e±rcîݘߞݘotîer

w±iÑݘcăicĀsݘcî±ĉée ޾ڽ

�ostܭĨerܭcăicĀݘcî±ĉée ޾ڿ

9ooéăeݘXetŏorĀ

AĈĨressioĉsݘcî±ĉée ޾ܢڹڹܡ

�ostܭĨerܭiĈĨressioĉݘcî±ĉée ޾ڸڹ

Changes in paid clicks and impressions are driven by a number of interrelated factors, including changes in advertiser 
spending; ongoing product and policy changes; and, as it relates to paid clicks, fluctuations in search queries resulting from 
changes in user adoption and usage, primarily on mobile devices.

Changes in cost-per-click and cost-per-impression are driven by a number of interrelated factors including changes in 
device mix, geographic mix, advertiser spending, ongoing product and policy changes, product mix, property mix, and 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Google subscriptions, platforms, and devices
Google subscriptions, platforms, and devices revenues increased $5.7 billion from 2023 to 2024. The growth was primarily 
driven by an increase in subscription revenues, largely from growth in the number of paid subscribers for YouTube services 
followed by Google One.

Google Cloud
Google Cloud revenues increased $10.1 billion from 2023 to 2024 primarily driven by growth in Google Cloud Platform 
largely from infrastructure services.

zeveĉues Êŕ 9eoér±Ĩîŕ
The following table presents revenues by geography as a percentage of revenues, determined based on the addresses of 
our customers:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

�ĉiteÑݘ~t±tes ޾ڿڼ ޾ہڼ

EMEA ޾ڸڻ ޾ہں

APAC ޾ڿڹ ޾ھڹ

^tîerݘ�Ĉeric±s ޾ھ ޾ھ

>eÑéiĉéݘé±iĉsܡݘăossesܢ ޾ڸ ޾ڸ

For additional information, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.
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�se oè Xoĉ9ܭ��w �oĉst±ĉt �urreĉcŕ AĉèorĈ±tioĉ
International revenues, which represent a significant portion of our revenues, are generally transacted in multiple 
currencies andݔtherefore are affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates۽

The effect of currency exchange rates on our business is an important factor in understanding period-to-period 
comparisons. We use non-GAAP constant currency revenues (“constant currency revenues”) and non-GAAP percentage 
change in constant currency revenues (“percentage change in constant currency revenues”) for financial and operational 
decision-making and as a means to evaluate period-to-period comparisons. We believe the presentation of results on a 
constant currency basis in addition to U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) results helps improve the 
ability to understand our performance, because it excludes the effects of foreign currency volatility that are not indicative 
of our core operating results.

Constant currency information compares results between periods as if exchange rates had remained constant period 
over period. We define constant currency revenues as revenues excluding the effect of foreign currency exchange rate 
movements (“FX Effect”) as well as hedging activities, which are recognized at the consolidated level. We use constant 
currency revenues to determine the constant currency revenue percentage change on a year-on-year basis. Constant 
currency revenues are calculated by translating current period revenues using prior year comparable period exchange 
rates, as well as excluding any hedging effects realized in the current period.

Constant currency revenue percentage change is calculated by determining the change in current period revenues over 
prior year comparable period revenues where current period foreign currency revenues are translated using prior year 
comparable period exchange rates and hedging effects are excluded from revenues of both periods.

These results should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, results reported in accordance with GAAP. 
Resultsݔon a constant currency basis, as ŏe Ĩresent them, may not be comĨarable to similarly titled measures used by 
other companies and are not a measure of performance presented in accordance with GAAP.

The following table presents the foreign currency exchange effect on international revenues and total revenues (in millions, 
except percentages):

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Less FX 
Effect

Constant 
Currency 
Revenues

ޫ �î±ĉée èroĈ wrior werioÑ

Year Ended December 31,
As

Reported

Less
Hedging

Effect
Less FX 

Effect

Constant 
Currency 
Revenues2023 2024

�ĉiteÑݘ~t±tes ށ ھۀںܜھڼڹ ށ ڿڼڼܜڸڿڹ ށ ڸ ށ ڿڼڼܜڸڿڹ ޾ڿڹ ޾ڸ ޾ڿڹ

EMEA ۀڻڸܜڹہ ڿںڹܜںڸڹ ڹڼ ھۀڸܜںڸڹ ޾ںڹ ޾ڸ ޾ںڹ

APAC ڼڹڽܜڹڽ ڽڹۀܜھڽ (ہھڻܜڹܡ ڼۀڹܜۀڽ ޾ڸڹ ޾ܢڻܡ ޾ڻڹ

^tîerݘ�Ĉeric±s ڸںڻܜۀڹ ۀڹڼܜڸں (ۀڸھܜڹܡ ھںڸܜںں ޾ڹڹ ޾ܢہܡ ޾ڸں

zeveĉuesݘܜexcăuÑiĉéݘ
îeÑéiĉéݘeèèect

ۀڽڹܜڿڸڻ ڿڸۀܜہڼڻ (ھڻہܜںܡ ڻڼڿܜںڽڻ ޾ڼڹ ޾ܢڹܡ ޾ڽڹ

>eÑéiĉéݘé±iĉsܡݘăossesܢ ھڻں ڹڹں

�ot±ăݘreveĉuesܢڹܡ ށ ڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ށ ۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ ށ ڻڼڿܜںڽڻ ޾ڼڹ ޾ڸ ޾ܢڹܡ ޾ڽڹ

(1) Total constant currency revenues of $352.7 billion for 2024 increased $45.6 billion compared to $307.2 billion in revenues, excluding 
hedging effect, for 2023.

EMEA revenue growth was not materially affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, as the effect of the 
 dollar ŏeaĀening relative to the British Ĩound ۽S۽� dollar strengthening relative to the �urĀish lira ŏas offset by theݔ۽S۽�
andݔthe euro۽

APAC revenue growth was unfavorably affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, primarily due to the 
۽dollar strengthening relative to the MaĨanese yenݔ۽S۽�

Other Americas revenue growth was unfavorably affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, primarily due to 
the ۽�S۽ dollar strengthening relative to the Argentine Ĩeso and the Braŝilian real۽
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�osts ±ĉÑ ExĨeĉses
Cost of Revenues
The following table presents cost of revenues, including TAC (in millions, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

TAC ށ ھۀۀܜڸڽ ށ ڸڸہܜڼڽ

^tîerݘcostݘoèݘreveĉues ھڼڼܜںۀ ھڸڼܜڹہ

�ot±ăݘcostݘoèݘreveĉues ށ ںڻڻܜڻڻڹ ށ ھڸڻܜھڼڹ

�ot±ăݘcostݘoèݘreveĉuesݘ±sݘ±ݘĨerceĉt±éeݘoèݘreveĉues ޾ڻڼ ޾ںڼ

Cost of revenues increased $13.0 billion from 2023 to 2024 due to an increase in other cost of revenues and TAC of 
۽billion, resĨectively ٴ۽ٸݝ billion andݔٴ۽ٽݝ

The increase in TAC from 2023 to 2024 was largely due to an increase in TAC paid to distribution partners, primarily driven 
by growth in revenues subject to TAC. The TAC rate decreased from 21.4% to 20.7% from 2023 to 2024 primarily due to a 
revenue mix shift from Google Network properties to Google Search & other properties. The TAC rate on Google Search & 
other revenues increased from 2023 to 2024 primarily due to increases related to mobile searches, which carries higher 
TAC because more mobile searches are channeled through paid access points. The TAC rate on Google Network revenues 
was substantially consistent from 2023 to 2024.

The increase in other cost of revenues from 2023 to 2024 was primarily due to increases in content acquisition costs, 
largely for YouTube, depreciation expense, and other technical infrastructure operations costs.

zese±rcî ±ĉÑ "eveăoĨĈeĉt
The following table presents R&D expenses (in millions, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

zese±rcîݘ±ĉÑݘÑeveăoĨĈeĉtݘexĨeĉses ށ ڿںڼܜڽڼ ށ ھںڻܜہڼ

zese±rcîݘ±ĉÑݘÑeveăoĨĈeĉtݘexĨeĉsesݘ±sݘ±ݘĨerceĉt±éeݘoèݘreveĉues ޾ڽڹ ޾ڼڹ

Rߞ" exĨenses increased ٽ۽ٷݝ billion from ٷٶٴٶ to ٸٶٴٶ, Ĩrimarily driven by increases in emĨloyee comĨensationݔexĨenses 
of $1.5 billion, depreciation expense of $1.4 billion, and third-party services fees of $698 million, partially offset by 
a reduction in charges related to our office space optimization efforts of $640 million. The increase in employee 
comĨensation exĨenses ŏas Ĩrimarily driven by a ٷ۽ٵݝ billion increase in SBC exĨenses, ŏhich includes the reduction in 
valuationܭbased comĨensation liabilities related to certain Other Bets recogniŝed in the Ĩrior year comĨarable Ĩeriod, 
partially offset by a $537 million decrease in severance and related charges.

~±ăes ±ĉÑ W±rĀetiĉé
The following table presents sales and marketing expenses (in millions, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

~±ăesݘ±ĉÑݘĈ±rĀetiĉéݘexĨeĉses ށ ڿڹہܜڿں ށ ۀڸۀܜڿں

~±ăesݘ±ĉÑݘĈ±rĀetiĉéݘexĨeĉsesݘ±sݘ±ݘĨerceĉt±éeݘoèݘreveĉues ޾ہ ޾ۀ

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $109 million from 2023 to 2024, due to a combination of factors, none of which 
were individually significant.
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General and Administrative
The following table presents general and administrative expenses (in millions, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

9eĉer±ăݘ±ĉÑݘ±ÑĈiĉistr±tiveݘexĨeĉses ށ ڽںڼܜھڹ ށ ۀۀڹܜڼڹ

9eĉer±ăݘ±ĉÑݘ±ÑĈiĉistr±tiveݘexĨeĉsesݘ±sݘ±ݘĨerceĉt±éeݘoèݘreveĉues ޾ڽ ޾ڼ

General and administrative exĨenses decreased ݔٶ۽ٶݝbillion from ٷٶٴٶ to ٸٶٴٶ, Ĩrimarily driven by a reduction in charges 
related to legal and other matters of $1.3 billion and a decrease in employee compensation expenses of $285 million, primarily 
due to a decrease in average headcount, in addition to a combination of factors, none of ŏhich ŏere individuallyݔsignificant۽

~eéĈeĉt wroèit±Êiăitŕ
�e reĨort our segment results as Google Services, Google Cloud, and Other Bets۽ Additionally, certain costs are not 
allocated to our segments because they reĨresent AlĨhabetܭlevel activities۽ For further details on our segments, see PartݔI, 
Item ٵ Business and Xote ٹٵ of the Xotes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item ټ of this Annual ReĨort on 
Form 10-K.

The following table presents segment operating income (loss) (in millions).

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

^Ĩer±tiĉéݘiĉcoĈeܡݘăossܝܢ

9ooéăeݘ~ervices ށ ۀڽۀܜڽہ ށ ڻھںܜڹںڹ

9ooéăeݘ�ăouÑ ھڹڿܜڹ ںڹڹܜھ

^tîerݘ�ets (ڽہڸܜڼܡ (ڼڼڼܜڼܡ

�ăĨî±Êetܭăeveăݘ±ctivitiesܢڹܡ (ھۀڹܜہܡ (ڹڼڽܜڸڹܡ

�ot±ăݘiĉcoĈeݘèroĈݘoĨer±tioĉs ށ ڻہںܜڼۀ ށ ڸہڻܜںڹڹ

(1) In addition to the costs included in Alphabet-level activities, hedging gains (losses) related to revenue were $236 million and $211 million 
in 2023 and 2024, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, Alphabet-level activities included substantially all of 
the charges related to employee severance and our office space charges.

9ooéăe ~ervices
Google Services operating income increased $25.4 billion from 2023 to 2024. The increase in operating income was 
primarily driven by an increase in revenues, partially offset by increases in content acquisition costs and TAC. Additionally, 
aݔreduction in emĨloyee comĨensation exĨenses contributed to the increase in oĨerating income۽

Google Cloud
Google Cloud operating income increased $4.4 billion from 2023 to 2024. The increase in operating income was primarily 
driven by an increase in revenues, partially offset by increases in usage costs for technical infrastructure as well as 
employee compensation expenses, largely driven by headcount growth.

^tîer �ets
Other Bets oĨerating loss increased ٽٸٷݝ million from ٷٶٴٶ to ۽ٸٶٴٶ �he increase in oĨerating loss ŏas Ĩrimarily due 
to an increase in expenses, largely driven by employee compensation expenses in addition to a combination of factors, 
none of which were individually significant. The increase in employee compensation expenses was primarily as a result 
of the reduction in valuationܭbased comĨensation liabilities related to certain Other Bets recogniŝed in the Ĩrior year 
comparable period.
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^tîer AĉcoĈe ܡExĨeĉse۾ܢ Xet
The following table presents OI&E, (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

AĉterestݘiĉcoĈe ށ ڽھۀܜڻ ށ ںۀڼܜڼ

AĉterestݘexĨeĉse (ۀڸڻܡ (ۀھںܡ

8oreiéĉݘcurreĉcŕݘexcî±ĉéeݘé±iĉܡݘăossݘܜܢĉet (ۀڻںܜڹܡ (ہڸڼܡ

9±iĉܡݘăossݘܢoĉݘÑeÊtݘsecuritiesݘܜĉet (ڽڹںܜڹܡ (ڻڼڸܜڹܡ

9±iĉܡݘăossݘܢoĉݘeĪuitŕݘsecuritiesݘܜĉet ںہڻ ڼڹڿܜڻ

werèorĈ±ĉceݘèees ڿڽں ۀڹں

AĉcoĈeܡݘăossݘܢ±ĉÑݘiĈĨ±irĈeĉtݘèroĈݘeĪuitŕݘĈetîoÑݘiĉvestĈeĉtsݘܜĉet (ۀںھܡ (ۀۀڹܡ

^tîer ہہں ہڹہ

^tîerݘiĉcoĈeܡݘexĨeĉseݘܜܢĉet ށ ڼںڼܜڹ ށ ڽںڼܜڿ

OI&E, net increased $6.0 billion from 2023 to 2024 primarily due to an increase in net gains on equity securities and a 
decrease in net losses on foreign currency exchange. The net gains on equity securities were primarily due to net unrealized 
gains on non-marketable equity securities driven by fair value adjustments related to observable transactions, partially 
offset by a decrease in net unrealized gains on marketable equity securities due to market-driven changes. Foreign currency 
exchange net losses decreased compared to the prior year primarily due to prior year losses in unhedged currencies.

In Manuary ٹٶٴٶ, ŏe recogniŝed an ݔٴ۽ټݝbillion unrealiŝed gain on our nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities related to our 
investment in a private company. The unrealized gain reflects an increase in the fair value measurement of our investment 
folloŏing an observable transaction in Manuary ۽ٹٶٴٶ

For additional information, see Note 3 and Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

wrovisioĉ èor AĉcoĈe �±xes
The following table presents provision for income taxes (in millions, except effective tax rate):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

AĉcoĈeݘÊeèoreݘĨrovisioĉݘèorݘiĉcoĈeݘt±xes ށ ڿڹڿܜڽۀ ށ ڽڹۀܜہڹڹ

wrovisioĉݘèorݘiĉcoĈeݘt±xes ށ ںںہܜڹڹ ށ ڿہھܜہڹ

Eèèectiveݘt±xݘr±te ޾ہܛڻڹ ޾ڼܛھڹ

The effective tax rate increased from 2023 to 2024. This increase was primarily due to a one-time adjustment for tax rule 
changes issued by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that affected the 2023 rate related to U.S. federal foreign tax credits, 
as well as a separate rule change with guidance on the capitalization and amortization of R&D expenses. Additionally, 
a decrease in the 2024 U.S. federal Foreign Derived Intangible Income tax deduction contributed to an increase in the 
effective tax rate. These factors were partially offset by an increase in stock-based compensation-related tax benefits 
in۽ٸٶٴٶݔ

The OECD is coordinating negotiations among more than 140 countries with the goal of achieving consensus around 
substantial changes to international tax policies, including the implementation of a minimum global effective tax rate of 
 ,and ŏe exĨect others to folloŏ ,ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵ Some countries have already imĨlemented the legislation effective Manuary ۽ޫٹٵ
however this did not have a material effect on our income tax provision for the 2024 fiscal year.
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Financial Condition
�±sî۾ �±sî EĪuiv±ăeĉts۾ ±ĉÑ W±rĀet±Êăe ~ecurities
As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had ٻ۽ٹٽݝ billion in cash, cash eĪuivalents, and shortܭterm marĀetable securities۽ Cash 
equivalents and marketable securities are comprised of time deposits, money market funds, highly liquid government 
bonds, corporate debt securities, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, and marketable equity securities.

~ources۾ �ses oè �±sî ±ĉÑ zeă±teÑ �reĉÑs
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, as well as the cash flow that we 
generate from operations. The primary use of capital continues to be to invest for the long-term growth of the business. We 
regularly evaluate our cash and capital structure, including the size, pace, and form of capital return to stockholders.

The following table presents our cash flows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2024

Xetݘc±sîݘĨroviÑeÑݘÊŕݘoĨer±tiĉéݘ±ctivities ށ ھڼڿܜڹڸڹ ށ ہہںܜڽںڹ

Xetݘc±sîݘuseÑݘiĉݘiĉvestiĉéݘ±ctivities ށ (ڻھڸܜڿںܡ ށ (ھڻڽܜڽڼܡ

Xetݘc±sîݘuseÑݘiĉݘèiĉ±ĉciĉéݘ±ctivities ށ (ڻہڸܜںڿܡ ށ (ڻڻڿܜہڿܡ

�±sî wroviÑeÑ Êŕ ^Ĩer±tiĉé �ctivities
Our largest source of cash provided by operations are advertising revenues generated by Google Search & other 
properties, Google Network properties, and YouTube properties. In Google Services, we also generate cash through 
consumer subscriptions, the sale of apps and in-app purchases, and devices. In Google Cloud, we generate cash through 
consumption-based fees and subscriptions for infrastructure, platform, applications, and other cloud services.

Our primary uses of cash from operating activities include payments to distribution and Google Network partners, to 
employees for compensation, and to content providers. Other uses of cash from operating activities include payments to 
suppliers for devices, to tax authorities for income taxes, and other general corporate expenditures.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased from 2023 to 2024 due to an increase in cash received from customers, 
partially offset by an increase in cash payments for cost of revenues and operating expenses.

�±sî �seÑ iĉ Aĉvestiĉé �ctivities
Cash provided by investing activities consists primarily of maturities and sales of investments in marketable and non-
marketable securities. Cash used in investing activities consists primarily of purchases of marketable and non-marketable 
securities, purchases of property and equipment, and payments for acquisitions.

Net cash used in investing activities increased from 2023 to 2024 primarily due to an increase in purchases of property 
and equipment and purchases of marketable securities, partially offset by increases in maturities and sales of marketable 
securities. The increase in purchases of property and equipment is primarily driven by investments in technical infrastructure.

�±sî �seÑ iĉ 8iĉ±ĉciĉé �ctivities
Cash provided by financing activities consists primarily of proceeds from issuance of debt and proceeds from the sale of 
interests in consolidated entities. Cash used in financing activities consists primarily of repurchases of stock, net payments 
related to stock-based award activities, payment of dividends, and repayments of debt.

Net cash used in financing activities increased from 2023 to 2024 due to dividend payments and net payments related to 
stock-based award activities, partially offset by an increase in proceeds from issuance of debt, net of repayments.
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QiĪuiÑitŕ ±ĉÑ W±teri±ă �±sî zeĪuireĈeĉts
We expect existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term marketable securities, and cash flows from operations and financing 
activities to continue to be sufficient to fund our operating activities and cash commitments for investing and financing 
activities for at least the next 12 months, and thereafter for the foreseeable future.

�±Ĩit±ă ExĨeĉÑitures ±ĉÑ Qe±ses
We make investments in land, buildings, and servers and network equipment through purchases of property and equipment 
and lease arrangements to provide capacity for the growth of our services and products.

�±Ĩit±ă ExĨeĉÑitures
Our capital investments in property and equipment consist primarily of the following major categories:

• technical infrastructure, which consists of our investments in servers and network equipment for computing, 
storage, and networking requirements for ongoing business activities, including AI, and data center land and building 
construction; and

• office facilities, ground-up development projects, and building improvements (also referred to as “fit-outs”).

Assets not yet in service are those that are not ready for our intended use, including assets in the process of construction 
or assembly, and consists primarily of technical infrastructure. The time frame from date of purchase to placement in 
service of these assets may extend from months to years. For example, our data center construction projects are generally 
multi-year projects with multiple phases, where we acquire land and buildings, construct buildings, and secure and install 
servers and network equipment.

"uring the years ended "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe sĨent ٷ۽ٶٷݝ billion and ٹ۽ٶٹݝ billion on caĨital exĨenditures, 
respectively. We expect to increase, relative to 2024, our investment in our technical infrastructure, including servers, 
network equipment, and data centers, to support the growth of our business and our long-term initiatives, in particular 
in support of AI products and services. Depreciation of our property and equipment commences when the deployment 
of such assets are comĨleted and are ready for our intended use۽ For the years ended "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, our 
depreciation on property and equipment was $11.9 billion and $15.3 billion, respectively.

Leases
For the years ended "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe recogniŝed additional oĨerating lease assets of ٽ۽ٶݝ billion and 
 ,ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔAs of "ecember ۽million, resĨectively ٷٵٷݝ million and ٸٺٹݝ billion, and additional finance lease assets of ٹ۽ٶݝ
the amount of total future lease payments under operating leases, which had a weighted average remaining lease term 
of 7.8 years, was $17.0 billion, of which $3.2 billion is short-term, and total future lease payments under finance leases, 
which had a weighted average remaining lease term of 10.4 years, was $1.9 billion, of which $257 million is short-term. As 
of December 31, 2024, we have entered into leases that have not yet commenced with future short-term and long-term 
lease Ĩayments of ٷٻٻݝ million and ٹ۽ٺݝ billion, resĨectively, that are not yet recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets۽ 
These leases will commence between 2025 and 2028 with non-cancelable lease terms of one to 25 years.

For the years ended "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, our oĨerating lease exĨenses ܡincluding variable lease costsܢ ŏere 
$4.5 billion and $4.7 billion, respectively. Finance lease costs were $504 million and $444 million for the years ended 
"ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively۽ For additional information, see Xote ٸ of the Xotes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Financing
We have a short-term debt financing program of up to $10.0 billion through the issuance of commercial paper. Net 
Ĩroceeds from this Ĩrogram are used for general corĨorate ĨurĨoses۽ As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had ٷ۽ٶݝ billion of 
short-term commercial paper outstanding.

As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had senior unsecured notes outstanding ŏith a total carrying value of ٽ۽ٵٵݝ billion ŏith 
shortܭterm and longܭterm future interest Ĩayments of ݔٻٽٵݝmillion and ݔٸ۽ٷݝbillion, resĨectively۽
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As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had ٴ۽ٴٵݝ billion of revolving credit facilities, ٴ۽ٸݝ billion exĨiring in AĨril ٹٶٴٶ and ٴ۽ٺݝ billion 
expiring in April 2028. The interest rates for all credit facilities are determined based on a formula using certain market 
rates, as well as our progress toward the achievement of certain sustainability goals. No amounts have been borrowed 
under the credit facilities. For additional information, see Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We primarily utilize contract manufacturers for the assembly of our servers used in our technical infrastructure and 
devices we sell. We have agreements where we may purchase components directly from suppliers and then supply these 
components to contract manufacturers for use in the assembly of the servers and devices. Certain of these arrangements 
result in a portion of the cash received from and paid to the contract manufacturers to be presented as financing activities 
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

~î±re zeĨurcî±se wroér±Ĉ
During 2024, we repurchased and subsequently retired 379 million shares for $62.0 billion.

In AĨril ٸٶٴٶ, the Board of "irectors of AlĨhabet authoriŝed the comĨany to reĨurchase uĨ to an additional ٴ۽ٴٻݝ billion 
of its Class A and Class C shares۽ As of "ecemberٻ۽ٸٸݝ ,ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ billion remained available for Class A and Class C share 
repurchases.

The following table presents Class A and Class C shares repurchased and subsequently retired (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2024

~î±res Amount ~î±res Amount

�ă±ssݘ�ݘsî±reݘreĨurcî±ses ۀڿ ށ ھڹڻܜہ ڻڿ ށ ڽڽۀܜڹڹ

�ă±ssݘ�reĨurcî±sesݘsî±reݘ ڸڽڼ ۀھۀܜںڽ ھڸڻ ںہڹܜڸڽ

�ot±ăݘsî±reݘreĨurcî±sesܢڹܡ ۀںڽ ށ ڼۀڹܜںھ ہڿڻ ށ ڿڼڸܜںھ

(1) Shares repurchased include unsettled repurchases.

For additional information, see Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

Dividend Program
"uring the year ended "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ total cash dividends, ŏhich ŏere first Ĩaid in Mune ٸٶٴٶ, ŏere ٹ۽ٷݝ billion, ٽٵٹݝ 
million, and ٷ۽ٷݝ billion for Class A, Class B, and Class C shares, resĨectively۽

�he comĨany intends to Ĩay Īuarterly cash dividends in the future, subýect to revieŏ and aĨĨroval by the comĨanyܻs Board 
of Directors in its sole discretion.

European Commission Fines
In 2017, 2018, and 2019, the European Commission (EC) announced decisions that certain actions taken by Google infringed 
EuroĨean comĨetition laŏ and imĨosed fines of ٸ۽ٶݟ billion ٻ۽ٶݝܡ billion as of Muneٷ۽ٸݟ ,ܢٻٵٴٶ ,ٻٶݔ billion ٵ۽ٹݝܡ billion as of 
Muneܢټٵٴٶ ,ٴٷݔ, and ٹ۽ٵݟ billion ٻ۽ٵݝܡ billion as of Marchܢٽٵٴٶ ,ٴٶݔ, resĨectively۽

In SeĨtember ٶٶٴٶ, the General Court affirmed the EC decision but reduced the ټٵٴٶ fine from ٷ۽ٸݟ billion to ݔٵ۽ٸݟbillion۽ 
�e subseĪuently aĨĨealed the General Courtܻs affirmation of the EC decision ŏith the EuroĨean Court of Mustice, ŏhich 
remains pending.

In SeĨtember ٸٶٴٶ, the EuroĨean Court of Mustice reýected our aĨĨeal of the ٻٵٴٶ decision and uĨheld the ٸ۽ٶݟ billion fine۽ 
In the third Īuarter of ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe made a cash Ĩayment of ݔٴ۽ٷݝbillion for the ٻٵٴٶ shoĨĨing fine۽

In September 2024, the EU’s General Court overturned the 2019 decision and annulled the €1.5 billion fine. The EC has 
aĨĨealed the General Courtܻs decision to the EuroĨean Court of Mustice۽

We included the outstanding EC fines, including any under appeal, in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets۽ For additional information, see Xote ٴٵ of the Xotes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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�±xes
As ofݔ"ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had income taxes Ĩayable of ٻ۽ٶݝ billion related to a oneܭtime transition tax Ĩayable incurred 
as a result of the ۽�S۽ �ax Cuts and Mobs Act, ŏhich is due in ۽ٹٶٴٶ �e also had longܭterm taxes Ĩayable of ټ۽ټݝ billion 
Ĩrimarily related to uncertain tax Ĩositions as of "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ

wurcî±se �oĈĈitĈeĉts ±ĉÑ ^tîer �oĉtr±ctu±ă ^Êăié±tioĉs
As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had material Ĩurchase commitments and other contractual obligations of ٸ۽ٹٹݝ billion, of ŏhich 
$32.5 billion was short-term. These amounts primarily consist of purchase orders for certain technical infrastructure as well 
as the non-cancelable portion or the minimum cancellation fee in certain agreements related to commitments to purchase 
licenses, including content licenses, inventory, and network capacity. For those agreements with variable terms, we do not 
estimate the nonܭcancelable obligation beyond any minimum Īuantities and/or Ĩricing as of "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶݔ,ٵٷݔ In certain 
instances, the amount of our contractual obligations may change based on the expected timing of order fulfillment from our 
suppliers. For more information related to our content licenses, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, we regularly enter into multi-year, non-cancellable agreements to purchase renewable energy and energy 
attributes, such as renewable energy certificates. These agreements do not include a minimum dollar commitment. 
The amounts to be paid under these agreements are based on the actual volumes to be generated and are not 
readilyݔdeterminable۽

Critical Accounting Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. In doing so, we have to make estimates 
and assumptions. Our critical accounting estimates are those estimates that involve a significant level of uncertainty at 
the time the estimate was made, and changes in them have had or are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our 
financial condition or results of operations. Accordingly, actual results could differ materially from our estimates. We base 
our estimates on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and 
we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. We have reviewed our critical accounting estimates with the Audit and 
ComĨliance Committee of our Board of "irectors۽

For a summary of significant accounting policies and the effect on our financial statements, see Note 1 of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

8±ir �±ăue We±sureĈeĉts oè XoĉܭW±rĀet±Êăe EĪuitŕ ~ecurities
We measure certain financial instruments at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, consisting primarily of our non-marketable 
equity securities. These investments are accounted for under the measurement alternative method (“the measurement 
alternative”) and are measured at cost, less impairment, subject to upward and downward adjustments resulting from 
observable price changes for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. These adjustments require quantitative 
assessments of the fair value of our securities, which may require the use of unobservable inputs. Adjustments are 
determined primarily based on a market approach as of the transaction date and involve the use of estimates using the 
best information available, which may include cash flow projections or other available market data.

Non-marketable equity securities are also evaluated for impairment, based on qualitative factors including the companies’ 
financial and liquidity position and access to capital resources, among others. When indicators of impairment exist, we 
prepare quantitative measurements of the fair value of our equity investments using a market approach or an income 
approach, which requires judgment and the use of unobservable inputs, including discount rates, investee revenues and 
costs, and comparable market data of private and public companies, among others. When the quantitative remeasurements 
of fair value indicate an impairment exists, we write down the investment to its current fair value.

We also have compensation arrangements with payouts based on realized returns from certain investments, i.e. 
performance fees. We record compensation expense based on the estimated payouts on an ongoing basis, which may 
result in expense recognized before investment returns are realized and compensation is paid and may require the use of 
unobservable inputs.
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wroĨertŕ ±ĉÑ EĪuiĨĈeĉt
We assess the reasonableness of the useful lives of our property and equipment periodically as well as when other 
changes occur, such as when there are changes to ongoing business operations, changes in the planned use and utilization 
of assets, or technological advancements, that could indicate a change in the period over which we expect to benefit from 
the asset.

AĉcoĈe �±xes
We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our 
uncertain tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes.

Recording an uncertain tax position involves various qualitative considerations, including evaluation of comparable 
and resolved tax exposures, applicability of tax laws, and likelihood of settlement. We evaluate uncertain tax positions 
periodically, considering changes in facts and circumstances, such as new regulations or recent judicial opinions, as well 
as the status of audit activities by taxing authorities. Although we believe we have adequately reserved for our uncertain 
tax positions, no assurance can be given that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be different. To the extent that 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such differences will affect the provision for 
income taxes and the effective tax rate in the period in which such determination is made.

The provision for income taxes includes the effect of reserve provisions and changes to reserves as well as the related net 
interest and penalties. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns by the IRS and 
other tax authorities which may assert assessments against us. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes 
resulting from these examinations and assessments to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes.

Loss Contingencies
We are subject to claims, lawsuits, regulatory and government inquiries and investigations, other proceedings, and 
consent orders involving competition, intellectual property, data privacy and security, tax and related compliance, labor 
and employment, commercial disputes, content generated by our users, goods and services offered by advertisers or 
publishers using our platforms, personal injury, consumer protection, and other matters. Certain of these matters include 
speculative claims for substantial or indeterminate amounts of damages. We record a liability when we believe that it 
is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that a loss is 
reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be estimated, we disclose the possible loss in Note 10 of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We evaluate, on a regular basis, developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that has been 
previously accrued, and the matters and related reasonably possible losses disclosed, and make adjustments and changes 
to our disclosures. Significant judgment is required to determine both the likelihood and the estimated amount of a loss 
related to such matters. Until the final resolution of such matters, there may be an exposure to loss in excess of the amount 
recorded, and such amounts could be material.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About 
W±rĀet zisĀ

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, and equity 
investment risks.

8oreiéĉ �urreĉcŕ Excî±ĉée zisĀ
We transact business globally in multiple currencies. International revenues, as well as costs and expenses denominated 
in foreign currencies, expose us to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar. 
As discussed below, we enter into derivative instruments to hedge foreign currency risk. Principal currencies hedged 
included the Australian dollar,ݔBritish Ĩound, Canadian dollar,ݔEuro, and MaĨanese yen۽ For the ĨurĨose of analyŝing foreign 
currency exchange risk, we considered the historical trends in foreign currency exchange rates and determined that it was 
reasonably possible that adverse changes in exchange rates of 10% could be experienced.
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We use foreign currency forward and option contracts to offset the foreign exchange risk on monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the subsidiary. These forward and option contracts 
reduce, but do not entirely eliminate, the effect of foreign currency exchange rate movements on our assets and liabilities. 
The foreign currency gains and losses on these assets and liabilities are recorded in OI&E, which are offset by the gains 
and losses on the forward and option contracts.

If an adverse 10% foreign currency exchange rate change was applied to net monetary assets, liabilities, and commitments 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies at the balance sheet date, it would have resulted in an 
adverse effect on income before income taxes of aĨĨroximately ٷٴٹݝ million and ٹٷٵݝ million as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ 
and 2024, respectively, after consideration of the effect of foreign exchange contracts in place for the years ended 
"ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ۽ٸٶٴٶ

We use foreign currency forward and option contracts, including collars (an option strategy comprised of a combination 
of purchased and written options) to protect forecasted U.S. dollar-equivalent earnings from changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. When the U.S. dollar strengthens, gains from foreign currency forward and option contacts reduce the 
foreign currency losses related to our earningsݔ۽�hen the ۽�S۽ dollar ŏeaĀens, losses from foreign currency forŏard and 
option contracts offset the foreign currency gains related to our earnings. These hedging contracts reduce, but do not 
entirely eliminate, the effect of foreign currency exchange rate movements. We designate these contracts as cash flow 
hedges for accounting purposes. We reflect the gains and losses of foreign currency spot rate changes as a component 
of accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) and subsequently reclassify them into revenues to offset the hedged 
exposures as they occur.

If the ۽�S۽ dollar ŏeaĀened by ޫٴٵ as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, the amount recorded in AOCI related to our cash 
floŏ hedges before tax effect ŏould have been aĨĨroximately ٹ۽ٵݝ billion and ٺ۽ٵݝ billion loŏer as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and 
2024, respectively. The change in the value recorded in AOCI would be expected to offset a corresponding foreign currency 
change in forecasted hedged revenues when recognized.

We use foreign exchange forward contracts designated as net investment hedges to hedge the foreign currency risks 
related to investment in foreign subsidiaries. These forward contracts serve to offset the foreign currency translation risk 
from our foreign operations.

If the U.S. dollar weakened by 10%, the amount recorded in cumulative translation adjustment (CTA) within AOCI related 
to our net investment hedges before tax effect would have been approximately $946 million and $660 million lower 
as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively۽ �he change in value recorded in C�A ŏould be exĨected to offset a 
corresponding foreign currency translation gain or loss from our investment in foreign subsidiaries.

Aĉterest z±te zisĀ
Our Corporate Treasury investment strategy is to achieve a return that will allow us to preserve capital and maintain 
liquidity. We invest primarily in debt securities, including government bonds, corporate debt securities, mortgage-backed 
and assetܭbacĀed securities, money marĀet and other funds, time deĨosits, and interest rate derivatives۽ By Ĩolicy, ŏe 
limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. Our investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning 
securities carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value adversely affected 
due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than predicted if interest rates fall. 
Unrealized gains and losses on our marketable debt securities are primarily due to interest rate fluctuations as compared 
to interest rates at the time of purchase. For certain fixed and variable rate debt securities, we have elected the fair 
value option for which changes in fair value are recorded in OI&E. We measure securities for which we have not elected 
the fair value option at fair value with gains and losses recorded in AOCI until the securities are sold, less any expected 
creditݔlosses۽
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We use value-at-risk (VaR) analysis to determine the potential effect of fluctuations in interest rates on the value of our 
investment portfolio. The VaR is the expected loss in fair value, for a given confidence interval, for our investment portfolio 
due to adverse movements in interest rates. We use a variance/covariance VaR model with 95% confidence interval. The 
estimated oneܭday loss in fair value of our investment Ĩortfolio as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ are shoŏn beloŏ 
:ܢmillionsݔinܡ

As of December 31,
 Woĉtî �ver±éeܭٶٵ
As of December 31,

2023 2024 2023 2024

zisĀݘc±teéorŕݘܭݘiĉterestݘr±te ށ ھہں ށ ۀڸں ށ ڹڿں ށ ڸڻں

Actual future gains and losses associated with our investment portfolio may differ materially from the sensitivity analyses 
Ĩerformed as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ due to the inherent limitations associated ŏith Ĩredicting the timing and 
amount of changes in interest rates and our actual exposures and positions. VaR analysis is not intended to represent 
actual losses but is used as a risk estimation.

EĪuitŕ AĉvestĈeĉt zisĀ
Our marketable and non-marketable equity securities are subject to a wide variety of market-related risks that could 
substantially reduce or increase the fair value of our holdings.

Our marketable equity securities are publicly traded stocks or funds and our non-marketable equity securities are 
investments in privately held companies, some of which are in the startup or development stages.

We record marketable equity securities not accounted for under the equity method at fair value based on readily 
determinable market values, of which publicly traded stocks and mutual funds are subject to market price volatility, and 
reĨresent ٴ۽ٺݝ billion and ٵ۽ٹݝ billion of our investments as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively۽ A hyĨothetical 
adverse Ĩrice change of ޫٴٵ on our "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ balance ŏould decrease the fair value of marĀetable eĪuity 
securities by $508 million. From time to time, we may enter into derivatives to hedge the market price risk on certain of our 
marketable equity securities.

Our non-marketable equity securities not accounted for under the equity method are primarily adjusted to fair value 
for observable transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer or impairment (referred to as the 
measurement alternative). The fair value measured at the time of the observable transaction is not necessarily an indication 
of the current fair value as of the balance sheet date. These investments, especially those that are in the early stages, are 
inherently risky because the technologies or products these companies have under development are typically in the early 
phases and may never materialize, and they may experience a decline in financial condition, which could result in a loss 
of a substantial part of our investment in these companies. Valuations of our equity investments in private companies are 
inherently more complex due to the lack of readily available market data and observable transactions at lower valuations 
could result in significant losses. In addition, global economic conditions could result in additional volatility. The success 
of our investment in any private company is also typically dependent on the likelihood of our ability to realize appreciation 
in the value of investments through liquidity events such as public offerings, acquisitions, private sales or other market 
events. Changes in the valuation of non-marketable equity securities may not directly correlate with changes in valuation 
of marĀetable eĪuity securities۽ As of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, the carrying value of our nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity 
securities, which were accounted for under the measurement alternative, was $28.8 billion and $35.5 billion, respectively.

The carrying values of our equity method investments, which totaled approximately $1.7 billion and $2.0 billion as of 
"ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively, generally do not fluctuate based on marĀet Ĩrice changes۽ >oŏever, these 
investments could be impaired if the carrying value exceeds the fair value and is not expected to recover.

For additional information about our equity investments, see Note 1 and Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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AteĈݍݍ۽ټݔFinancial Statements and Supplementary Data

�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

zeĨortݘoèݘAĉÑeĨeĉÑeĉtݘzeéistereÑݘwuÊăicݘ�ccouĉtiĉé8ݘirĈܡݘw�ܢںڼݘܝ"Aݘ�^� ھڼ

8iĉ±ĉci±ăݘ~t±teĈeĉtsܝ

�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ �±ă±ĉce ~îeets ہڼ

�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè AĉcoĈe ڸڽ

�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè �oĈĨreîeĉsive AĉcoĈe ڹڽ

�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè ~tocĀîoăÑersܻ EĪuitŕ ںڽ

�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè �±sî 8ăoŏs ڻڽ

Xotesݘtoݘ�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ8ݘiĉ±ĉci±ăݘ~t±teĈeĉts ڼڽ
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zeĨort oè AĉÑeĨeĉÑeĉt zeéistereÑ wuÊăic �ccouĉtiĉé 8irĈ
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Alphabet Inc.

^Ĩiĉioĉ oĉ tîe 8iĉ±ĉci±ă ~t±teĈeĉts
�e have audited the accomĨanying consolidated balance sheets of AlĨhabet Incܡ ۽the ComĨanyܢ as of "ecemberٵٷݔ, 
 the related consolidated statements of income, comĨrehensive income, stocĀholdersܻ eĪuity and cash ,ٸٶٴٶ and ٷٶٴٶ
floŏs for each of the three years in the Ĩeriod ended "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, and the related notes and financial statement 
schedule listed in the Index at Item ܡ ٹٵcollectively referred to as the ܸconsolidated financial statementsܹ۽ܢ In our oĨinion, 
the consolidated financial statements Ĩresent fairly, in all material resĨects, the financial Ĩosition of the ComĨany at 
"ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, and the results of its oĨerations and its cash floŏs for each of the three years in the Ĩeriod 
ended "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, in conformity ŏith ۽�S۽ generally acceĨted accounting ĨrinciĨles۽

�e also have audited, in accordance ŏith the standards of the Public ComĨany Accounting Oversight Board ܡ�nited Statesܢ 
 based on criteria established in ,ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔthe ComĨanyܻs internal control over financial reĨorting as of "ecember ,ܢPCAOBܡ
Internal ControlܰIntegrated FrameŏorĀ issued by the Committee of SĨonsoring Organiŝations of the �readŏay Commission 
۽exĨressed an unĪualified oĨinion thereon ٹٶٴٶ ,ٸݔand our reĨort dated February ,ܢframeŏorĀ ٷٵٴٶܡ

�±sis èor ^Ĩiĉioĉ
�hese financial statements are the resĨonsibility of the ComĨanyܻs management۽ Our resĨonsibility is to exĨress an oĨinion 
on the ComĨanyܻs financial statements based on our audits۽ �e are a Ĩublic accounting firm registered ŏith the PCAOB 
and are reĪuired to be indeĨendent ŏith resĨect to the ComĨany in accordance ŏith the ۽�S۽ federal securities laŏs and 
the aĨĨlicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB۽

�e conducted our audits in accordance ŏith the standards of the PCAOB۽ �hose standards reĪuire that ŏe Ĩlan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, ŏhether due to error or fraud۽ Our audits included Ĩerforming Ĩrocedures to assess the risĀs of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, ŏhether due to error or fraud, and Ĩerforming Ĩrocedures that resĨond to 
those risĀs۽ Such Ĩrocedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements۽ Our audits also included evaluating the accounting ĨrinciĨles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as ŏell as evaluating the overall Ĩresentation of the financial statements۽ �e believe that our audits Ĩrovide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements 
that ŏas communicated or reĪuired to be communicated to the audit committee and that: ܢٵܡ relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and ܢٶܡ involved our esĨecially challenging, subýective or comĨlex 
ýudgments۽ �he communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any ŏay our oĨinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taĀen as a ŏhole, and ŏe are not, by communicating the critical audit matter beloŏ, Ĩroviding a 
separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.
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Qoss �oĉtiĉéeĉcies

Description 
of the Matter

�he ComĨany is subýect to claims, laŏsuits, regulatory and government inĪuiries and investigations, 
other Ĩroceedings, and orders involving comĨetition, intellectual ĨroĨerty, data Ĩrivacy and security, 
tax and related comĨliance, labor and emĨloyment, commercial disĨutes, content generated by its 
users, goods and services offered by advertisers or Ĩublishers using their Ĩlatforms, Ĩersonal inýury, 
and other matters۽ As described in Xote ٴٵ to the consolidated financial statements ܸCommitments and 
Contingenciesܹ such claims, laŏsuits, regulatory and government inĪuiries and investigations, other 
Ĩroceedings, and orders could result in adverse conseĪuences۽

Significant ýudgment is reĪuired to determine both the liĀelihood and the estimated amount of a loss 
related to such matters۽ Auditing managementܻs accounting for and disclosure of loss contingencies 
from these matters involved challenging and subýective auditor ýudgment in assessing the ComĨanyܻs 
evaluation of the Ĩrobability of a loss, and the estimated amount or range of loss۽

How We 
Addressed 
the Matter in 
Our Audit

�e tested relevant controls over the identified risĀs associated ŏith managementܻs accounting for and 
disclosure of these matters۽ �his included controls over managementܻs assessment of the Ĩrobability 
of incurrence of a loss and whether the loss or range of loss was reasonably estimable and the 
development of related disclosures.

Our audit Ĩrocedures included gaining an understanding of Ĩrevious rulings and the status of ongoing 
laŏsuits, revieŏing letters from internal and external legal counsel addressing the matters, meeting ŏith 
internal legal counsel to discuss the allegations, and obtaining a reĨresentation letter from management 
on these matters۽ �e also evaluated the ComĨanyܻs disclosures in relation to these matters۽

/s/ Ernst ߞ £oung LLP

�e have served as the ComĨanyܻs auditor since ۽ٽٽٽٵ

San Mose, California
February ٹٶٴٶ ,ٸ
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zeĨort oè AĉÑeĨeĉÑeĉt zeéistereÑ wuÊăic �ccouĉtiĉé 8irĈ
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Alphabet Inc.

^Ĩiĉioĉ oĉ Aĉterĉ±ă �oĉtroă ^ver 8iĉ±ĉci±ă zeĨortiĉé
�e have audited AlĨhabet Incܻ۽ s internal control over financial reĨorting as of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, based on criteria 
established in Internal ControlܰIntegrated FrameŏorĀ issued by the Committee of SĨonsoring Organiŝations of the 
�readŏay Commission ٷٵٴٶܡ frameŏorĀܡ ܢthe COSO criteria۽ܢ In our oĨinion, AlĨhabet Incܡ ۽the ComĨanyܢ maintained, in all 
material resĨects, effective internal control over financial reĨorting as of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, based on the COSO criteria۽

�e also have audited, in accordance ŏith the standards of the Public ComĨany Accounting Oversight Board ܡ�nited Statesܢ 
 exĨressed an ٹٶٴٶ ,ٸ consolidated financial statements of the ComĨany and our reĨort dated February ٸٶٴٶ the ,ܢPCAOBܡ
unĪualified oĨinion thereon۽

�±sis èor ^Ĩiĉioĉ
�he ComĨanyܻs management is resĨonsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reĨorting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reĨorting included in the accomĨanying Managementܻs 
ReĨort on Internal Control over Financial ReĨorting۽ Our resĨonsibility is to exĨress an oĨinion on the ComĨanyܻs internal 
control over financial reĨorting based on our audit۽ �e are a Ĩublic accounting firm registered ŏith the PCAOB and are 
reĪuired to be indeĨendent ŏith resĨect to the ComĨany in accordance ŏith the ۽�S۽ federal securities laŏs and the 
aĨĨlicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB۽

�e conducted our audit in accordance ŏith the standards of the PCAOB۽ �hose standards reĪuire that ŏe Ĩlan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reĨorting, assessing the risĀ that a material 
ŏeaĀness exists, testing and evaluating the design and oĨerating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed 
risĀ, and Ĩerforming such other Ĩrocedures as ŏe considered necessary in the circumstances۽ �e believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

"eèiĉitioĉ ±ĉÑ QiĈit±tioĉs oè Aĉterĉ±ă �oĉtroă ^ver 8iĉ±ĉci±ă zeĨortiĉé
A comĨanyܻs internal control over financial reĨorting is a Ĩrocess designed to Ĩrovide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally acceĨted accounting ĨrinciĨles۽ A comĨanyܻs internal control over financial reĨorting includes those Ĩolicies 
and Ĩrocedures that ܢٵܡ Ĩertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
ĨrinciĨles, and that receiĨts and exĨenditures of the comĨany are being made only in accordance ŏith authoriŝations 
ofݔmanagement and directors of the comĨany܀ and ܢٷܡ Ĩrovide reasonable assurance regarding Ĩrevention or timely 
detection of unauthoriŝed acĪuisition, use, or disĨosition of the comĨanyܻs assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reĨorting may not Ĩrevent or detect misstatements۽ 
Also, Ĩroýections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future Ĩeriods are subýect to the risĀ that controls may become 
inadeĪuate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of comĨliance ŏith the Ĩolicies or Ĩrocedures 
mayݔdeteriorate۽

/s/ Ernst ߞ £oung LLP

San Mose, California
February ٹٶٴٶ ,ٸ
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�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽
�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ �±ă±ĉce ~îeets

�s oè "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ܢexceĨt Ĩ±r v±ăue Ĩer sî±re ±Ĉouĉts ۾iĉ Ĉiăăioĉsܡ ٷٶٴٶ 2024

Assets

Currentݘassetsܝ

CashݘandݘcashݘeĪuivalents ށ ۀڼڸܜڼں ھھڼܜڻں ށ

MarĀetableݘsecurities ۀھۀܜھۀ ڹہڹܜںڿ
�otalݘcashݘܜcashݘeĪuivalentsݘܜandݘmarĀetableݘsecurities ھڹہܜڸڹڹ ڿڽھܜڽہ

Accountsݘreceivableݘܜnet ڼھہܜڿڼ ڸڼڻܜںڽ
Otherݘcurrentݘassets ڸڽھܜںڹ ڼڹڿܜڽڹ

�otalݘcurrentݘassets ڸڻڽܜڹڿڹ ڹڹڿܜڻھڹ
XonܭmarĀetableݘsecurities ۀڸڸܜڹڻ ںۀہܜڿڻ
"eferredݘincomeݘtaxes ہھڹܜںڹ ڸۀڹܜڿڹ
ProĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨmentݘܜnet ڽڼڻܜڼڻڹ ھڻڸܜڹڿڹ

OĨeratingݘleaseݘassets ڹہڸܜڼڹ ۀۀڽܜڻڹ
Goodwill ۀہڹܜہں ڽۀۀܜڹڻ
Otherݘnonܭcurrentݘassets ڹڽڸܜڸڹ ڼڿۀܜڼڹ

�otalݘassets ށ ںہڻܜںڸڼ ھڽںܜڸڽڼ ށ

Qi±Êiăitiesݘ±ĉÑݘ~tocĀîoăÑersܻݘEĪuitŕ

Currentݘliabilitiesܝ
AccountsݘĨayable ށ ڻہڼܜڿ ڿۀہܜڿ ށ
AccruedݘcomĨensationݘandݘbenefits ڸڼڹܜڽڹ ہھڸܜڽڹ

AccruedݘexĨensesݘandݘotherݘcurrentݘliabilities ۀھڹܜھڼ ۀںںܜڹڽ

Accruedݘrevenueݘshare ھڿۀܜۀ ںڸۀܜہ

"eferredݘrevenue ڿڻڹܜڼ ھڻڸܜڽ
�otalݘcurrentݘliabilities ڼڹۀܜڹۀ ںںڹܜہۀ

Longܭtermݘdebt ڸڿۀܜڹڹ ڻۀۀܜڸڹ
IncomeݘtaxesݘĨayableݘܜnonܭcurrent ڼڿڼܜۀ ںۀڿܜۀ
OĨeratingݘleaseݘliabilities ڸھڼܜںڹ ڹہھܜڹڹ

Otherݘlongܭtermݘliabilities ڽہڻܜڼ ڼہھܜڼ
�otalݘliabilities ڻڹڸܜہڹڹ ںڿڹܜڽںڹ

CommitmentsݘandݘContingenciesܡݘXoteܢڸڹݘ

StocĀholdersܻݘeĪuityܝ
PreferredݘstocĀݘڹڸڸܛڸށݘܜĨarݘvalueݘĨerݘshareݘڸڸڹݘܜsharesݘauthoriŝedݘܞnoݘsharesݘ
issuedݘandݘoutstanding ڸ ڸ

ClassݘAݘܜClassݘBݘܜandݘClassݘCݘstocĀݘandݘadditionalݘĨaidܭinݘcaĨitalݘڹڸڸܛڸށݘܜĨarݘ
valueݘĨerݘshareݘڸڸڸܜڸڸڻݘܝsharesݘauthoriŝedܡݘClassݘAݘܜڸڸڸܜڸۀڹݘClassݘBݘܜڸڸڸܜڸھݘ
ClassݔCܡݘڸھڼܜںڹݘܞܢڸڸڸܜڸھݔClassݘAݘܜہہۀܜڽݘClassݘBݘܜڸڿۀݘClassݘCݘܢڹہھܜڽݘandݘڹڹںܜںڹݘ
outstandingݘandݘissuedݘsharesݘܢڽڹڽܜڽݘCݘClassݘܜڹھۀݘBݘClassݘܜڽڻۀܜڽݘAݘClassܡ ڼڻڽܜھڿ ڸڸۀܜڼۀ
AccumulatedݘotherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ (ںڸڼܜڼܡ (ڸڸۀܜڼܡ
Retainedݘearnings ڿڼںܜڹڹں ڼۀڸܜڽڼں

�otalݘstocĀholdersܻݘeĪuity ہڿڻܜڻۀں ڼۀڸܜڽںڻ
�otalݘliabilitiesݘandݘstocĀholdersܻݘeĪuity ށ ںہڻܜںڸڼ ھڽںܜڸڽڼ ށ

See accompanying notes.
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�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽
�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè AĉcoĈe

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ܢexceĨt Ĩer sî±re ±Ĉouĉts ۾iĉ Ĉiăăioĉsܡݔ 2022 ٷٶٴٶ 2024

Revenues ށ ھڻۀܜںۀں ށ ڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ށ ۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ

CostsݘandݘexĨensesܝ

Costݘofݘrevenues ڻڸںܜھںڹ ںڻڻܜڻڻڹ ھڸڻܜھڼڹ

ResearchݘandݘdeveloĨment ڸڸڽܜہڻ ڿںڼܜڽڼ ھںڻܜہڼ

SalesݘandݘmarĀeting ڿھڽܜھں ڿڹہܜڿں ۀڸۀܜڿں

Generalݘandݘadministrative ڼںڿܜڽڹ ڽںڼܜھڹ ۀۀڹܜڼڹ

�otalݘcostsݘandݘexĨenses ڼہہܜڿڸں ڹڸڹܜڻںں ۀںھܜڿڻں

IncomeݘfromݘoĨerations ںڼۀܜڼڿ ڻہںܜڼۀ ڸہڻܜںڹڹ

OtherݘincomeܡݘexĨenseݘܜܢnet (ڼڹڽܜڻܡ ڼںڼܜڹ ڽںڼܜڿ

Incomeݘbeforeݘincomeݘtaxes ۀںڻܜڹڿ ڿڹڿܜڽۀ ڽڹۀܜہڹڹ

Provisionݘforݘincomeݘtaxes ھڽڻܜڹڹ ںںہܜڹڹ ڿہھܜہڹ

Xetݘincome ށ ںڿہܜہڽ ށ ڽہڿܜڻڿ ށ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ

BasicݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܡݘXoteܢںڹݘ ށ ہڽܛڼ ށ ڼۀܛڽ ށ ڻڹܛۀ

"ilutedݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܡݘXoteܢںڹݘ ށ ھڽܛڼ ށ ڸۀܛڽ ށ ڼڸܛۀ

See accompanying notes.
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�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽
�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè �oĈĨreîeĉsive AĉcoĈe

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ܢiĉ Ĉiăăioĉsܡݔ 2022 ٷٶٴٶ 2024

Xetݘincome ںڿہܜہڽ ށ ڽہڿܜڻڿ ށ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ ށ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܝܢ

Changeݘinݘforeignݘcurrencyݘtranslationݘadýustmentݘܜnetݘofݘincomeݘtaxݘbenefitݘ
ܢہڼܡށݔݘandݘڻھށݘܜܢڼڻڹܡށݘofݘܢexĨenseܡ (ھڻۀܜڹܡ ڽڻڿ (ڻڿھܜڹܡ

Availableܭforܭsaleݘinvestmentsܝ

Changeݘinݘnetݘunrealiŝedݘgainsܡݘlossesܢ (ڸںڿܜڼܡ ڼڼڻܜڹ (ھڹڹܡ

Lessݘܝreclassificationݘadýustmentݘforݘnetܡݘgainsݘܢlossesݘincludedݘinݘ
netݘincome ڿڸڸܜڹ ۀھڹܜڹ ںۀڿ

XetݘchangeݘܜnetݘofݘincomeݘtaxݘbenefitܡݘexĨenseݘܢofݘܜܢۀہھܡށݘܜھڽڸܜڹށݘ
andܢڸہڹܡށݔ (ڻڹڿܜڻܡ ںڹڽܜں ھھھ

Cashݘfloŏݘhedgesܝ

Changeݘinݘnetݘunrealiŝedݘgainsܡݘlossesܢ ڽڿںܜڹ ۀھڹ ڽڿڿ

Lessݘܝreclassificationݘadýustmentݘforݘnetܡݘgainsݘܢlossesݘincludedݘinݘ
netݔincome (ھڸڿܜڹܡ (ڼڹںܡ (ھھڹܡ

XetݘchangeݘܜnetݘofݘincomeݘtaxݘbenefitܡݘexĨenseݘܢofݘܜںށݘܜڸڹڹށݘandܢڹڽڹܡށݘ (ڹڻڼܡ (ھڼܡ ہڸھ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ (ڸۀہܜڽܡ ڹڸںܜڻ (ۀہڻܡ

ComĨrehensiveݘincome ںہہܜڻڽ ށ ھہہܜھڿ ށ ڸںڿܜہہ ށ

See accompanying notes.
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�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽
�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè ~tocĀîoăÑersܻ EĪuitŕ

�ă±ssݔ۾�ݔ�ă±ss۾�ݔ �ă±ss � 
~tocĀ ±ĉÑ

�ÑÑitioĉ±ăݔw±iÑܭAĉݔ�±Ĩit±ă
Accumulated

^tîer
�oĈĨreîeĉsive

AĉcoĈe ܡQossܢ
Retained
E±rĉiĉés

Total
~tocĀîoăÑersܻ

EĪuitŕܡݔiĉ Ĉiăăioĉsܢ Shares Amount

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڹںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ںڼںܜڻڹ ڼڿڿܜڹھ ށ (ڻںھܜڹܡ ށ ڼۀڼܜڹہڹ ށ ڽڻھܜڹڽں ށ

StocĀݘissued ڿڻڹ ۀ ڸ ڸ ۀ

StocĀܭbasedݘcomĨensation ڸ ڽںڽܜہڹ ڸ ڸ ڽںڽܜہڹ

�axݘŏithholdingݘrelatedݘtoݘvestingݘofݘ
restrictedݘstocĀݘunitsݘandݘother ڸ (ڼڽڿܜہܡ ڸ ܢڹܡ (ڽڽڿܜہܡ

ReĨurchasesݘofݘstocĀ (ڸڻڽܡ (ڼڸڼܜڻܡ ڸ (ںہۀܜڽڽܡ (ھہںܜہڽܡ

Saleݘofݘinterestݘinݘconsolidatedݘentities ڸ ڽڻ ڸ ڸ ڽڻ

Xetݘincome ڸ ڸ ڸ ںڿہܜہڽ ںڿہܜہڽ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ ڸ ڸ (ڸۀہܜڽܡ ڸ (ڸۀہܜڽܡ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberںںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ہڼۀܜںڹ ڼۀڹܜۀھ (ڻڸھܜڿܡ ڻھڽܜڽہڹ ڼڼڹܜھڽں

StocĀݘissued ہڻڹ ڸ ڸ ڸ ڸ

StocĀܭbasedݘcomĨensation ڸ ۀڿڽܜںں ڸ ڸ ۀڿڽܜںں

�axݘŏithholdingݘrelatedݘtoݘvestingݘofݘ
restrictedݘstocĀݘunitsݘandݘother ڸ (ڼھڹܜڸڹܡ ڸ ہ (ڽڽڹܜڸڹܡ

ReĨurchasesݘofݘstocĀ (ۀںڽܡ (ڼھڸܜڼܡ ڸ (ڸںڹܜۀڽܡ (ڼۀڹܜںھܡ

Xetݘincome ڸ ڸ ڸ ڽہڿܜڻڿ ڽہڿܜڻڿ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ ڸ ڸ ڹڸںܜڻ ڸ ڹڸںܜڻ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڻںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ڸھڼܜںڹ ڼڻڽܜھڿ (ںڸڼܜڼܡ ڿڼںܜڹڹں ہڿڻܜڻۀں

StocĀݘissued ڸڻڹ ڸ ڸ ڸ ڸ

StocĀܭbasedݘcomĨensation ڸ ڿڻہܜںں ڸ ڸ ڿڻہܜںں

�axݘŏithholdingݘrelatedݘtoݘvestingݘofݘ
restrictedݘstocĀݘunitsݘandݘother ڸ (ڿڸڽܜںڹܡ ڸ (ھڹܡ (ڻںڽܜںڹܡ

ReĨurchasesݘofݘstocĀ (ہڿڻܡ (ہڽڻܜڻܡ ڸ (ۀۀھܜۀڽܡ (ڿڼڸܜںھܡ

"ividendsݘandݘdividendݘeĪuivalentsݘdeclaredݘ
ܢshareݘĨerݘڸھܛڸށܡ ڸ ڹڼ ڸ (ڿڿڽܜڿܡ (ھڻڽܜڿܡ

Saleݘofݘinterestݘinݘconsolidatedݘentities ڸ ڼڽڹܜڹ ڸ ڸ ڼڽڹܜڹ

Xetݘincome ڸ ڸ ڸ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ ڸ ڸ (ۀہڻܡ ڸ (ۀہڻܡ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڼںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ڹڹںܜںڹ ڸڸۀܜڼۀ ށ (ڸڸۀܜڼܡ ށ ڼۀڸܜڽڼں ށ ڼۀڸܜڽںڻ ށ

See accompanying notes.
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�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽
�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ ~t±teĈeĉts oè �±sî 8ăoŏs

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ܢmillionsݘinܡݔ 2022 ٷٶٴٶ 2024
^Ĩer±tiĉéݘ±ctivities
Xetݘincome ںڿہܜہڽ ށ ڽہڿܜڻڿ ށ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ ށ
Adýustmentsܝ

"eĨreciationݘofݘĨroĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨment ڽڿڼܜڻڹ ھڼہܜڹڹ ڹڹڻܜڽڹ
StocĀܭbasedݘcomĨensationݘexĨense ںھڻܜہڹ ڸھڼܜںں ڽۀڿܜںں
"eferredݘincomeݘtaxes (ڹۀڸܜۀܡ (ڻھڿܜڿܡ (ڿڽںܜڽܡ
LossܡݘgainݘܢonݘdebtݘandݘeĪuityݘsecuritiesݘܜnet ہڹڽܜڽ ڻںۀ (ڹڿھܜںܡ
Other ڻۀڼܜڻ ڸڻڻܜڼ ہڹڼܜڻ

ChangesݘinݘassetsݘandݘliabilitiesݘܜnetݘofݘeffectsݘofݘacĪuisitionsܝ
Accountsݘreceivableݘܜnet (ڿڹڻܜںܡ (ڻڻۀܜڿܡ (ڹہۀܜڽܡ
Incomeݘtaxesݘܜnet ڼۀڽ ڻںڽ (ۀڹڼܜںܡ
Otherݘassets (ھڼڸܜڽܡ (ڻڼڹܜںܡ (ڿہڻܜڹܡ
AccountsݘĨayable ڿڸڿ ڼھھ ہڽڻ
AccruedݘexĨensesݘandݘotherݘliabilities ڽڹہܜڻ ڿڻہܜڻ (ڹھڹܜڹܡ
Accruedݘrevenueݘshare (ڽڼڼܡ ںۀڼ ہڽڸܜڹ
"eferredݘrevenue ڿھڻ ڽںڽ ڻڼڸܜڹ

XetݘcashݘĨrovidedݘbyݘoĨeratingݘactivities ڽہڼܜڹہ ھڼڿܜڹڸڹ ہہںܜڽںڹ
Aĉvestiĉéݘ±ctivities
PurchasesݘofݘĨroĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨment (ڽۀڼܜڹڻܡ (ڹڽںܜںڻܡ (ڽڻڽܜںڽܡ
PurchasesݘofݘmarĀetableݘsecurities (ڼڿۀܜۀڿܡ (ۀڽۀܜڿڿܡ (ہڿھܜھۀܡ
MaturitiesݘandݘsalesݘofݘmarĀetableݘsecurities ںںۀܜڿہ ںڿھܜھۀ ۀںڼܜڻڸڹ
PurchasesݘofݘnonܭmarĀetableݘsecurities (ڹڻڽܜںܡ (ڿںڸܜڻܡ (ڼڻڸܜڽܡ
MaturitiesݘandݘsalesݘofݘnonܭmarĀetableݘsecurities ڸڽڹ ڿڼہ ںۀۀ
AcĪuisitionsݘܜnetݘofݘcashݘacĪuiredݘܜandݘĨurchasesݘofݘintangibleݘassets (ہھہܜھܡ (ڽہڼܡ (ڹڻہܜںܡ
Otherݘinvestingݘactivities ہۀڽܜڹ (ڹڽڸܜڹܡ (ڿھھܜںܡ

Xetݘcashݘusedݘinݘinvestingݘactivities (ۀہںܜڸںܡ (ڻھڸܜڿںܡ (ھڻڽܜڽڼܡ
8iĉ±ĉciĉéݘ±ctivities
XetݘĨaymentsݘrelatedݘtoݘstocĀܭbasedݘaŏardݘactivities (ڸڸڻܜہܡ (ڿڻۀܜہܡ (ڸہڹܜںڹܡ
ReĨurchasesݘofݘstocĀ (ھہںܜہڽܡ (ڼڸڽܜڹھܡ (ںںںܜںھܡ
"ividendݘĨayments ڸ ڸ (ڻھڻܜڿܡ
Proceedsݘfromݘissuanceݘofݘdebtݘܜnetݘofݘcosts ںڿۀܜںڽ ڸہڿܜڸڹ ہۀڽܜڻڹ
ReĨaymentsݘofݘdebt (ۀھڸܜڼڽܡ (ڸڽڽܜڹڹܡ (ڹڸڿܜںڹܡ
Proceedsݘfromݘsaleݘofݘinterestݘinݘconsolidatedݘentitiesݘܜnet ڽڻ ۀ ڼڽڹܜڹ

Xetݘcashݘusedݘinݘfinancingݘactivities (ڿڽڿܜہھܡ (ڻہڸܜںڿܡ (ڻڻڿܜہڿܡ
EffectݘofݘexchangeݘrateݘchangesݘonݘcashݘandݘcashݘeĪuivalents (ھڸڽܡ (ڹںڼܡ (ںڹھܡ
Xetݘiĉcre±seܡݘÑecre±seݘܢiĉݘc±sîݘ±ĉÑݘc±sîݘeĪuiv±ăeĉts ڼڻہ ہھڹܜں (ںۀڽܡ
CashݘandݘcashݘeĪuivalentsݘatݘbeginningݘofݘĨeriod ڽڼہܜڸں ہڿۀܜڹں ۀڼڸܜڼں
�±sîݘ±ĉÑݘc±sîݘeĪuiv±ăeĉtsݘ±tݘeĉÑݘoèݘĨerioÑ ہڿۀܜڹں ށ ۀڼڸܜڼں ށ ھھڼܜڻں ށ

See accompanying notes.
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�ăĨî±Êet Aĉc۽
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Xote ۽ٵ ~uĈĈ±rŕ oè ~iéĉièic±ĉt �ccouĉtiĉé woăicies
X±ture oè ^Ĩer±tioĉs
Google ŏas incorĨorated in California in SeĨtember ټٽٽٵ and reܭincorĨorated in the State of "elaŏare in August ۽ٷٴٴٶ 
Inٹٵٴٶݔ, ŏe imĨlemented a holding comĨany reorganiŝation, and as a result, AlĨhabet Incܸܡ ۽AlĨhabetܹܢ became the 
successor issuer to Google.

�e generate revenues by delivering relevant, costܭeffective online advertising܀ cloudܭbased solutions that Ĩrovide 
enterĨrise customers of all siŝes ŏith infrastructure, Ĩlatform services, and aĨĨlications܀ sales of other Ĩroducts and 
services, such as fees received for subscriĨtionܭbased Ĩroducts, aĨĨs and inܭaĨĨ Ĩurchases, and devices۽

�±sis oè �oĉsoăiÑ±tioĉ
The consolidated financial statements of Alphabet include the accounts of Alphabet and entities consolidated under the 
variable interest and voting models. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

�se oè EstiĈ±tes
PreĨaration of consolidated financial statements in conformity ŏith GAAP reĪuires us to maĀe estimates and assumĨtions 
that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results 
could differ materially from these estimates due to uncertainties۽ On an ongoing basis, ŏe evaluate our estimates, including 
those related to the allowance for credit losses; contingent liabilities; fair values of financial instruments and goodwill; 
income taxes܀ inventory܀ and useful lives of ĨroĨerty and eĪuiĨment, among others۽ �e base our estimates on assumĨtions, 
both historical and forŏard looĀing, that are believed to be reasonable, and the results of ŏhich form the basis for maĀing 
ýudgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities۽

zeveĉue zecoéĉitioĉ
Revenues are recogniŝed ŏhen control of the Ĩromised goods or services is transferred to our customers, and the 
collectibility of an amount that we expect in exchange for those goods or services is probable. Sales and other similar taxes 
are excluded from revenues.

�Ñvertisiĉé zeveĉues
�e generate advertising revenues Ĩrimarily by delivering advertising on:

• Google Search and other ĨroĨerties, including revenues from traffic generated by search distribution Ĩartners ŏho use 
Google۽com as their default search in broŏsers, toolbars, etc۽ and other Google oŏned and oĨerated ĨroĨerties liĀe 
Gmail, Google MaĨs, and Google Play܀

• YouTube properties; and
• Google XetŏorĀ ĨroĨerties, including revenues from Google XetŏorĀ ĨroĨerties ĨarticiĨating in AdMob, AdSense, and 

Google Ad Manager.

Our customers generally Ĩurchase advertising inventory through Google Ads, Google Ad Manager, Google "isĨlay ߞ 
�ideoٴٺٷݔ, and Google MarĀeting Platform, among others۽

�e offer advertising by delivering both Ĩerformance and brand advertising۽ �e recogniŝe revenues for Ĩerformance 
advertising ŏhen a user engages ŏith the advertisement۽ For brand advertising, ŏe recogniŝe revenues ŏhen the ad is 
disĨlayed, or a user vieŏs the ad۽

For ads Ĩlaced on Google XetŏorĀ ĨroĨerties, ŏe evaluate ŏhether ŏe are the ĨrinciĨal ܡi۽e۽, reĨort revenues on a gross 
basisܢ or agent ܡi۽e۽, reĨort revenues on a net basis۽ܢ Generally, ŏe reĨort advertising revenues for ads Ĩlaced on Google 
XetŏorĀ ĨroĨerties on a gross basis, that is, the amounts billed to our customers are recorded as revenues, and amounts 
Ĩaid to Google XetŏorĀ Ĩartners are recorded as cost of revenues۽ �here ŏe are the ĨrinciĨal, ŏe control the advertising 
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inventory before it is transferred to our customers۽ Our control is evidenced by our sole ability to monetiŝe the advertising 
inventory before it is transferred to our customers and is further supported by us being primarily responsible to our 
customers and having a level of discretion in establishing pricing.

9ooéăe ~uÊscriĨtioĉs۾ wă±tèorĈs۾ ±ĉÑ "evices
Google subscriĨtions, Ĩlatforms, and devices revenues consist of revenues from:

• consumer subscriĨtions, ŏhich Ĩrimarily include revenues from £ou�ube services, such as £ou�ube ��, £ou�ube Music 
and Premium, and XFL Sunday �icĀet, as ŏell as Google One܀

• Ĩlatforms, ŏhich Ĩrimarily include revenues from Google Play sales of aĨĨs and inܭaĨĨ Ĩurchases܀
• devices, ŏhich Ĩrimarily include sales of the Pixel family of devices܀ and
• other products and services.

SubscriĨtion revenues are recogniŝed ratably over the Ĩeriod of the subscriĨtion, Ĩrimarily monthly۽ �e reĨort revenues 
from Google Play sales of aĨĨs and inܭaĨĨ Ĩurchases on a net basis because our Ĩerformance obligation is to facilitate a 
transaction between app developers and end users for which we earn a service fee.

9ooéăe �ăouÑ zeveĉues
Google Cloud revenues consist of revenues from:

• Google Cloud Platform, ŏhich generates consumĨtionܭbased fees and subscriĨtions for infrastructure, Ĩlatform, and 
other services۽ �hese services Ĩrovide access to solutions such as AI offerings including our AI infrastructure, �ertex AI 
Ĩlatform, and Gemini for Google Cloud܀ cybersecurity܀ and data and analytics܀

• Google �orĀsĨace, ŏhich includes subscriĨtions for cloudܭbased communication and collaboration tools for enterĨrises, 
such as Calendar, Gmail, "ocs, "rive, and Meet, ŏith integrated features liĀe Gemini for Google �orĀsĨace܀ and

• other enterprise services.

Our cloud services are generally Ĩrovided on either a consumĨtion or subscriĨtion basis and may have contract terms 
longer than a year۽ Revenues related to cloud services Ĩrovided on a consumĨtion basis are recogniŝed ŏhen the customer 
utiliŝes the services, based on the Īuantity of services consumed۽ Revenues related to cloud services Ĩrovided on a 
subscriĨtion basis are recogniŝed ratably over the contract term as the customer receives and consumes the benefits of 
the cloud services.

�rr±ĉéeĈeĉts ŏitî WuătiĨăe werèorĈ±ĉce ^Êăié±tioĉs
Our contracts ŏith customers may include multiĨle Ĩerformance obligations۽ For such arrangements, ŏe allocate revenues 
to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. We generally determine standalone selling 
prices based on the prices charged to customers.

�ustoĈer Aĉceĉtives ±ĉÑ �reÑits
Certain customers receive cashܭbased incentives or credits, ŏhich are accounted for as variable consideration۽ �e 
estimate these amounts based on the expected amount to be provided to customers and reduce revenues. We believe that 
there will not be significant changes to our estimates of variable consideration related to customer incentives and credits.

Sales Commissions
�e exĨense sales commissions ŏhen incurred ŏhen the Ĩeriod of the exĨected benefit is one year or less۽ �e recogniŝe an 
asset for certain sales commissions and amortiŝe if the exĨected benefit Ĩeriod is greater than one year۽ �hese costs are 
recorded within sales and marketing expenses.
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�ost oè zeveĉues
Cost of revenues consists of TAC and other costs of revenues.

• �AC includes:
• amounts Ĩaid to our distribution Ĩartners ŏho maĀe available our search access Ĩoints and services۽ Our distribution 

Ĩartners include broŏser Ĩroviders, mobile carriers, original eĪuiĨment manufacturers, and softŏare develoĨers܀ and
• amounts paid to Google Network partners primarily for ads displayed on their properties.

• Other cost of revenues includes:
• content acĪuisition costs, ŏhich are Ĩayments to content Ĩroviders from ŏhom ŏe license video and other content 

for distribution, Ĩrimarily related to £ou�ube ܡŏe Ĩay fees to these content Ĩroviders based on revenues generated, 
subscriber counts, or a flat fee܀ܢ

• depreciation expense related to our technical infrastructure;
• employee compensation expenses related to our technical infrastructure and other operations such as content review 

and customer and product support;
• inventory and other costs related to the devices we sell; and
• other technical infrastructure oĨerations costs, including netŏorĀ caĨacity, energy, and eĪuiĨment costs۽

~oètŏ±re "eveăoĨĈeĉt �osts
�e exĨense softŏare develoĨment costs, including costs to develoĨ softŏare Ĩroducts or the softŏare comĨonent of 
Ĩroducts to be sold, leased, or marĀeted to external users, before technological feasibility is reached۽ �echnological 
feasibility is tyĨically reached shortly before the release of such Ĩroducts۽ As a result, develoĨment costs that meet the 
criteria for caĨitaliŝation ŏere not material for the Ĩeriods Ĩresented۽

Software development costs also include costs to develop software to be used solely to meet internal needs and 
cloudܭbased aĨĨlications used to deliver our services۽ �e caĨitaliŝe develoĨment costs related to these softŏare 
aĨĨlications once the Ĩreliminary Ĩroýect stage is comĨlete and it is Ĩrobable that the Ĩroýect ŏill be comĨleted and 
theݔsoftŏare ŏill be used to Ĩerform the function intended۽ Costs caĨitaliŝed for develoĨing such softŏare aĨĨlications 
were not material for the periods presented.

~tocĀܭÊ±seÑ �oĈĨeĉs±tioĉ
StocĀܭbased comĨensation ܡSBCܢ Ĩrimarily consists of AlĨhabet restricted stocĀ units ܡRS�s۽ܢ RS�s are eĪuity classified 
and measured at the fair marĀet value of the underlying stocĀ at the grant date۽ �e recogniŝe RS� exĨense using the 
straightܭline attribution method over the reĪuisite service Ĩeriod and account for forfeitures as they occur۽ RS�s are 
aŏarded dividend eĪuivalents, ŏhich are subýect to the same vesting conditions as the underlying aŏard, and settled in 
Class C shares.

For RS�s, shares are issued on the vesting dates net of the aĨĨlicable statutory income tax ŏithholding to be Ĩaid by us 
on behalf of our emĨloyees۽ As a result, feŏer shares are issued than the number of RS�s outstanding, and the income tax 
withholding is recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.

Additionally, SBC includes other stocĀܭbased aŏards, such as Ĩerformance stocĀ units ܡPS�sܢ that include marĀet 
conditions and aŏards that may be settled in cash or the stocĀ of certain Other Bet comĨanies۽ PS�s and certain aŏards 
granted by Other Bet comĨanies are eĪuity classified and exĨense is recogniŝed over the reĪuisite service Ĩeriod۽ Certain 
aŏards granted by Other Bet comĨanies are liability classified and remeasured at fair value through settlement۽ �he fair 
value of aŏards granted by Other Bet comĨanies is based on the eĪuity valuation of the resĨective Other Bet comĨany۽

�Ñvertisiĉé ±ĉÑ wroĈotioĉ±ă ExĨeĉses
�e exĨense advertising and Ĩromotional costs in the Ĩeriod in ŏhich they are incurred۽ For the years ended "ecemberٵٷݔ, 
 ,billion ٻ۽ټݝ billion, and ٻ۽ټݝ ,billion ٶ۽ٽݝ advertising and Ĩromotional exĨenses totaled aĨĨroximately ,ٸٶٴٶ and ,ٷٶٴٶݔ,ٶٶٴٶ
respectively.
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werèorĈ±ĉce 8ees
Performance fees refer to comĨensation arrangements ŏith Ĩayouts based on realiŝed returns from certain investments۽ 
�e record comĨensation exĨense based on the estimated Ĩayouts on an ongoing basis, ŏhich may result in exĨense 
recogniŝed before investment returns are realiŝed and comĨensation is Ĩaid and may reĪuire the use of unobservable 
inĨuts۽ Performance fees are recorded as a comĨonent of OIߞE۽

Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is an exit Ĩrice, reĨresenting the amount that ŏould be received to sell an asset or Ĩaid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are measured and classified 
in accordance with a three-tier fair value hierarchy based on the observability of the inputs available in the market used to 
measure fair value:

Level ܭ ٵ Observable inĨuts that reflect Īuoted Ĩrices ܡunadýustedܢ for identical assets or liabilities in active marĀets۽

Level ܭ ٶ InĨuts that are based uĨon Īuoted Ĩrices for similar instruments in active marĀets, Īuoted Ĩrices for identical 
or similar instruments in marĀets that are not active, and modelܭbased valuation techniĪues for ŏhich all significant 
inĨuts are observable in the marĀet or can be derived from observable marĀet data۽ �here aĨĨlicable, these models 
Ĩroýect future cash floŏs and discount the future amounts to a Ĩresent value using marĀetܭbased observable inĨuts 
including interest rate curves, foreign exchange rates, and credit ratings۽

Level ܭ ٷ �nobservable inĨuts that are suĨĨorted by little or no marĀet activities۽

�he fair value hierarchy reĪuires an entity to maximiŝe the use of observable inĨuts and minimiŝe the use of unobservable 
inputs when measuring fair value. The determination of fair value involves the use of appropriate valuation methods and 
relevant inputs into valuation models.

Our financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis include cash eĪuivalents, marĀetable 
securities, derivative financial instruments, and certain nonܭmarĀetable debt securities۽ Our financial assets measured at 
fair value on a nonrecurring basis include nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities۽ Other financial assets and liabilities are carried 
at cost ŏith fair value disclosed, if reĪuired۽

�e measure certain other instruments, and certain assets and liabilities acĪuired in a business combination, also at fair 
value on a nonrecurring basis.

Financial Instruments
Our financial instruments include cash, cash eĪuivalents, marĀetable and nonܭmarĀetable securities, derivative financial 
instruments, accounts receivable, and convertible notes۽

�reÑit zisĀs
�e are subýect to credit risĀ Ĩrimarily from cash eĪuivalents, marĀetable debt securities, derivative financial instruments, 
including foreign exchange contracts, accounts receivable, and convertible notes۽ �e manage our credit risĀ exĨosure 
through timely assessment of our counterĨarty creditŏorthiness, credit limits, and use of collateral management۽ Foreign 
exchange contracts are transacted with various financial institutions with high credit standing. Accounts receivable are 
typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned from customers located around the world. We manage our credit 
risk exposure by performing ongoing evaluations to determine customer credit and we limit the amount of credit we extend. 
�e generally do not reĪuire collateral from our customers۽

�±sî EĪuiv±ăeĉts
�e invest excess cash Ĩrimarily in assetܭbacĀed and mortgageܭbacĀed securities, corĨorate debt securities, government 
bonds, money marĀet funds, and time deĨosits۽

W±rĀet±Êăe ~ecurities
We classify all marketable debt securities that have effective maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase 
as cash eĪuivalents and those ŏith effective maturities of greater than three months as marĀetable securities on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We determine the appropriate classification of our investments in marketable debt securities 
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at the time of purchase and reevaluate such designation at each balance sheet date. We have classified and accounted 
for our marĀetable debt securities as availableܭforܭsale۽ After consideration of our risĀ versus reŏard obýectives, as ŏell as 
our liĪuidity reĪuirements, ŏe may sell these debt securities Ĩrior to their effective maturities۽ As ŏe vieŏ these securities 
as available to suĨĨort current oĨerations, ŏe classify highly liĪuid securities ŏith maturities beyond ٶٵ months as current 
assets under the caĨtion marĀetable securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets۽ �e carry these securities at fair value, 
and reĨort the unrealiŝed gains and losses, net of taxes, as a comĨonent of stocĀholdersܻ eĪuity, exceĨt for the changes in 
alloŏance for exĨected credit losses, ŏhich are recorded in OIߞE۽ For certain marĀetable debt securities ŏe have elected 
the fair value oĨtion, for ŏhich changes in fair value are recorded in OIߞE۽ �e determine any realiŝed gains and losses 
on the sale of marĀetable debt securities on a sĨecific identification method, and ŏe record such gains and losses as a 
comĨonent of OIߞE۽

Our investments in marĀetable eĪuity securities are measured at fair value ŏith the related gains and losses, including 
unrealiŝed, recogniŝed in OIߞE۽ �e classify our marĀetable eĪuity securities subýect to longܭterm locĀܭuĨ restrictions 
beyond ٶٵ months as other nonܭcurrent assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets۽

XoĉܭW±rĀet±Êăe ~ecurities
XonܭmarĀetable securities Ĩrimarily consist of eĪuity securities۽ �e account for nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities 
through ŏhich ŏe exercise significant influence but do not have control over the investee under the eĪuity method۽ 
OtherݔnonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities that ŏe hold are Ĩrimarily accounted for under the measurement alternative۽ �nder 
the measurement alternative, the carrying value is measured at cost, less any imĨairment, Ĩlus or minus changes resulting 
from observable Ĩrice changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer۽ Adýustments 
are determined Ĩrimarily based on a marĀet aĨĨroach as of the transaction date and are recorded as a comĨonent of OIߞE۽

Non-marketable securities that do not have effective contractual maturity dates are classified as other non-current assets 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

"eriv±tive 8iĉ±ĉci±ă AĉstruĈeĉts
See Xote ٷ for the accounting Ĩolicy Ĩertaining to derivative financial instruments۽

�ccouĉts zeceiv±Êăe
Our Ĩayment terms for accounts receivable vary by the tyĨes and locations of our customers and the Ĩroducts or services 
offered. The term between invoicing and when payment is due is not significant. For certain products or services and 
customers, ŏe reĪuire Ĩayment before the Ĩroducts or services are delivered to the customer۽ Additionally, accounts 
receivable includes amounts for services performed in advance of the right to invoice the customer.

�e maintain an alloŏance for credit losses for accounts receivable, ŏhich is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable, 
and changes in such are classified as general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income. We 
assess collectibility by reviewing accounts receivable on a collective basis where similar characteristics exist and on an 
individual basis when we identify specific customers with known disputes or collectibility issues. In determining the amount 
of the alloŏance for credit losses, ŏe consider historical collectibility based on Ĩast due status and maĀe ýudgments about 
the creditŏorthiness of customers based on ongoing credit evaluations۽ �e also consider customerܭsĨecific information, 
current marĀet conditions, and reasonable and suĨĨortable forecasts of future economic conditions۽

�oĉvertiÊăe Xotes
Our investments in convertible notes are Ĩrimarily recorded at amortiŝed cost ŏhich includes unĨaid ĨrinciĨal balances, 
deferred origination costs, and any related discount or Ĩremium, net of alloŏances for credit losses, and are included ŏithin 
other non-current assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

^tîer
Our financial instruments also include debt and eĪuity investments in comĨanies ŏith ŏhich ŏe also entered into commercial 
arrangements at or near the same time۽ For these transactions, ýudgment is reĪuired in assessing the substance of the 
arrangements, including assessing ŏhether the comĨonents of the arrangements should be accounted for as seĨarate 
transactions under the aĨĨlicable GAAP, and determining the value of the comĨonents of the arrangements, including 
the fair value of the investments۽ Additionally, if our investment in such comĨanies becomes imĨaired, ŏe may need to 
reܭevaluate the accounting for the commercial arrangement, including reducing any remaining Ĩerformance obligations۽
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AĈĨ±irĈeĉt oè AĉvestĈeĉts
�e Ĩeriodically revieŏ our debt and nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities for imĨairment۽

For debt securities in an unrealiŝed loss Ĩosition, ŏe determine ŏhether a credit loss exists۽ �he credit loss is estimated by 
considering available information relevant to the collectibility of the security and information about Ĩast events, current 
conditions, and reasonable and suĨĨortable forecasts۽ Any credit loss is recorded as a charge to OIߞE, not to exceed the 
amount of the unrealiŝed loss۽ �nrealiŝed losses other than the credit loss are recogniŝed in AOCI۽ If ŏe have an intent 
to sell, or if it is more liĀely than not that ŏe ŏill be reĪuired to sell a debt security in an unrealiŝed loss Ĩosition before 
recovery of its amortiŝed cost basis, ŏe ŏill ŏrite doŏn the security to its fair value and record the corresĨonding charge 
as a comĨonent of OIߞE۽

For nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities, including eĪuity method investments, ŏe consider ŏhether imĨairment indicators 
exist by evaluating the comĨaniesܻ financial and liĪuidity Ĩosition and access to caĨital resources, among other indicators۽ 
If the assessment indicates that the investment is imĨaired, ŏe ŏrite doŏn the investment to its fair value by recording 
the corresĨonding charge as a comĨonent of OIߞE۽ �e ĨreĨare Īuantitative measurements of the fair value of our eĪuity 
investments using a market approach or an income approach.

Aĉveĉtorŕ
Inventory consists Ĩrimarily of finished goods and is stated at the loŏer of cost and net realiŝable value۽ Cost is comĨuted 
using the firstܭin, firstܭout method۽

�±ri±Êăe Aĉterest Eĉtities
We determine at the inception of each arrangement whether an entity in which we have made an investment or in which 
we have other variable interests is considered a variable interest entity (VIE). We consolidate VIEs when we are the primary 
beneficiary. We are the primary beneficiary of a VIE when we have the power to direct activities that most significantly 
affect the economic Ĩerformance of the �IE and have the obligation to absorb the maýority of their losses or benefits۽ If 
ŏe are not the Ĩrimary beneficiary in a �IE, ŏe account for the investment or other variable interests in a �IE in accordance 
ŏith aĨĨlicable GAAP۽

Periodically, ŏe assess ŏhether any changes in our interest or relationshiĨ ŏith the entity affect our determination of 
ŏhether the entity is a �IE and, if so, ŏhether ŏe are the Ĩrimary beneficiary۽

wroĨertŕ ±ĉÑ EĪuiĨĈeĉt
ProĨerty and eĪuiĨment is comĨrised of technical infrastructure, office sĨace, corĨorate and other assets currently 
in service, and assets not yet in service۽ �echnical infrastructure includes data center land, buildings and leasehold 
imĨrovements, and servers and netŏorĀ eĪuiĨment۽ Office sĨace includes office land, buildings and leasehold 
imĨrovements۽ Assets not yet in service are those that are not ready for our intended use, including data center buildings 
and servers in the process of construction or assembly.

ProĨerty and eĪuiĨment are stated at cost less accumulated deĨreciation۽ "eĨreciation commences once assets are ready 
for our intended use and is recorded using the straightܭline method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ŏhich ŏe 
regularly evaluate for factors such as technological obsolescence and our Ĩlanned use and utiliŝation۽ �e deĨreciate data 
center and office buildings over Ĩeriods of seven to ٴٸ years۽ �e deĨreciate servers and netŏorĀ eĪuiĨment generally 
over a period of six years. We depreciate corporate and other assets over periods of two to 25 years. We depreciate 
leasehold improvements over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets. Land is 
not depreciated.

9ooÑŏiăă
We allocate goodwill to reporting units based on the expected benefit from the business combination. We evaluate our 
reĨorting units Ĩeriodically, as ŏell as ŏhen changes in our oĨerating segments occur۽ For changes in reĨorting units, ŏe 
reassign goodŏill using a relative fair value allocation aĨĨroach۽ �e test our goodŏill for imĨairment at least annually, or 
more freĪuently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be imĨaired۽ Goodŏill imĨairments ŏere 
not material for the periods presented.
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Leases
�e determine if an arrangement is a lease at inceĨtion۽ Our lease agreements generally contain lease and nonܭlease 
comĨonents۽ Payments under our lease arrangements are Ĩrimarily fixed۽ Xonܭlease comĨonents Ĩrimarily include 
payments for maintenance and utilities. We combine fixed payments for non-lease components with lease payments and 
account for them together as a single lease component which increases the amount of our lease assets and liabilities.

Certain lease agreements contain variable Ĩayments, ŏhich are exĨensed as incurred and not included in the lease 
assets and liabilities۽ �hese amounts Ĩrimarily include Ĩayments affected by the Consumer Price Index, and Ĩayments for 
maintenance and utilities.

Lease assets and liabilities are recogniŝed at the Ĩresent value of the future lease Ĩayments at the lease commencement 
date۽ �he interest rate used to determine the Ĩresent value of the future lease Ĩayments is our incremental borroŏing rate, 
because the interest rate imĨlicit in our leases is not readily determinable۽ Our incremental borroŏing rate is estimated 
to aĨĨroximate the interest rate on a collateraliŝed basis ŏith similar terms and Ĩayments, and in economic environments 
ŏhere the leased asset is located۽ Our lease terms include Ĩeriods under oĨtions to extend or terminate the lease ŏhen 
it is reasonably certain that ŏe ŏill exercise that oĨtion۽ �e generally use the base, nonܭcancelable, lease term ŏhen 
determining the lease assets and liabilities. Lease assets also include any prepaid lease payments and lease incentives.

Lease assets and liabilities are included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The current portion of our operating lease 
liabilities is included in accrued exĨenses and other current liabilities, and the longܭterm Ĩortion is included in oĨerating 
lease liabilities۽ Finance lease assets are included in ĨroĨerty and eĪuiĨment, net۽ Finance lease liabilities are included in 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities or other long-term liabilities.

OĨerating lease exĨense ܡexcluding variable lease costsܢ is recogniŝed on a straightܭline basis over the lease term۽ Finance 
lease exĨense is recogniŝed on a straightܭline basis over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the asset, and 
interest exĨense is recogniŝed based on the incremental borroŏing rate۽

AĈĨ±irĈeĉt oè QoĉéܭQiveÑ �ssets
�e revieŏ leases, ĨroĨerty and eĪuiĨment, and intangible assets, excluding goodŏill, for imĨairment ŏhen events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The evaluation is performed at the lowest 
level of identifiable cash flows independent of other assets. We measure recoverability of these assets by comparing the 
carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows that the assets or the asset group are expected to generate. If the 
carrying value of the assets or asset grouĨ is not recoverable, the imĨairment recogniŝed is measured as the amount by 
which the carrying value exceeds its fair value.

Income Taxes
�e account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, under ŏhich ŏe recogniŝe the amount of taxes Ĩayable 
or refundable for the current year and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax conseĪuences of events that 
have been recogniŝed in our financial statements or tax returns۽ �e measure current and deferred tax assets and liabilities 
based on Ĩrovisions of enacted tax laŏ۽ �e evaluate the liĀelihood of future realiŝation of our deferred tax assets based on 
all available evidence and establish a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that 
they ŏill not be realiŝed or release a valuation alloŏance to increase deferred tax assets ŏhen it is more liĀely than not that 
they ŏill be realiŝed۽ �e have elected to account for the tax effects of the global intangible loŏ tax income Ĩrovision as a 
current period expense.

�e recogniŝe the financial statement effects of a tax Ĩosition ŏhen it is more liĀely than not that, based on technical 
merits, the Ĩosition ŏill be sustained uĨon examination۽ �he tax benefits of the Ĩosition recogniŝed in the financial 
statements are then measured based on the largest amount of benefit that is greater than ޫٴٹ liĀely to be realiŝed uĨon 
settlement ŏith a taxing authority۽ In addition, ŏe recogniŝe interest and Ĩenalties related to unrecogniŝed tax benefits as a 
component of the income tax provision.
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�usiĉess �oĈÊiĉ±tioĉs
�e include the results of oĨerations of the businesses that ŏe acĪuire as of the acĪuisition date۽ �e allocate the Ĩurchase 
Ĩrice of the acĪuisitions to the assets acĪuired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values, exceĨt for 
revenue contracts acĪuired, ŏhich are recogniŝed in accordance ŏith our revenue recognition Ĩolicy۽ �he excess of the 
Ĩurchase Ĩrice over the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodŏill۽ AcĪuisitionܭrelated exĨenses 
are recogniŝed seĨarately from the business combination and are exĨensed as incurred۽

8oreiéĉ �urreĉcŕ
�e translate the financial statements of our international subsidiaries to ۽�S۽ dollars using monthܭend exchange rates for 
assets and liabilities, and average rates for the Ĩeriod derived from monthܭend exchange rates for revenues, costs, and 
exĨenses۽ �e record translation gains and losses in AOCI as a comĨonent of stocĀholdersܻ eĪuity۽ �e reflect net foreign 
exchange transaction gains and losses resulting from the conversion of the transaction currency to functional currency as 
a comĨonent of foreign currency exchange gain ܡlossܢ in OIߞE۽

zeceĉtăŕ AssueÑ �ccouĉtiĉé wroĉouĉceĈeĉts Xot £et �ÑoĨteÑ
In "ecember ٷٶٴٶ, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ܡFASBܢ issued Accounting Standards �Ĩdate ܡASٽٴܭٷٶٴٶ ܢ� 
ܸIncome �axes ܡ�oĨics ܢٴٸٻ: ImĨrovements to Income �ax "isclosuresܹ to exĨand the disclosure reĪuirements for income 
taxes۽ �Ĩon adoĨtion ŏe ŏill be reĪuired to disclose additional sĨecified categories in the rate reconciliation in both 
Ĩercentage and dollar amounts۽ �e ŏill also be reĪuired to disclose the amount of income taxes Ĩaid disaggregated by 
ýurisdiction, among other disclosure reĪuirements۽ �he standard can be aĨĨlied either ĨrosĨectively or retrosĨectively۽ 
We will adopt the standard in our 2025 annual period and are currently assessing the effect that the updated standard will 
have on our financial statement disclosures.

In Xovember ٸٶٴٶ, the FASB issued AS� ٷٴܭٸٶٴٶ ܸIncome Statement: ReĨorting ComĨrehensive IncomeܭExĨense 
"isaggregation "isclosures ܡSubtoĨic ܹܢٴٸܭٴٶٶ to imĨrove the disclosures about an entityܻs exĨenses۽ �Ĩon adoĨtion, ŏe 
ŏill be reĪuired to disclose in the notes to the financial statements a disaggregation of certain exĨense categories included 
ŏithin the exĨense caĨtions on the face of the income statement۽ �he standard is effective for our ٻٶٴٶ annual Ĩeriod, 
and our interim Ĩeriods beginning in ټٶٴٶ, ŏith early adoĨtion Ĩermitted۽ �he standard can be aĨĨlied either ĨrosĨectively 
or retrospectively. We are currently assessing adoption timing and the effect that the updated standard will have on our 
financial statement disclosures.

zeceĉtăŕ �ÑoĨteÑ �ccouĉtiĉé wroĉouĉceĈeĉts
In Xovember ٷٶٴٶ, the FASB issued AS� Xoٻٴܭٷٶٴٶ ۽ ܸSegment ReĨorting ܡ�oĨic ܢٴټٶ: ImĨrovements to ReĨortable 
Segment "isclosuresܹ ŏhich exĨands annual and interim disclosure reĪuirements for reĨortable segments, Ĩrimarily 
through enhanced disclosures about significant segment exĨenses۽ �e adoĨted this AS� for our ٸٶٴٶ annual Ĩeriod ŏith 
the comĨarative Ĩeriods uĨdated to reflect additional disclosures۽ See Xote ٹٵ for further details۽

wrior werioÑ zecă±ssièic±tioĉs
Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform with current period presentation.
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Xote ۽ٶ zeveĉues
"is±ééreé±teÑ zeveĉues
�he folloŏing table Ĩresents revenues disaggregated by tyĨe ܡin millionsܢ:

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

2022 ٷٶٴٶ 2024

GoogleݘSearchݘߞݘother ށ ڸڽڼܜںھڹ ށ ڻڻڸܜڽڿڹ ށ ڼۀڸܜۀہڹ

£ou�ubeݘads ڻڼںܜہں ڸڹڽܜڹڻ ڿڼڹܜھڻ

GoogleݘXetŏorĀ ڸۀڿܜںڻ ںڹڻܜڹڻ ہڽڻܜڸڻ

Googleݘadvertising ڻڿڼܜڼںں ڽڽۀܜڿڻں ڸہڽܜڼھں

GoogleݘsubscriĨtionsݘܜĨlatformsݘܜandݘdevices ڽڽڸܜہں ۀۀھܜڼڻ ڸڼڻܜڸڼ

GoogleݘServicesݘtotal ۀںڽܜڻڽں ڻڼڽܜںڿں ڸڻہܜڼڸڻ

GoogleݘCloud ڸۀںܜھں ۀۀڸܜڻڻ ہںںܜڻڼ

OtherݘBets ۀھڸܜڹ ڿںڽܜڹ ۀڼھܜڹ

>edgingݘgainsܡݘlossesܢ ڸھہܜڹ ھڻں ڹڹں

�otalݘrevenues ށ ھڻۀܜںۀں ށ ڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ށ ۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ

Xo individual customer or grouĨs of affiliated customers reĨresented more than ޫٴٵ of our revenues in ٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ, or ۽ٸٶٴٶ

�he folloŏing table Ĩresents revenues disaggregated by geograĨhy, based on the addresses of our customers ܡin millionsܢ:

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

2022 ٷٶٴٶ 2024

�nitedݘStates ށ ڼڹۀܜڼڻڹ ޾ۀڼ ށ ھۀںܜھڼڹ ޾ڿڼ ށ ڿڼڼܜڸڿڹ ޾ہڼ

EMEAܢڹܡ ںھڸܜںۀ ہں ۀڻڸܜڹہ ڸڻ ڿںڹܜںڸڹ ہں

APACܢڹܡ ڼںڸܜڿڼ ھڹ ڼڹڽܜڹڽ ڿڹ ڽڹۀܜھڽ ھڹ

OtherݘAmericasܢڹܡ ھڿہܜھڹ ھ ڸںڻܜۀڹ ھ ۀڹڼܜڸں ھ

>edgingݘgainsܡݘlossesܢ ڸھہܜڹ ڹ ھڻں ڸ ڹڹں ڸ

�otalݘrevenues ށ ھڻۀܜںۀں ޾ڸڸڹ ށ ڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ޾ڸڸڹ ށ ۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ ޾ڸڸڹ

ܢٵܡ Regions reĨresent EuroĨe, the Middle East, and Africa ܡEMEA܀ܢ AsiaܭPacific ܡAPAC܀ܢ and Canada and Latin America ݀ܡOther Americas݀۽ܢ

zeveĉue �±cĀăoé
As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe had ٶ۽ٷٽݝ billion of remaining Ĩerformance obligations ܸܡrevenue bacĀlogܹܢ, Ĩrimarily related 
to Google Cloud. Revenue backlog represents commitments in customer contracts for future services that have not yet 
been recogniŝed as revenue۽ �e exĨect to recogniŝe aĨĨroximately half of the revenue bacĀlog as revenues over the 
next ٸٶ months ŏith the remainder to be recogniŝed thereafter۽ �he estimated revenue bacĀlog and timing of revenue 
recognition for these commitments is largely driven by our ability to deliver in accordance with relevant contract terms 
and ŏhen our customers utiliŝe services۽ Revenue bacĀlog includes related deferred revenue currently recorded as ŏell as 
amounts that ŏill be invoiced in future Ĩeriods, and excludes contracts ŏith an original exĨected term of one year or less 
and cancellable contracts.

"eèerreÑ zeveĉues
�e record deferred revenues ŏhen cash Ĩayments are received or due in advance of our Ĩerformance, including amounts 
ŏhich are refundable۽ "eferred revenues Ĩrimarily relate to Google Cloud and Google subscriĨtions, Ĩlatforms, and 
devices۽ �otal deferred revenue as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ ŏas ٴ۽ٹݝ billion, of ŏhich ٽ۽ٷݝ billion ŏas recogniŝed as revenues 
for the year ended "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ �otal deferred revenue as of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ ŏas ٴ۽ٺݝ billion۽
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Note 3. Financial Instruments 
Fair Value Measurements
Investments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Cash, cash eĪuivalents, and marĀetable eĪuity securities are measured at fair value and classified ŏithin Level ٵ and Levelٶݔ 
in the fair value hierarchy, because we use quoted prices for identical assets in active markets or inputs that are based 
upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets.

"ebt securities are measured at fair value and classified ŏithin Level ٶ in the fair value hierarchy, because ŏe use Īuoted 
market prices to the extent available or alternative pricing sources and models utilizing market observable inputs to 
determine fair value. For certain marketable debt securities, we have elected the fair value option for which changes in fair 
value are recorded in OI&E. The fair value option was elected for these securities to align with the unrealized gains and 
losses from related derivative contracts.

The following tables summarize our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis (in millions):

�sݘoèݘ"eceĈÊerڻںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ

Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Adjusted 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value
Cash and Cash 

Equivalents
W±rĀet±Êăe 

Securities

Fair value changes 
recorded in other 
comprehensive income

�imeݘdeĨosits Levelںݘ ۀںھܜں ށ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ ۀںھܜں ށ ۀںھܜں ށ ڸ ށ

Governmentݘbonds Levelںݘ ھڸڹܜۀڻ ڻڻں (ہڿھܡ ڸھھܜڿڻ ڻہہܜڹ ڿھھܜڽڻ

CorĨorateݘdebtݘsecurities Levelںݘ ڿڽڼܜںں ںڹڹ (ڿڻھܡ ںڻہܜڹں ڸ ںڻہܜڹں

MortgageܭbacĀedݘandݘ
assetܭbacĀedݘsecurities Levelںݘ ڻڼںܜڿڹ ۀۀ (ڼڻھܡ ڿہھܜھڹ ڸ ڿہھܜھڹ

�otalݘinvestmentsݘ
ŏithݘfairݘvalueݘchangeݘ
reflectedݘinݘotherݘ
comĨrehensiveݘincomeܢڹܡ ڼڻڼܜڸۀ ށ ڻڻڼ ށ (ڸڽہܜڹܡ ށ ڿڹہܜۀڿ ށ ڹںھܜڼ ށ ھہںܜڼڿ ށ

Fair value adjustments 
recorded in net income

MoneyݘmarĀetݘfunds Levelڹݘ ڸۀڼܜھ ށ ڸۀڼܜھ ށ ڸ ށ

CurrentݘmarĀetableݘeĪuityݘ
securitiesܢںܡ Levelڹݘ ںۀںܜڼ ڸ ںۀںܜڼ

Mutualݘfunds Levelںݘ ڹڹڻ ڸ ڹڹڻ

Governmentݘbonds Levelںݘ ںڽہܜڹ ڿڼڻ ڽڸھܜڹ

CorĨorateݘdebtݘsecurities Levelںݘ ںۀڿܜڻ ڹہ ڹہھܜڻ

MortgageܭbacĀedݘandݘ
assetܭbacĀedݘsecurities Levelںݘ ڻۀھܜں ڸ ڻۀھܜں

�otalݘinvestmentsݘ
ŏithݘfairݘvalueݘchangeݘ
recordedݘinݘnetݘincome ڸہڼܜہڹ ށ ۀڹہܜھ ށ ںڿڽܜںڹ ށ

Cash ڸ ہڸڽܜںڹ ڸ

Total ڼڻڼܜڸۀ ށ ڻڻڼ ށ (ڸڽہܜڹܡ ށ ڿڸڼܜۀہ ށ ۀڼڸܜڼں ށ ۀھۀܜھۀ ށ

(1) Represents gross unrealized gains and losses for debt securities recorded to AOCI.
ܢٶܡ �he longܭterm Ĩortion of marĀetable eĪuity securities ܡsubýect to longܭterm locĀܭuĨ restrictionsܢ of ٸ۽ٵݝ billion as of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ is 

included within other non-current assets.
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�sݘoèݘ"eceĈÊerڼںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ

Fair Value 
Hierarchy

Adjusted 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value

Cash and 
Cash 

Equivalents
W±rĀet±Êăe 

Securities

8±irݘv±ăueݘcî±ĉéesݘ
recorÑeÑݘiĉݘotîerݘ
coĈĨreîeĉsiveݘiĉcoĈe

�imeݘdeĨosits Levelںݘ ڿڹںܜں ށ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ ڿڹںܜں ށ ڹۀڸܜں ށ ھڻڹ ށ

Governmentݘbonds Levelںݘ ڹڽڽܜڿں ڻۀ (ڼڹںܡ ڸںڼܜڿں ڸڽ ڸڿڻܜڿں

CorĨorateݘdebtݘsecurities Levelںݘ ڸڸڻܜۀڹ ہڿ (ںںںܡ ڿڽڹܜۀڹ ڸ ڿڽڹܜۀڹ

MortgageܭbacĀedݘandݘ
assetܭbacĀedݘsecurities Levelںݘ ڿڻڼܜڼڹ ڻھ (ڽۀڻܡ ڽڹڹܜڼڹ ڸ ڽڹڹܜڼڹ

�otalݘinvestmentsݘ
ŏithݘfairݘvalueݘchangeݘ
reflectedݘinݘotherݘ
comĨrehensiveݘincomeܢڹܡ ڽڸڽܜںھ ށ ڽںں ށ (ڹںۀܡ ށ ہڸہܜڹھ ށ ڹڻڹܜں ށ ۀڿڿܜہڽ ށ

8±irݘv±ăueݘ±ÑýustĈeĉtsݘ
recorÑeÑݘiĉݘĉetݘiĉcoĈe

MoneyݘmarĀetݘfunds Levelڹݘ ڼڽڹܜۀ ށ ڼڽڹܜۀ ށ ڸ ށ

CurrentݘmarĀetableݘeĪuityݘ
securitiesܢںܡ Levelڹݘ ۀڸڿܜڼ ڸ ۀڸڿܜڼ

Mutualݘfunds Levelںݘ ڽڸڹ ڸ ڽڸڹ

Governmentݘbonds Levelںݘ ڽڻڸܜں ھہھ ہڻڻܜڹ

CorĨorateݘdebtݘsecurities Levelںݘ ڿڻڸܜڻ ۀڿ ہڽہܜں

MortgageܭbacĀedݘandݘ
assetܭbacĀedݘsecurities Levelںݘ ںڸڻܜڻ ڸ ںڸڻܜڻ

�otalݘinvestmentsݘ
ŏithݘfairݘvalueݘchangeݘ
recordedݘinݘnetݘincome ڹڼڻܜڹں ށ ۀںہܜۀ ށ ڻڹڼܜںڹ ށ

Cash ڸ ڿڸڼܜںڹ ڸ

Total ڽڸڽܜںھ ށ ڽںں ށ (ڹںۀܡ ށ ڸڽںܜڻۀ ށ ھھڼܜڻں ށ ڹہڹܜںڿ ށ

(1) Represents gross unrealized gains and losses for debt securities recorded to AOCI.
ܢٶܡ �he longܭterm Ĩortion of marĀetable eĪuity securities ܡsubýect to longܭterm locĀܭuĨ restrictionsܢ of ٺٺٶݝ million as of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ 

is included within other non-current assets.

Investments Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Our non-marketable equity securities are investments in privately held companies without readily determinable market 
values. The carrying value of our non-marketable equity securities is adjusted to fair value upon observable transactions 
for identical or similar investments of the same issuer or impairment. Non-marketable equity securities that have been 
remeasured during the Ĩeriod based on observable transactions are classified ŏithin Level ٶ or Level ٷ in the fair value 
hierarchy. Non-marketable equity securities that have been remeasured due to impairment are classified within Level 3. 
Ourݔvaluation methods include oĨtion Ĩricing models, marĀet comĨarable aĨĨroach, and common stocĀ eĪuivalent method, 
which may include a combination of the observable transaction price at the transaction date and other unobservable 
inputs including volatility, expected time to exit, risk free rate, and the rights and obligations of the securities we hold. 
These inputs vary significantly based on investment type.

As of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, the carrying value of our nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities ŏas ٹ۽ٹٷݝ billion, of ŏhich ٽ۽ٽٵݝ billion 
ŏere remeasured at fair value during the year ended "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, and ŏere Ĩrimarily classified ŏithin Level ٶ of the 
fair value hierarchy at the time of measurement.

64 Alphabet ٸٶٴٶ Annual ReĨort

Part I Part II Part III Part IV



"eÊt ~ecurities
The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of investments in available-for-sale marketable debt securities by 
effective contractual maturity dates (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

"ueݘinݘڹݘyearݘorݘless ڹڼڻܜھ ށ

"ueݘinݘڹݘyearݘthroughݘڽݘyears ڹںںܜڿڻ

"ueݘinݘڽݘyearsݘthroughݘڸڹݘyears ڸںہܜڸڹ

"ueݘafterݘڸڹݘyears ھہۀܜںڹ

Total ۀڿڻܜڿھ ށ

The following tables present fair values and gross unrealized losses recorded to AOCI, aggregated by investment category 
and the length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ٷٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

Qessݔtî±ĉٶٵݔ Woĉtîs Woĉtîs or 9re±ter ٶٵ Total

8±irݔ�±ăue
Unrealized

Loss 8±irݔ�±ăue
Unrealized

Loss 8±irݔ�±ăue
Unrealized

Loss

Governmentݘbonds ھڽڼܜڹ ށ (ںںܡ ށ ڿہۀܜڻڹ ށ (ڿڽھܡ ށ ڻڽڻܜڽڹ ށ ܢہڿھܡ ށ

CorĨorateݘdebtݘsecurities ڿںۀ (ڽܡ ڿھڻܜڽڹ (ںہڽܡ ڼہڹܜھڹ ܢڿہڽܡ

MortgageܭbacĀedݘandݘ
assetܭbacĀedݘsecurities ڽڼہܜں (ھںܡ ھڹہܜڿ (ۀڸھܡ ڹھۀܜڸڹ ܢڼڻھܡ

Total ۀںںܜڽ ށ (ڻڽܡ ށ ڸۀڹܜڿڻ ށ (ڿڽۀܜڹܡ ށ ۀڸڼܜںڼ ށ ܢڸڹہܜڹܡ ށ

�s oè "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

Qessݔtî±ĉٶٵݔ Woĉtîs Woĉtîs or 9re±ter ٶٵ Total

8±irݔ�±ăue
Unrealized

Loss 8±irݔ�±ăue
Unrealized

Loss 8±irݔ�±ăue
Unrealized

Loss

Governmentݘbonds ہڹڹܜڹڹ ށ (ھںڹܡ ށ ھڿڽܜں ށ (ۀۀܡ ށ ڽہھܜڻڹ ށ ܢڼڹںܡ ށ

CorĨorateݘdebtݘsecurities ۀںںܜڼ (ڿڹܡ ۀڻۀܜھ (ۀھڹܡ ھھڸܜڹڹ ܢڽۀڹܡ

MortgageܭbacĀedݘandݘ
assetܭbacĀedݘsecurities ںںںܜڽ (ھڸڹܡ ڻڹۀܜڻ (ہڿںܡ ڽڻڸܜہ ܢڽۀڻܡ

Total ہھڽܜڸں ށ (ہڼںܡ ށ ڿںںܜڻڹ ށ (ڽڻڽܡ ށ ھہڿܜڻڻ ށ ܢڼۀڿܡ ށ

We determine realized gains or losses on the sale or extinguishment of debt securities on a specific identification method. 
The following table summarizes gains and losses for debt securities, reflected as a component of OI&E (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

�nrealiŝedݘgainܡݘlossݘܢonݘfairݘvalueݘoĨtionݘdebtݘsecurities (ڿڽڽܡ ށ ھۀڻ ށ ڸڻ ށ

Grossݘrealiŝedݘgainݘonݘdebtݘsecurities ڻڸڹ ںۀڹ ںۀڼ

Grossݘrealiŝedݘlossݘonݘdebtݘsecurities (ۀۀڽܜڹܡ (ڻڻۀܜڹܡ (ڻڽڽܜڹܡ

lossesݘcreditݘforݘalloŏanceݘinݘdecreaseݘܢIncreaseܡ (ںںܡ ڸڽ (ںܡ

�otalݘgainܡݘlossݘܢonݘdebtݘsecuritiesݘrecogniŝedݘinݘotherݘincomeݘ
(expenseݘܜܢnet (ڼھڸܜںܡ ށ (ڽڹںܜڹܡ ށ (ڻڼڸܜڹܡ ށ
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Equity Investments
The carrying value of equity securities is measured as the total initial cost plus the cumulative net gain (loss). Gains and 
losses, including impairments, are included as a component of OI&E in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 7 
for further details on OI&E. Certain of our non-marketable equity securities include our investments in VIE where we are not 
the Ĩrimary beneficiary۽ See Xote ٹ for further details on �IE۽

The carrying values for marketable and non-marketable equity securities are summarized below (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ٷٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ �s oè "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

W±rĀet±Êăe 
Equity Securities

XoĉܭW±rĀet±Êăe 
Equity Securities Total

W±rĀet±Êăe 
Equity Securities

XoĉܭW±rĀet±Êăe 
Equity Securities Total

�otalݘinitialݘcost ۀڹڼܜڽ ށ ھڹھܜڿڹ ށ ڼڻڸܜڻں ށ ڿھڿܜڼ ށ ڸڼںܜڹں ށ ڿڸڸܜھں ށ

Cumulativeݘ
netݘgainܡݘlossܢڹܡܢ ڽڽڽ ڸڽڹܜڹڹ ڽڸڿܜڹڹ ںڹڻ ڹہںܜڼڹ ڻڸھܜڼڹ

Carryingݘvalue ڻڿہܜڽ ށ ھھڿܜۀں ށ ہڻڿܜڼڻ ށ ہڿڸܜڽ ށ ڹڻڽܜڽڻ ށ ڸڹھܜڸڼ ށ

(1) XonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities cumulative net gain ܡlossܢ is comĨrised of ٵ۽ټٵݝ billion and ٻ۽ٶٶݝ billion of gains and ٽ۽ٺݝ billion and 
 ۽resĨectively ,ٸٶٴٶ and ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ as of "ecember ܢincluding imĨairmentsܡ billion of losses ٸ۽ټݝ

9±iĉs ±ĉÑ Qosses oĉ W±rĀet±Êăe ±ĉÑ XoĉܭĈ±rĀet±Êăe EĪuitŕ ~ecurities
Gains and losses (including impairments), net, for marketable and non-marketable equity securities included in OI&E are 
summarized below (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ںںڸں ڻںڸں ڼںڸں

RealiŝedݘnetݘgainܡݘlossݘܢonݘeĪuityݘsecuritiesݘsoldݘduringݘtheݘ
period (ںڼڼܡ ށ ڸہھ ށ ھۀڹ ށ

�nrealiŝedݘnetݘgainܡݘlossݘܢonݘmarĀetableݘeĪuityݘsecurities (ںڼںܜڻܡ ڸہڿ ھڽڹ

�nrealiŝedݘnetݘgainܡݘlossݘܢonݘnonܭmarĀetableݘeĪuityݘsecuritiesܢڹܡ ہںں (ۀۀڸܜڹܡ ںڿڻܜڻ

�otalݘgainܡݘlossݘܢonݘeĪuityݘsecuritiesݘinݘotherݘincome
netݘܜܢexĨenseܡ (ڽڽڼܜڻܡ ށ ںہڻ ށ ڼڹڿܜڻ ށ

(1) Unrealized gain (loss) on non-marketable equity securities accounted for under the measurement alternative is comprised of $3.3 billion, 
 includingܡ billion of doŏnŏard adýustments ٶ۽ٶݝ billion, and ٽ۽ٶݝ ,billion ٴ۽ٷݝ billion of uĨŏard adýustments and ٺ۽ٹݝ billion, and ټ۽ٵݝ
imĨairmentsܢ for the years ended "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively۽

In the table above, realized net gain (loss) on equity securities sold during the period reflects the difference between the 
sale proceeds and the carrying value of the equity securities at the beginning of the period or the purchase date, if later. 

Cumulative net gains (losses) on equity securities sold during the period, which is summarized in the following table (in 
millions), represents the total net gains (losses) recognized after the initial purchase date of the equity security sold during 
the period. While these net gains (losses) may have been reflected in periods prior to the period of sale, we believe they 
are important supplemental information as they reflect the economic net gains (losses) on the securities sold during the 
period. Cumulative net gains (losses) are calculated as the difference between the sale price and the initial purchase price 
for the equity security sold during the period.

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

�otalݘsaleݘĨrice ށ ڹۀہܜڹ ށ ڿںۀܜں

�otalݘinitialݘcost ںڹڽܜڹ ہڿڸܜں

Cumulativeݘnetݘgainsܡݘlosses) ށ ہھڼ ށ ۀڼڿ
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EĪuitŕ ~ecurities �ccouĉteÑ èor �ĉÑer tîe EĪuitŕ WetîoÑ
As of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ, eĪuity securities accounted for under the eĪuity method had a carrying value of 
aĨĨroximately ٻ۽ٵݝ billion and ٴ۽ٶݝ billion, resĨectively۽ Our share of gains and losses, including imĨairments, are included 
as a component of OI&E, in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 7 for further details on OI&E. Certain of our 
equity method securities include our investments in VIEs where we are not the primary beneficiary. See Note 4 for further 
details on VIEs.

�oĉvertiÊăe Xotes
As of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, ŏe had investments in convertible notes of ٵٶٽݝ million and ٽ۽ٶݝ billion, 
respectively, the majority of which are convertible notes held for investment. Our convertible notes held for investment are 
recorded at amortized cost which includes unpaid principal balances, deferred origination costs, and any related discount 
or premium, net of allowances for credit losses, and are included within other non-current assets on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.

"eriv±tive 8iĉ±ĉci±ă AĉstruĈeĉts
We use derivative instruments to manage risks relating to our ongoing business operations. The primary risk managed is 
foreign exchange risk. We use foreign currency contracts to reduce the risk that our cash flows, earnings, and investment in 
foreign subsidiaries will be adversely affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. We also enter into derivative 
instruments to partially offset our exposure to other risks and enhance investment returns.

We recognize derivative instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value and classify the derivatives primarily 
ŏithin Level ٶ in the fair value hierarchy۽ �e Ĩresent our collar contracts ܡan oĨtion strategy comĨrised of a combination 
of purchased and written options) at net fair values and present all other derivatives at gross fair values. The accounting 
treatment for derivatives is based on the intended use and hedge designation.

Cash Flow Hedges
We designate foreign currency forward and option contracts (including collars) as cash flow hedges to hedge certain 
forecasted revenue transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. These contracts have maturities of 
۽months or less ٸٶ

Cash flow hedge amounts included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness are deferred in AOCI and subsequently 
reclassified to revenue when the hedged item is recognized in earnings. We exclude forward points and time value from our 
assessment of hedge effectiveness and amortize them on a straight-line basis over the life of the hedging instrument in 
revenues. The difference between fair value changes of the excluded component and the amount amortized to revenues is 
recorded in AOCI.

As of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, the net accumulated gain on our foreign currency cash floŏ hedges before tax effect ŏas 
۽months ٶٵ million, ŏhich is exĨected to be reclassified from AOCI into revenues ŏithin the nextݔٵٷٻݝ

Fair Value Hedges
We designate foreign currency forward contracts as fair value hedges to hedge foreign currency risks for our marketable 
securities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Fair value hedge amounts included in the assessment of hedge 
effectiveness are recognized in OI&E, along with the offsetting gains and losses of the related hedged items. We exclude 
forward points from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and recognize changes in the excluded component in OI&E.

Net Investment Hedges
We designate foreign currency forward contracts as net investment hedges to hedge the foreign currency risks related to 
our investment in foreign subsidiaries. Net investment hedge amounts included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness 
are recognized in AOCI along with the foreign currency translation adjustment. We exclude forward points from the 
assessment of hedge effectiveness and recognize changes in the excluded component in OI&E.

^tîer "eriv±tives
We enter into foreign currency forward and option contracts that are not designated as hedging instruments to hedge 
intercompany transactions and other monetary assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional 
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currency of a subsidiary. Gains and losses on these derivatives that are not designated as accounting hedges are primarily 
recorded in OI&E along with the foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities.

We also use derivatives not designated as hedging instruments to manage risks relating to interest rates, commodity prices, 
and credit exposures, and to enhance investment returns. From time to time, we enter into derivatives to hedge the market 
price risk on certain of our marketable equity securities. Gains and losses arising from other derivatives are primarily 
reflected within the “other” component of OI&E. See Note 7 for further details. 

The gross notional amounts of outstanding derivative instruments were as follows (in millions):

�sݘoèݘ"eceĈÊerܜڹڻݘ

ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

"eriv±tivesݘÑesiéĉ±teÑݘ±sݘîeÑéiĉéݘiĉstruĈeĉtsܝ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts

Cashݘfloŏݘhedgesݘ ٽٷٴ۾ټٵ ݝ ٹٵٷ۾ٴٶ ݝ

Fairݘvalueݘhedges ٹٺٴ۾ٶ ݝ ٶٺٹ۾ٵ ݝ

Xetݘinvestmentݘhedges ٶٻٸ۾ٽ ݝ ٺټٽ۾ٺ ݝ

"eriv±tivesݘĉotݘÑesiéĉ±teÑݘ±sݘîeÑéiĉéݘiĉstruĈeĉtsܝ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts ٶٶٻ۾ٽٷ ݝ ٻٶٶ۾ٸٸ ݝ

Otherݘcontracts ټٵټ۾ٴٵ ݝ ٶټٴ۾ٹٵ ݝ

The fair values of outstanding derivative instruments were as follows (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ٷٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ �s oè "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

Assetsܢٵܡ Qi±Êiăitiesܢٶܡ Assetsܢٵܡ Qi±Êiăitiesܢٶܡ

"eriv±tivesݘÑesiéĉ±teÑݘ±sݘîeÑéiĉéݘiĉstruĈeĉtsܝ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts ڽڸں ށ ںڼں ށ ڼڽڸܜڹ ށ ڸ ށ

"eriv±tivesݘĉotݘÑesiéĉ±teÑݘ±sݘîeÑéiĉéݘiĉstruĈeĉtsܝ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts ڼڻڹ ھڽڹ ڸڸں ڻہڽ

Otherݘcontracts ڼڹڹ ڿڼ ڼڿڼ ہڹ

�otalݘderivativesݘnotݘdesignatedݘasݘhedgingݘinstruments ۀڼں ڻڸں ڼڿھ ںڹھ

Total ڻڽڼ ށ ڽڼڼ ށ ۀںڿܜڹ ށ ںڹھ ށ

(1) Derivative assets are recorded as other current and non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
.Derivative liabilities are recorded as accrued expenses and other liabilities, current and non-current in the Consolidated Balance Sheets ܢٶܡ

The gains (losses) on derivatives in cash flow hedging and net investment hedging relationships recognized in other 
comprehensive income (OCI) are summarized below (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

"eriv±tives iĉ c±sî èăoŏ îeÑéiĉé reă±tioĉsîiĨۿ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts

Amountݘincludedݘinݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘeffectiveness ہہھܜڹ ށ ڸہ ށ ڿڽۀ ށ

Amountݘexcludedݘfromݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘeffectiveness (ۀۀڹܡ ڼۀ ڿڿ

"eriv±tives iĉ ĉet iĉvestĈeĉt îeÑéiĉé reă±tioĉsîiĨۿ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts

Amountݘincludedݘinݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘeffectiveness ۀڸھ (ڿۀںܡ ڻںں

Total ہڹڹܜں ށ (ڻڹڹܡ ށ ڿڽڹܜڹ ށ
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The table below presents the gains (losses) of our derivatives included in the Consolidated Statements of Income: (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

Revenues

Other 
income 

 ۾ܢexĨeĉseܡ
net Revenues

Other 
income 

 ۾ܢexĨeĉseܡ
net Revenues

Other 
income 

 ۾ܢexĨeĉseܡ
net

�otalݘamountsݘincludedݘinݘtheݘConsolidatedݘ
StatementsݘofݘIncome ھڻۀܜںۀں ށ (ڼڹڽܜڻܡ ށ ڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ށ ڼںڼܜڹ ށ ۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ ށ ڽںڼܜڿ ށ

Eèèect oè c±sî èăoŏ îeÑéesۿ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts

AmountݘreclassifiedݘfromݘAOCIݘtoݘincome ھڼڸܜں ށ ڸ ށ ڻڹں ށ ڸ ށ ڼڿڹ ށ ڸ ށ

Amountݘexcludedݘfromݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘ
effectivenessܡݘamortiŝedܢ (ڽۀܡ ڸ ڼں ڸ ڿڻ ڸ

Eèèect oè è±ir v±ăue îeÑéesۿ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts

>edgedݘitems ڸ (ںھڹܡ ڸ ہڽ ڸ (ہڽܡ

"erivativesݘdesignatedݘasݘhedgingݘ
instruments ڸ ڻھڹ ڸ (ہڽܡ ڸ ۀڽ

Amountݘexcludedݘfromݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘ
effectiveness ڸ ھڹ ڸ ڽڹ ڸ ڻڹ

Eèèect oè ĉet iĉvestĈeĉt îeÑéesۿ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts

Amountݘexcludedݘfromݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘ
effectiveness ڸ ڹڿڹ ڸ ڿۀڹ ڸ ڿڻڹ

Eèèect oè ĉoĉ Ñesiéĉ±teÑ îeÑéesۿ

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts ڸ (ڽہڻܡ ڸ ڿ ڸ ڽڻڻ

Otherݘcontracts ڸ ڼڼڹ ڸ ڻڽ ڸ ڼڿڹ

�otalݘgainsܡݘlossesܢ ڹھہܜڹ ށ (ڻھܡ ށ ڿڻں ށ ںھں ށ ڹڹں ށ ۀڽھ ށ

^èèsettiĉé oè "eriv±tives
We enter into master netting arrangements and collateral security arrangements to reduce credit risk. Cash collateral 
received related to derivative instruments under our collateral security arrangements are included in other current assets 
with a corresponding liability. Cash and non-cash collateral pledged related to derivative instruments under our collateral 
security arrangements are included in other current assets.
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The gross amounts of derivative instruments subject to master netting arrangements with various counterparties, and cash 
and non-cash collateral received and pledged under such agreements were as follows (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ٷٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

9ross �Ĉouĉts Xot ^èèset iĉ tîe 
�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ �±ă±ĉce ~îeets۾ 

Êut >±ve Qeé±ă ziéîts to ^èèset

Gross 
Amounts 

Recognized

Gross Amounts 
^èèset iĉ tîe 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Net Amounts 
Presented in the 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Financial 
Instrumentsܢٵܡ

Cash and 
Non-Cash 
Collateral 

Received or 
Pledged Net Amounts

"erivativesݘassets ڽڻڽ ށ (ںۀܡ ށ ڻڽڼ ށ (ڻڹںܡ ށ (ڽڿܡ ށ ڽھڹ ށ

"erivativesݘliabilities ڿںڽ ށ (ںۀܡ ށ ڽڼڼ ށ (ڻڹںܡ ށ (ھڹܡ ށ ھڹں ށ

�s oè "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

9ross �Ĉouĉts Xot ^èèset iĉ tîe 
�oĉsoăiÑ±teÑ �±ă±ĉce ~îeets۾ 

Êut >±ve Qeé±ă ziéîts to ^èèset

Gross 
Amounts

Recognized

Gross Amounts 
^èèset iĉ tîe 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Net Amounts 
Presented in the 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

Financial 
Instrumentsܢٵܡ

Cash and 
Non-Cash 
Collateral 

Received or 
Pledged Net Amounts

"erivativesݘassets ھڿڿܜڹ ށ (ۀڼܡ ށ ۀںڿܜڹ ށ (ھڹڽܡ ށ (ڹںڿܡ ށ ڹہڼ ށ

"erivativesݘliabilities ڸھھ ށ (ۀڼܡ ށ ںڹھ ށ (ھڹڽܡ ށ (ہܡ ށ ڿۀ ށ

(1) �he balances as of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ ŏere related to derivatives alloŏed to be net settled in accordance ŏith our master 
netting agreements.

Xote ۽ٸ Qe±ses 
We have entered into operating and finance lease agreements primarily for data centers, land, and offices throughout the 
world with varying lease terms.

Components of lease costs were as follows (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

OĨeratingݘleaseݘcost ڸڸہܜں ށ ںھڻܜڻ ށ ڼڸڻܜڻ ށ

Financeݘleaseݘcostܝ

Amortiŝationݘofݘleaseݘassets ڼڿڼ ہھڼ ڻڹڼ

Interestݘonݘleaseݘliabilities ڼڻ ڽڻ ڹڻ

Financeݘleaseݘcost ۀڸڽ ڼڸڽ ڼڼڼ

�ariableݘleaseݘcost ۀڻۀ ںۀڹܜڹ ڽںڼܜڹ

�otalݘleaseݘcost ھڼںܜڼ ށ ۀڼڸܜڽ ށ ڻڿڹܜڽ ށ
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows (in millions):

"eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ
ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

Weighted average remaining lease term
OĨeratingݘleases yearsݘڹܛۀ yearsݘۀܛڿ
Financeݘleases yearsݘڿܛڸڹ yearsݘڼܛڸڹ

Weighted average discount rate
OĨeratingݘleases ޾ڹܛڻ ޾ڼܛڻ
Financeݘleases ޾ڸܛں ޾ۀܛں

^Ĩer±tiĉé ăe±sesۿ
OĨeratingݘleaseݘassets ڹہڸܜڼڹ ށ ۀۀڽܜڻڹ ށ

AccruedݘexĨensesݘandݘotherݘliabilities ڹہڿܜں ށ ڿۀۀܜں ށ
OĨeratingݘleaseݘliabilities ڸھڼܜںڹ ڹہھܜڹڹ

�otalݘoĨeratingݘleaseݘliabilities ڹڽںܜڽڹ ށ ۀڿڽܜڼڹ ށ

8iĉ±ĉce Qe±sesۿ
ProĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨmentݘܜatݘcost ڻڸڼܜڼ ށ ںںھܜڼ ށ
AccumulatedݘdeĨreciation (ںڽھܜڹܡ (ڿڻڸܜںܡ

ProĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨmentݘܜnet ڹڽڿܜں ށ ڽۀڽܜں ށ

AccruedݘexĨensesݘandݘotherݘliabilities ڻۀں ށ ڽڻں ށ
Otherݘlongܭtermݘliabilities ڻۀڻܜڹ ںڼڼܜڹ

�otalݘfinanceݘleaseݘliabilities ھھھܜڹ ށ ڿڿھܜڹ ށ

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ
ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

�±sî Ĩ±ŕĈeĉts èor ăe±se ăi±Êiăitiesۿ
OĨeratingݘcashݘfloŏsݘusedݘforݘoĨeratingݘleases ںںڿܜں ށ ڻڿڹܜڻ ށ ڽںڼܜڻ ށ
OĨeratingݘcashݘfloŏsݘusedݘforݘfinanceݘleases ڼڻ ށ ڽڻ ށ ڹڻ ށ
Financingݘcashݘfloŏsݘusedݘforݘfinanceݘleasesܢڹܡ ھۀڽ ށ ڽڸڿ ށ ڽڸڼ ށ

�ssets oÊt±iĉeÑ iĉ excî±ĉée èor ăe±se ăi±Êiăitiesۿ
OĨeratingݘleases ڻۀڻܜڼ ށ ڿڿۀܜں ށ ڸڹڽܜں ށ
Financeݘleases ڿڿڽ ށ ڼھڽ ށ ڻڹڻ ށ

(1) Financing cash flows used for financing leases are included within financing activities of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as 
repayments of debt.

Future lease Ĩayments as of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ ŏere as folloŏs ܡin millionsܢ:

Operating 
Leases

Finance 
Leases

ڽںڸں ںھڹܜڻ ށ ڿڽں ށ
ھںڸں ڼںۀܜں ۀڸں
ڿںڸں ڹڹڻܜں ۀڸں
ۀںڸں ۀڻۀܜڹ ڿہڹ
ہںڸں ۀڼڼܜڹ ھھڹ
Thereafter ڽڽڼܜڽ ںڽۀ

�otalݘfutureݘleaseݘĨayments ۀڻڸܜڿڹ ۀۀۀܜڹ
LessݘimĨutedݘinterest (ڸھڼܜںܡ (ڹڹںܡ

�otalݘleaseݘliabilityݘbalance ۀڿڽܜڼڹ ށ ڿڿھܜڹ ށ
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As of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, ŏe have entered into leases that have not yet commenced ŏith shortܭterm and longܭterm future 
lease Ĩayments of ٷٻٻݝ million and ٹ۽ٺݝ billion, resĨectively, that are not yet recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets۽ 
�hese leases ŏill commence betŏeen ٹٶٴٶ and ټٶٴٶ ŏith nonܭcancelable lease terms betŏeen one and ٹٶ years۽

Xote ۽ٹ �±ri±Êăe Aĉterest Eĉtities
Consolidated VIEs
We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a variable interest and are the primary beneficiary. The results of operations and 
financial position of these VIEs are included in our consolidated financial statements. 

For certain consolidated VIEs, their assets are not available to us, and their creditors do not have recourse to us. As 
of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ, assets that can only be used to settle obligations of these �IEs ŏere ٽ۽ٸݝ billion and 
$8.7 billion, respectively and are primarily included in cash and cash equivalents on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of 
"ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ, liabilities for ŏhich creditors only have recourse to the �IEs ŏere ٹ۽ٶݝ billion and ٷ۽ٶݝ billion, 
respectively. We may continue to fund ongoing operations of certain VIEs that are included within Other Bets.

�aymo, a fully autonomous driving technology comĨany and a consolidated �IE, received ٺ۽ٹݝ billion in funding during 
the year ended "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, the maýority of ŏhich ŏas funded by AlĨhabet۽ Investments from external Ĩarties ŏere 
accounted for as equity transactions and resulted in recognition of noncontrolling interests.

As of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ, total noncontrolling interests ܡXCIܢ in our consolidated subsidiaries ŏere ٸ۽ٷݝ billion 
and ٶ۽ٸݝ billion, resĨectively, of ŏhich ٵ۽ٵݝ billion ŏas redeemable noncontrolling interests ܡRXCIܢ for both Ĩeriods۽ XCI and 
RNCI are included within additional paid-in capital. Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests was not material for any 
period presented and is included within the “other” component of OI&E. See Note 7 for further details on OI&E.

Unconsolidated VIEs
We have investments in VIEs in which we are not the primary beneficiary. These VIEs include private companies that are 
primarily early stage companies and certain renewable energy entities in which activities involve power generation using 
renewable sources.

We have determined that the governance structures of these entities do not allow us to direct the activities that would 
significantly affect their economic performance. Therefore, we are not the primary beneficiary, and the results of 
operations and financial position of these VIEs are not included in our consolidated financial statements. We account 
for these investments primarily as non-marketable equity securities or equity method investments, which are included 
within non-marketable securities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The maximum exposure of these unconsolidated 
VIEs is generally based on the current carrying value of the investments and any future funding commitments. As of 
"ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ, our future funding commitments related to unconsolidated �IE investments ŏere ٻ۽ٵݝ billion 
and ٹ۽ٵݝ billion, resĨectively۽ 
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Xote ۽ٺ "eÊt 
~îortܭ�erĈ "eÊt
�e have a debt financing Ĩrogram of uĨ to ٴ۽ٴٵݝ billion through the issuance of commercial ĨaĨer۽ Xet Ĩroceeds 
from this program are used for general corporate purposes. We had no commercial paper outstanding as of 
"ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٷ۽ٶݝ billion of commercial ĨaĨer outstanding ŏith a ŏeightedܭaverage effective interest rate 
of ޫٸ۽ٸ as of "ecember ۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ�he estimated fair value of the commercial ĨaĨer aĨĨroximated its carrying value as 
of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ

Our short-term debt balance also includes the current portion of certain long-term debt.

Qoĉéܭ�erĈ "eÊt
Total outstanding long-term debt is summarized below (in millions, except percentages):

Eèèective 
Interest Rate

�s oè "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

Maturity Coupon Rate ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

"eÊt

issuanceݘXotesݘڼڹڸں ݘڼںڸں ޾ۀڻܛڻ ޾ۀڻܛڻ ڸڸڸܜڹ ށ ڸ ށ

issuanceݘXotesݘھڹڸں ھںڸں ޾ڸڸܛں ޾ڻںܛں ڸڸڸܜں ڸڸڸܜں

issuanceݘXotesݘڸںڸں ڸھڸںݘܭݘڽںڸں ޾ڽںܛںݘܭݘ޾ڽڼܛڸ ޾ڻڻܛںݘܭݘ޾ڿڽܛڸ ڸڸڸܜڸڹ ڸڸڸܜڸڹ

�ot±ăݘè±ceݘv±ăueݘoèݘăoĉéܭterĈݘÑeÊt ڸڸڸܜڻڹ ڸڸڸܜںڹ

�namortiŝedݘdiscountݘandݘdebtݘissuanceݘ
costs (ڸڻڹܡ (ۀڹڹܡ

LessݘܝCurrentݘĨortionݘofݘlongܭtermݘnotesܢڹܡ (ڸڸڸܜڹܡ (ہہہܡ

�ot±ăݘăoĉéܭterĈݘÑeÊt ڸڿۀܜڹڹ ށ ڻۀۀܜڸڹ ށ

(1) Total current portion of long-term debt is included within accrued expenses and other current liabilities. See Note 7 for further details.

The notes in the table above are fixed-rate senior unsecured obligations and rank equally with each other. We may redeem 
the notes at any time in whole or in part at specified redemption prices. The effective interest rates are based on proceeds 
received with interest payable semi-annually.

�he total estimated fair value of the outstanding notes ŏas aĨĨroximately ٷ۽ٴٵݝ billion and ٴ۽ٽݝ billion as of "ecember ٵٷ, 
 �he fair value ŏas determined based on observable marĀet Ĩrices of identical ۽resĨectively ,ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and "ecember ٷٶٴٶ
instruments in less active marĀets and is categoriŝed accordingly as Level ٶ in the fair value hierarchy۽

As of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, the future ĨrinciĨal Ĩayments for longܭterm debt ŏere as folloŏs ܡin millionsܢ:

ڽںڸں ڸڸڸܜڹ ށ

ھںڸں ڸڸڸܜں

ڿںڸں ڸڸڸܜڹ

ۀںڸں ڸ

ہںڸں ڸ

Thereafter ڸڸڸܜۀ

Total ڸڸڸܜںڹ ށ

Credit Facility
As of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, ŏe had ٴ۽ٴٵݝ billion of revolving credit facilities, of ŏhich ٴ۽ٸݝ billion exĨires in AĨril ٹٶٴٶ and 
 �he interest rates for all credit facilities are determined based on a formula using certain ۽ټٶٴٶ billion exĨires in AĨril ٴ۽ٺݝ
market rates, as well as our progress toward the achievement of certain sustainability goals. No amounts were outstanding 
under the credit facilities as of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ۽ٸٶٴٶ
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Xote ۽ٻ ~uĨĨăeĈeĉt±ă 8iĉ±ĉci±ă ~t±teĈeĉt AĉèorĈ±tioĉ 
�ccouĉts zeceiv±Êăe
�he alloŏance for credit losses on accounts receivable ŏas ٵٻٻݝ million and ٽٻټݝ million as of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ, 
respectively.

wroĨertŕ ±ĉÑ EĪuiĨĈeĉt۾ Xet
Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

�echnicalݘinfrastructure ڼڸڽܜںڹڹ ށ ھہڽܜہڻڹ ށ

OfficeݘsĨace ڽڻڼܜڸڼ ڼڹڿܜڻڼ

CorĨorateݘandݘotherݘassets ۀںڿܜڻڹ ہڹڽܜھڹ

ProĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨmentݘܜinݘservice ڿھھܜھھڹ ہںۀܜہہڹ

LessݘܝaccumulatedݘdeĨreciation (ۀڽڼܜڿھܡ (ڸہڻܜہڿܡ

Addݘܝassetsݘnotݘyetݘinݘservice ھڻڹܜڽڻ ڿہڽܜڸڽ

ProĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨmentݘܜnet ڽڼڻܜڼڻڹ ށ ھڻڸܜڹڿڹ ށ

�ccrueÑ ExĨeĉses ±ĉÑ ^tîer �urreĉt Qi±Êiăities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

EuroĨeanݘCommissionݘfinesܢڹܡ ڽںڽܜہ ށ ںںڻܜھ ށ

AccruedݘĨurchasesݘofݘĨroĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨmentܢںܡ ہڿھܜڼ ڼڸڹܜڿ

Accruedݘcustomerݘliabilities ڸڼڹܜڼ ڼڸڻܜڼ

CurrentݘoĨeratingݘleaseݘliabilities ڹہڿܜں ڿۀۀܜں

IncomeݘtaxesݘĨayableݘܜnet ۀڼڿܜں ڽڸہܜں

OtherݘaccruedݘexĨensesݘandݘcurrentݘliabilities ڽۀںܜںں ھڸڿܜڿں

AccruedݘexĨensesݘandݘotherݘcurrentݘliabilities ۀھڹܜھڼ ށ ۀںںܜڹڽ ށ

(1) The amounts related to the EC fines, including any under appeal, are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets۽ Amounts include the effects of foreign exchange and interest۽ In the third Īuarter of ٸٶٴٶ ŏe made a 
cash Ĩayment of ٴ۽ٷݝ billion for the ٻٵٴٶ EC shoĨĨing fine۽ See Xote ٴٵ for further details۽

ܢٶܡ Additional ĨroĨerty and eĪuiĨment Ĩurchases of ټ۽ٶݝ billion and ٶ۽ٷݝ billion as of "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively, ŏere 
included in accounts payable.
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�ccuĈuă±teÑ ^tîer �oĈĨreîeĉsive AĉcoĈe ܡQossܢ
Components of AOCI, net of income tax, were as follows (in millions):

Foreign Currency 
Translation 

Adjustments

Unrealized Gains 
 oĉ ܢQossesܡ

�v±iă±Êăeܭèorܭ~±ăe 
Investments

Unrealized Gains 
� oĉ ܢQossesܡ±sî 

Flow Hedges Total

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڹںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ (ھڸڻܜںܡ ށ ھڻں ށ ڿڼڼ ށ (ڻںھܜڹܡ ށ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossݘܢbeforeݘ
reclassifications (ھڻۀܜڹܡ (ڸںڿܜڼܡ ڻھڼܜڹ (ڻہڸܜڽܡ

Amountsݘexcludedݘfromݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘ
hedgeݘeffectivenessݘrecordedݘinݘAOCI ڸ ڸ (ۀۀڹܡ (ۀۀڹܡ

AmountsݘreclassifiedݘfromݘAOCI ڸ ڿڸڸܜڹ (ھڸڿܜڹܡ (ہہھܡ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ (ھڻۀܜڹܡ (ڻڹڿܜڻܡ (ڹڻڼܡ (ڸۀہܜڽܡ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberںںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ (ںڼڹܜڼܡ (ڿڿڼܜڻܡ ھڹ (ڻڸھܜڿܡ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossݘܢbeforeݘ
reclassifications ڽڻڿ ڼڼڻܜڹ ڼۀ ڻھڹܜں

Amountsݘexcludedݘfromݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘ
hedgeݘeffectivenessݘrecordedݘinݘAOCI ڸ ڸ ڼۀ ڼۀ

AmountsݘreclassifiedݘfromݘAOCI ڸ ۀھڹܜڹ (ڼڹںܡ ڼڽہ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ ڽڻڿ ںڹڽܜں (ھڼܡ ڹڸںܜڻ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڻںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ (ڿڸڼܜڻܡ (ڽھہܡ (ڸڻܡ (ںڸڼܜڼܡ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossݘܢbeforeݘ
reclassifications (ڻڿھܜڹܡ (ھڹڹܡ ۀہھ (ڹہڸܜڹܡ

Amountsݘexcludedݘfromݘtheݘassessmentݘofݘ
hedgeݘeffectivenessݘrecordedݘinݘAOCI ڸ ڸ ڿڿ ڿڿ

AmountsݘreclassifiedݘfromݘAOCI ڸ ںۀڿ (ھھڹܡ ھڹھ

OtherݘcomĨrehensiveݘincomeܡݘlossܢ (ڻڿھܜڹܡ ھھھ ہڸھ (ۀہڻܡ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڼںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ (ڸۀڸܜڽܡ ށ (ہہںܡ ށ ہڿڽ ށ (ڸڸۀܜڼܡ ށ

The effects on net income of amounts reclassified from AOCI were as follows (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

AOCI Components Location ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

�nrealiŝedݘgainsܡݘlossesݘܢonݘavailableܭforܭsaleݘinvestments

OtherݘincomeܡݘexĨenseݘܜܢnet (ڹہںܜڹܡ ށ (ڿہڼܜڹܡ ށ (ۀڸڸܜڹܡ ށ

BenefitܡݘĨrovisionݘܢforݘincomeݘtaxes ڼۀں ہںڻ ھںں

Xetݘofݘincomeݘtax (ڿڸڸܜڹܡ (ۀھڹܜڹܡ (ںۀڿܡ

�nrealiŝedݘgainsܡݘlossesݘܢonݘcashݘfloŏݘhedges

Foreignݘexchangeݘcontracts Revenue ھڼڸܜں ڻڹں ڼڿڹ

Interestݘrateݘcontracts OtherݘincomeܡݘexĨenseݘܜܢnet ھ ھ ڹ

BenefitܡݘĨrovisionݘܢforݘincomeݘtaxes (ھڼڻܡ (ڽܡ (ہܡ

Xetݘofݘincomeݘtax ھڸڿܜڹ ڼڹں ھھڹ

�otalݘamountݘreclassifiedݘܜnetݘofݘincomeݘtax ہہھ ށ (ڼڽہܡ ށ (ھڹھܡ ށ

Alphabet 2024 Annual Reportٹٻ

Part I Part II Part III Part IV



^tîer AĉcoĈe ܡExĨeĉse۾ܢ Xet 
ComĨonents of OIߞE ŏere as folloŏs ܡin millionsݔ:ܢ

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

Interestݘincome ڼڿڹܜں ށ ڽھۀܜڻ ށ ںۀڼܜڼ ށ

InterestݘexĨenseܢڹܡ (ڿڽڻܡ (ۀڸڻܡ (ۀھںܡ

Foreignݘcurrencyݘexchangeݘgainܡݘlossݘܜܢnet (ڼڽھܡ (ۀڻںܜڹܡ (ہڸڼܡ

Gainܡݘlossݘܢonݘdebtݘsecuritiesݘܜnet (ڼھڸܜںܡ (ڽڹںܜڹܡ (ڻڼڸܜڹܡ

GainܡݘlossݘܢonݘeĪuityݘsecuritiesݘܜnet (ڽڽڼܜڻܡ ںہڻ ڼڹڿܜڻ

Performanceݘfees ۀہڿ ڿڽں ۀڹں

IncomeܡݘlossݘܢandݘimĨairmentݘfromݘeĪuityݘmethodݘinvestmentsݘܜnet (ڿڻڻܡ (ۀںھܡ (ۀۀڹܡ

Other ڹۀڻ ہہں ہڹہ

OtherݘincomeܡݘexĨenseݘܜܢnet (ڼڹڽܜڻܡ ށ ڼںڼܜڹ ށ ڽںڼܜڿ ށ

(1) Interest exĨense is net of interest caĨitaliŝed of ټٶٵݝ million, ٵټٵݝ million, and ٸٽٵݝ million for the years ended "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, 
and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively۽

Xote ݍݍ۽ټ�usiĉess �oĈÊiĉ±tioĉs
character.ai
In accordance ŏith the accounting reĪuirements under Accounting Standards Codification �oĨic ٹٴټ, for the year ended 
"ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, ŏe recorded ٻ۽ٶݝ billion of goodŏill and ٷٵٸݝ million of intangible assets resulting from a transaction 
ŏith character۽ai ܸܡCharacterܹ۽ܢ In August ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe entered into a license agreement ŏith Character Ĩursuant to ŏhich ŏe 
obtained a nonܭexclusive license to its then current large language model technology۽ �e Ĩaid Character ٻ۽ٶݝ billion in cash 
and canceled our convertible instruments. We also hired certain employees of Character. Goodwill was recorded in Google 
Services and Google Cloud and is deductible for tax purposes.

Xote 9 ۽ٽooÑŏiăă
Changes in the carrying amount of goodŏill for the years ended "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٸٶٴٶ ŏere as folloŏs ܡin millionsܢ:

Google 
Services Google Cloud Other Bets Total

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberںںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ڿڼۀܜڸں ށ ڽڸںܜڿ ށ ۀڸہ ށ ڸھہܜۀں ށ

Additions ڸڼں ڻ ڸ ڻڼں

Foreignݘcurrencyݘtranslationݘandݘotherݘadýustments ڹڻ (ہܡ (ڿںܡ (ڽܡ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڻںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ۀڹڹܜڹں ہہڹܜڿ ڹۀۀ ۀہڹܜہں

Additions ڹڼڼܜں ڽہں ڸ ھڻڿܜں

Foreignݘcurrencyݘtranslationݘandݘotherݘadýustments (ۀڻܡ (ڼܡ (ڿܡ (ہڼܡ

Balanceݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڼںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ڹںڽܜڻں ށ ڸہڼܜڿ ށ ڼڿۀ ށ ڽۀۀܜڹڻ ށ

Xote ۽ٴٵ �oĈĈitĈeĉts ±ĉÑ �oĉtiĉéeĉcies
Commitments
We have content licensing agreements with future fixed or minimum guaranteed commitments of $8.8 billion as of 
"ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, of ŏhich the maýority is Ĩaid Īuarterly through the first Īuarter of ۽ٴٷٴٶ
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AĉÑeĈĉièic±tioĉs
In the normal course of business, including to facilitate transactions in our services and products and corporate activities, 
we indemnify certain parties, including advertisers, Google Network partners, distribution partners, customers of Google 
Cloud offerings, lessors, and service providers with respect to certain matters. We have agreed to defend and/or hold 
certain parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or out of intellectual 
property infringement or other claims made against certain parties. Several of these agreements limit the time within 
which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. In addition, we have entered into indemnification 
agreements with our officers and directors, and our bylaws contain similar indemnification obligations to our agents.

It is not possible to make a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount under these indemnification agreements 
due to the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Additionally, the payments we have 
made under such agreements have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows, or financial 
position. However, to the extent that valid indemnification claims arise in the future, future payments by us could be 
significant and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or cash flows in a particular period.

As of "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, ŏe did not have any material indemnification claims that ŏere Ĩrobable or reasonably Ĩossible۽

Legal Matters
We record a liability when we believe that it is probable that a loss has been incurred, and the amount can be reasonably 
estimated. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be estimated, we disclose 
the reasonably possible loss. We evaluate developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that 
has been previously accrued, and the matters and related reasonably possible losses disclosed, and make adjustments as 
appropriate.

Certain outstanding matters seek speculative, substantial or indeterminate monetary amounts, substantial changes to our 
business practices and products, or structural remedies. Significant judgment is required to determine both the likelihood 
of there being a loss and the estimated amount of a loss related to such matters, and we may be unable to estimate the 
reasonably possible loss or range of losses. The outcomes of outstanding legal matters are inherently unpredictable and 
subject to significant uncertainties, and could, either individually or in aggregate, have a material adverse effect.

We expense legal fees in the period in which they are incurred.

Antitrust Matters
We are subject to formal and informal inquiries and investigations as well as litigation on various competition matters by 
regulatory authorities and private parties in the U.S., Europe, and other jurisdictions globally, including the following:

• Shopping: In Mune ٻٵٴٶ, the EC announced its decision that certain actions taĀen by Google relating to its disĨlay 
and ranĀing of shoĨĨing search results and ads infringed EuroĨean antitrust laŏs and imĨosed a ٸ۽ٶݟ billion fine۽ �e 
appealed the EC decision and implemented product changes to bring shopping ads into compliance with the EC’s 
decision۽ In SeĨtember ٸٶٴٶ, the EuroĨean Court of Mustice reýected our aĨĨeal and uĨheld the ٸ۽ٶݟ billion fine۽ In the 
third Īuarter of ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe made a cash Ĩayment of ٴ۽ٷݝ billion for the fine۽ 

• Android: In Muly ټٵٴٶ, the EC announced its decision that certain Ĩrovisions in Googleܻs Androidܭrelated distribution 
agreements infringed European antitrust laws, imposed a €4.3 billion fine, and directed the termination of the conduct 
at issue. We appealed the EC decision and implemented changes to certain of our Android distribution practices. In 
SeĨtember ٶٶٴٶ, the General Court affirmed the EC decision but reduced the fine from ٷ۽ٸݟ billion to ٵ۽ٸݟ billion۽ �e 
subsequently appealed the General Court’s affirmation of the EC decision with the European Court of Justice, which 
remains Ĩending۽ In ټٵٴٶ, ŏe recogniŝed a charge of ٵ۽ٹݝ billion for the fine, ŏhich ŏe reduced by ٻٵٶݝ million in ۽ٶٶٴٶ

• AdSense for Search: In March ٽٵٴٶ, the EC announced its decision that certain Ĩrovisions in Googleܻs agreements ŏith 
AdSense for Search Ĩartners infringed EuroĨean antitrust laŏs, imĨosed a fine of ٹ۽ٵݟ billion, and directed actions 
related to AdSense for Search Ĩartnersܻ agreements, ŏhich ŏe imĨlemented Ĩrior to the decision۽ In ٽٵٴٶ, ŏe recogniŝed 
a charge of ٻ۽ٵݝ billion for the fine and aĨĨealed the EC decision۽ In SeĨtember ٸٶٴٶ, the General Court overturned the 
EC decision and annulled the ٹ۽ٵݟ billion fine۽ �he EC has aĨĨealed the General Courtܻs decision ŏith the EuroĨean Court 
of Justice.
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• Search: In October ٴٶٴٶ, the "OM and a number of state Attorneys General filed a laŏsuit in the ۽�S۽ "istrict Court for 
the District of Columbia alleging that Google violated U.S. antitrust laws relating to Search and Search advertising. In 
August ٸٶٴٶ, the ۽�S۽ "istrict Court for the "istrict of Columbia ruled that Google violated such ۽�S۽ antitrust laŏs۽ A 
separate proceeding is being held to determine remedies, the range of which vary widely. The DOJ has proposed a 
high level remedy framework, which includes alterations to our products and services and our business models and 
operations, including structural remedies, and/or our distribution arrangements, among other changes, some of which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business. We have filed our own remedies proposal ahead of a hearing on 
remedies in AĨril ۽ٹٶٴٶ �e exĨect a decision liĀely in the second half of ٹٶٴٶ, after ŏhich ŏe intend to aĨĨeal۽

Further, in Mune ٶٶٴٶ, the Australian ComĨetition and Consumer Commission and in October ٷٶٴٶ, the MaĨanese Fair 
Trade Commission each opened an investigation into Search distribution practices.

Given the nature of these matters, we cannot estimate a possible loss.

• Advertising Technology: In "ecember ٴٶٴٶ, a number of state Attorneys General filed a laŏsuit in the ۽�S۽ "istrict Court 
for the Eastern District of Texas alleging that Google violated U.S. antitrust laws as well as state deceptive trade laws 
relating to its advertising technology, and a trial is scheduled for March ۽ٹٶٴٶ Additionally, in Manuary ٷٶٴٶ, the "OM, 
along with a number of state Attorneys General, filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia 
alleging that Google violated U.S. antitrust laws relating to its advertising technology, and a number of additional state 
Attorneys General subseĪuently ýoined the laŏsuit۽ �he trial ended in SeĨtember ٸٶٴٶ, and ŏe exĨect a decision in 
early۽ٹٶٴٶݔ 

Further, in Mune ٷٶٴٶ, the EC issued a Statement of Obýections informing Google of its Ĩreliminary vieŏ that Google 
violated European antitrust laws relating to its advertising technology, to which we responded. 

Given the nature of these matters, we cannot estimate a possible loss.

• Google Play: In Muly ٵٶٴٶ, a number of state Attorneys General filed a laŏsuit in the ۽�S۽ "istrict Court for the Xorthern 
District of California alleging that Google’s operation of Android and Google Play violated U.S. antitrust laws and state 
antitrust and consumer Ĩrotection laŏs۽ In SeĨtember ٷٶٴٶ, ŏe reached a settlement in ĨrinciĨle ŏith ٴٹ state Attorneys 
General and three territories and recognized a charge. Final approval of the settlement remains pending before the 
court۽ In May ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe funded the settlement amount to an escroŏ agent۽ 

In "ecember ٷٶٴٶ, a California ýury delivered a verdict in EĨic Games v۽ Google finding that Google violated ۽�S۽ antitrust 
laws related to Google Play’s business. Epic did not seek monetary damages. The presiding judge issued a remedies 
decision in October ٸٶٴٶ, ordering a variety of alterations to our business models and oĨerations and contractual 
agreements for Android and Google Play. We are appealing the verdict and the trial court judge temporarily paused 
the implementation of the remedies while the Court of Appeals considers our request to pause implementation of the 
remedies pending the duration of the appeal. Given the nature of this matter, we cannot estimate a possible loss.

• European Digital Markets Act: In March ٸٶٴٶ, the EC oĨened tŏo investigations regarding Googleܻs comĨliance ŏith 
certain provisions of EU’s Digital Markets Act relating to Google Play and Search. Given the preliminary stages of this 
matter, we cannot estimate a possible loss.

In addition to these proceedings, private individual and collective actions that overlap with claims pursued by regulatory 
authorities are pending in the U.S. and in several other jurisdictions.

We believe we have strong arguments against these open claims and will defend ourselves vigorously. We continue to 
cooperate with federal and state regulators in the U.S., the EC, and other regulators around the world.

Privacy Matters
We are subject to a number of privacy-related laws and regulations, and we currently are party to a number of privacy 
investigations and lawsuits ongoing in multiple jurisdictions. For example, there are ongoing investigations and litigation in 
the U.S. and the EU, including those relating to our collection and use of location information, alleged violations of state 
biometric statutes, the choices we offer users, and advertising practices, which could result in significant fines, judgments, 
and product changes.
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Patent and Intellectual Property Claims
We have had patent, copyright, trade secret, and trademark infringement lawsuits filed against us claiming that certain 
of our products, services, and technologies infringe others’ intellectual property rights. Adverse results in these lawsuits 
may include awards of substantial monetary damages, costly royalty or licensing agreements, or orders preventing us from 
offering certain features, functionalities, products, or services. As a result, we may have to change our business practices 
and develop non-infringing products or technologies, which could result in a loss of revenues for us and otherwise harm 
our business. In addition, the U.S. International Trade Commission (ITC) has increasingly become an important forum to 
litigate intellectual property disputes because an ultimate loss in an ITC action can result in a prohibition on importing 
infringing products into the U.S. Because the U.S. is an important market, a prohibition on importation could have an 
adverse effect on us, including preventing us from importing many important products into the U.S. or necessitating 
workarounds that may limit certain features of our products. Further, our customers and partners may discontinue the use 
of our products, services, and technologies, as a result of injunctions or otherwise, which could result in loss of revenues 
and adversely affect our business.

Other
We are subject to claims, lawsuits, regulatory and government inquiries and investigations, other proceedings, and 
consent orders involving competition, intellectual property, data privacy and security, tax and related compliance, labor 
and employment, commercial disputes, content generated by our users, goods and services offered by advertisers or 
publishers using our platforms, personal injury, consumer protection, and other matters. For example, we periodically have 
data incidents that we report to relevant regulators as required by law. Such claims, consent orders, lawsuits, regulatory 
and government investigations, and other proceedings could result in substantial fines and penalties, injunctive relief, 
ongoing monitoring and auditing obligations, changes to our products and services, alterations to our business models 
and operations, and collateral related civil litigation or other adverse consequences, all of which could harm our business, 
reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

We have ongoing legal matters relating to Russia. For example, some matters concern civil judgments that include 
compounding penalties imposed upon us in connection with disputes regarding the termination of accounts, including 
those of sanctioned parties. We do not expect these ongoing legal matters will have a material adverse effect.

Non-Income Taxes
We are under audit by various domestic and foreign tax authorities with regards to non-income tax matters. The subject 
matter of non-income tax audits primarily arises from disputes on the tax treatment and tax rate applied to the sale of our 
products and services in these jurisdictions and the tax treatment of certain employee benefits. We accrue non-income 
taxes that may result from examinations by, or any negotiated agreements with, these tax authorities when a loss is 
probable and reasonably estimable. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be 
estimated, we disclose the reasonably possible loss. Due to the inherent complexity and uncertainty of these matters and 
judicial process in certain jurisdictions, the final outcome may be materially different from our expectations.

See Note 14 for information regarding income tax contingencies.

Xote ۽ٵٵ ~tocĀîoăÑersܻ EĪuitŕ
Class A and Class B Common Stock and Class C Capital Stock
Our Board of Directors has authorized three classes of stock, Class A and Class B common stock, and Class C capital stock. 
The rights of the holders of each class of our common and capital stock are identical, except with respect to voting. Each 
share of Class A common stocĀ is entitled to one vote Ĩer share۽ Each share of Class B common stocĀ is entitled to ٴٵ votes 
per share. Class C capital stock has no voting rights, except as required by applicable law. Shares of Class B common stock 
may be converted at any time at the option of the stockholder and automatically convert upon sale or transfer to Class A 
common stock.
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Share Repurchases
In the years ended "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, and ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe continued to reĨurchase both Class A and Class C shares in 
a manner deemed in the best interest of the company and its stockholders, taking into account the economic cost and 
prevailing market conditions, including the relative trading prices and volumes of the Class A and Class C shares. During the 
years ended "ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, and ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe reĨurchased ٷ۽ٽٹݝ billion, ٶ۽ٶٺݝ billion, and ٴ۽ٶٺݝ billion, resĨectively, 
of Alphabet’s Class A and Class C shares.

In AĨril ٸٶٴٶ, the Board of "irectors of AlĨhabet authoriŝed the comĨany to reĨurchase uĨ to an additional ٴ۽ٴٻݝ billion 
of its Class A and Class C shares۽ As of "ecember ٻ۽ٸٸݝ ,ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ billion remained available for Class A and Class C share 
repurchases. 

The following table presents Class A and Class C shares repurchased and subsequently retired (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ٷٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ £e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

Shares Amount Shares Amount

ClassݘAݘshareݘreĨurchases ۀڿ ھڹڻܜہ ށ ڻڿ ڽڽۀܜڹڹ ށ

ClassݘCݘshareݘreĨurchases ڸڽڼ ۀھۀܜںڽ ھڸڻ ںہڹܜڸڽ

�otalݘshareݘreĨurchasesܢڹܡ ۀںڽ ڼۀڹܜںھ ށ ہڿڻ ڿڼڸܜںھ ށ

(1) Shares repurchased include unsettled repurchases.

Repurchases are executed from time to time, subject to general business and market conditions and other investment 
oĨĨortunities, through oĨen marĀet Ĩurchases or Ĩrivately negotiated transactions, including through Rule ٴٵbٵܭٹ Ĩlans۽ 
The repurchase program does not have an expiration date.

"iviÑeĉÑs
"uring the year ended "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, total cash dividends, ŏhich ŏere first Ĩaid in Mune ٸٶٴٶ, ŏere ٹ۽ٷݝ billion, 
۽billion for Class A, Class B, and Class C shares, resĨectively ٷ۽ٷݝ million, andݔٽٵٹݝ

The company intends to pay quarterly cash dividends in the future, subject to review and approval by the company’s Board 
of Directors in its sole discretion.

Xote ۽ٶٵ Xet AĉcoĈe wer ~î±re 
We compute net income per share of Class A, Class B, and Class C stock using the two-class method. Basic net income per 
share is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per 
share is computed using the weighted-average number of shares and the effect of potentially dilutive securities outstanding 
during the period. Potentially dilutive securities consist of RSUs and other contingently issuable shares. The dilutive effect 
of outstanding RSUs and other contingently issuable shares is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the 
treasury stock method. The computation of the diluted net income per share of Class A stock assumes the conversion of 
Class B stock, while the diluted net income per share of Class B stock does not assume the conversion of those shares.

In accordance with our certificate of incorporation, the rights, including the liquidation and dividend rights, of the holders 
of our Class A, Class B, and Class C stock are identical, except with respect to voting. Furthermore, there are a number 
of safeguards built into our certificate of incorporation, as well as Delaware law, which preclude our Board of Directors 
from declaring or paying unequal per share dividends on our Class A, Class B, and Class C stock. Specifically, Delaware 
law provides that amendments to our certificate of incorporation which would have the effect of adversely altering the 
rights, powers, or preferences of a given class of stock must be approved by the class of stock adversely affected by the 
proposed amendment. In addition, our certificate of incorporation provides that before any such amendment may be put to a 
stockholder vote, it must be approved by the unanimous consent of our Board of Directors. 

Immaterial differences in net income per share across our Class A, Class B, and Class C shares may arise due to the 
allocation of distributed earnings, which is based on the holders as of the record date, compared with the allocation of 
undistributed earnings and number of shares, which is based on the weighted average shares outstanding over the periods.
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�he folloŏing tables set forth the comĨutation of basic and diluted net income Ĩer share of ClassݔA, Class B, and Class C 
stock (in millions, except per share amounts):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ٶٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

Class A Class B Class C Consolidated

BasicݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܝ

Numerator

AllocationݘofݘdistributedݘearningsܡݘcashݘdividendsݘĨaidܢ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ

Allocationݘofݘundistributedݘearnings ۀڹڽܜڿں ںڿڸܜڼ ںۀڻܜۀں ںڿہܜہڽ

Xetݘincome ۀڹڽܜڿں ށ ںڿڸܜڼ ށ ںۀڻܜۀں ށ ںڿہܜہڽ ށ

Denominator

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘĨerݘshareݘcomĨutation ڼہہܜڽ ڿۀۀ ںۀڹܜھ ڻھڸܜڻڹ

BasicݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshare ہڽܛڼ ށ ہڽܛڼ ށ ہڽܛڼ ށ ہڽܛڼ ށ

"ilutedݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܝ

Numerator

AllocationݘofݘtotalݘearningsݘforݘbasicݘcomĨutation ۀڹڽܜڿں ށ ںڿڸܜڼ ށ ںۀڻܜۀں ށ ںڿہܜہڽ ށ

ReallocationݘofݘtotalݘearningsݘasݘaݘresultݘofݘconversionݘofݘClassݘBݘ
toݘClassݘAݘshares ںڿڸܜڼ ڸ ڸ – ܢڹܡ

Reallocationݘofݘundistributedݘearnings (ڸڻںܡ (ڸڻܡ ڸڻں – ܢڹܡ

Xetݘincome ڸھڻܜڹڻ ށ ںڼڸܜڼ ށ ںڹھܜۀں ށ ںڿہܜہڽ ށ

Denominator

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘbasicݘcomĨutation ڼہہܜڽ ڿۀۀ ںۀڹܜھ ڻھڸܜڻڹ

�eightedܭaverageݘeffectݘofݘdilutiveݘsecurities

Addܝ

ConversionݘofݘClassݘBݘtoݘClassݘAݘsharesݘoutstanding ڿۀۀ ڸ ڸ – ܢڹܡ

RestrictedݘstocĀݘunitsݘandݘotherݘcontingentlyݘissuableݘshares ڸ ڸ ھہ ھہ

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘĨerݘshareݘcomĨutation ڹۀۀܜھ ڿۀۀ ۀڿںܜھ ہڽڹܜڻڹ

"ilutedݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshare ھڽܛڼ ށ ھڽܛڼ ށ ھڽܛڼ ށ ھڽܛڼ ށ

(1) Not applicable for consolidated net income per share.
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£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ٷٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

Class A Class B Class C Consolidated

BasicݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܝ

Numerator

AllocationݘofݘdistributedݘearningsܡݘcashݘdividendsݘĨaidܢ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ ڸ ށ

Allocationݘofݘundistributedݘearnings ڹڸھܜڼڻ ڼںڹܜڽ ڸڿڸܜڼڻ ڽہڿܜڻڿ

Xetݘincome ڹڸھܜڼڻ ށ ڼںڹܜڽ ށ ڸڿڸܜڼڻ ށ ڽہڿܜڻڿ ށ

Denominator

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘĨerݘshareݘcomĨutation ںںہܜڽ ڿڿۀ ڹڻۀܜڽ ڸڻھܜںڹ

BasicݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshare ڼۀܛڽ ށ ڼۀܛڽ ށ ڼۀܛڽ ށ ڼۀܛڽ ށ

"ilutedݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܝ

Numerator

AllocationݘofݘtotalݘearningsݘforݘbasicݘcomĨutation ڹڸھܜڼڻ ށ ڼںڹܜڽ ށ ڸڿڸܜڼڻ ށ ڽہڿܜڻڿ ށ

ReallocationݘofݘtotalݘearningsݘasݘaݘresultݘofݘconversionݘofݘClassݘBݘ
toݘClassݘAݘshares ڼںڹܜڽ ڸ ڸ – ܢڹܡ

Reallocationݘofݘundistributedݘearnings (ڿۀںܡ (ڿڻܡ ڿۀں – ܢڹܡ

Xetݘincome ۀڻڼܜہڻ ށ ڿۀڸܜڽ ށ ڿڽڻܜڼڻ ށ ڽہڿܜڻڿ ށ

Denominator

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘbasicݘcomĨutation ںںہܜڽ ڿڿۀ ڹڻۀܜڽ ڸڻھܜںڹ

�eightedܭaverageݘeffectݘofݘdilutiveݘsecurities

Addܝ

ConversionݘofݘClassݘBݘtoݘClassݘAݘsharesݘoutstanding ڿڿۀ ڸ ڸ – ܢڹܡ

RestrictedݘstocĀݘunitsݘandݘotherݘcontingentlyݘissuableݘshares ڸ ڸ ںہ ںہ

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘĨerݘshareݘcomĨutation ہہڿܜھ ڿڿۀ ڻںہܜڽ ںںڿܜںڹ

"ilutedݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshare ڸۀܛڽ ށ ڸۀܛڽ ށ ڸۀܛڽ ށ ڸۀܛڽ ށ

(1) Not applicable for consolidated net income per share.
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£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer ٸٶٴٶ ۾ٵٷ

Class A Class B Class C Consolidated

BasicݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܝ

Numerator

AllocationݘofݘdistributedݘearningsܡݘcashݘdividendsݘĨaidܢ ہڸڽܜڻ ށ ہڹڽ ށ ڽڻڻܜڻ ށ ڻھڻܜڿ ށ

Allocationݘofݘundistributedݘearnings ڽۀڸܜڼڼ ڸںڽܜھ ڸڽڹܜںڼ ڽڽڿܜںہ

Xetݘincome ڼہڽܜڿڼ ށ ہڻڸܜڿ ށ ڽۀڼܜڽڼ ށ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ ށ

Denominator

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘĨerݘshareݘcomĨutation ڽڽۀܜڽ ھھۀ ۀہڽܜڽ ہڹڻܜںڹ

BasicݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshare ڻڹܛۀ ށ ڻڹܛۀ ށ ڻڹܛۀ ށ ڻڹܛۀ ށ

"ilutedݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshareܝ

Numerator

AllocationݘofݘtotalݘearningsݘforݘbasicݘcomĨutation ڼہڽܜڿڼ ށ ہڻڸܜڿ ށ ڽۀڼܜڽڼ ށ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ ށ

ReallocationݘofݘtotalݘearningsݘasݘaݘresultݘofݘconversionݘofݘClassݘBݘ
toݘClassݘAݘshares ہڻڸܜڿ ڸ ڸ – ܢڹܡ

Reallocationݘofݘundistributedݘearnings (ڸںڽܡ (ڿھܡ ڸںڽ – ܢڹܡ

Xetݘincome ڻڹڹܜڼڽ ށ ںڿہܜھ ށ ڽڸڸܜھڼ ށ ۀڹڹܜڸڸڹ ށ

Denominator

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘbasicݘcomĨutation ڽڽۀܜڽ ھھۀ ۀہڽܜڽ ہڹڻܜںڹ

�eightedܭaverageݘeffectݘofݘdilutiveݘsecurities

Addܝ

ConversionݘofݘClassݘBݘtoݘClassݘAݘsharesݘoutstanding ھھۀ ڸ ڸ – ܢڹܡ

RestrictedݘstocĀݘunitsݘandݘotherݘcontingentlyݘissuableݘshares ڸ ڸ ۀںڹ ۀںڹ

XumberݘofݘsharesݘusedݘinݘĨerݘshareݘcomĨutation ڹںڿܜھ ھھۀ ھںڿܜڽ ڿڼڼܜںڹ

"ilutedݘnetݘincomeݘĨerݘshare ڽڸܛۀ ށ ڽڸܛۀ ށ ڻڸܛۀ ށ ڼڸܛۀ ށ

(1) Not applicable for consolidated net income per share.
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Xote ۽ٷٵ �oĈĨeĉs±tioĉ wă±ĉs
Stock Plans
Our stocĀ Ĩlans include the AlĨhabet Amended and Restated ٵٶٴٶ StocĀ Plan ܸܡAlĨhabet ٵٶٴٶ StocĀ Planܹܢ and Other 
Bets stocĀܭbased Ĩlans۽ �nder our stocĀ Ĩlans, RS�s and other tyĨes of aŏards may be granted۽ �nder the AlĨhabet ٵٶٴٶ 
Stock Plan, an RSU award is an agreement to issue shares of our Class C stock at the time the award vests. RSUs generally 
vest over four years contingent upon employment on the vesting date. RSUs are awarded dividend equivalents, which are 
subject to the same vesting conditions as the underlying award, and settled in Class C shares.

As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, there ŏere ٷٷٺ million shares of Class C stocĀ reserved for future issuance under the AlĨhabet 
۽StocĀ Plan ٵٶٴٶ

Stock-Based Compensation
For the years ended "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, and ٸٶٴٶ, total SBC exĨense ŏas ٹ۽ٽٵݝ billion, ٵ۽ٶٶݝ billion, and ݔټ۽ٶٶݝbillion, 
including amounts associated ŏith aŏards ŏe exĨect to settle in AlĨhabet stocĀ of ټ۽ټٵݝ billion, ٻ۽ٵٶݝ billion, and 
۽billion, resĨectivelyݔٴ۽ٶٶݝ

For the years ended "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, and ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe recogniŝed tax benefits on total SBC exĨense, ŏhich are 
reflected in the Ĩrovision for income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income, of ٽ۽ٷݝ billion, ٹ۽ٸݝ billion, and 
۽billion, resĨectivelyݔٺ۽ٸݝ

For the years ended "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, and ٸٶٴٶ, tax benefit realiŝed related to aŏards vested or exercised during 
the Ĩeriod ŏas ٻ۽ٸݝ billion, ٺ۽ٹݝ billion, and ټ۽ٺݝ billion, resĨectively۽ �hese amounts do not include the indirect effects of 
stock-based awards, which primarily relate to the R&D tax credit.

Stock-Based Award Activities
The following table summarizes the activities for unvested Alphabet RSUs, which include dividend equivalents awarded to 
holders of unvested stocĀ, for the year ended "ecemberܡ ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔin millions, exceĨt Ĩer share amountsܢ:

XuĈÊer oè
Shares

Weighted-Average
9r±ĉtܭ"±te 8±ir �±ăue

�nvestedݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڻںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ۀڻڻ ڻہܛڼڸڹ ށ

Granted ڽہڹ ڼڸܛڸڼڹ ށ

Vested (ہہڹܡ ہۀܛڸڹڹ ށ

Forfeited/canceled (ڽڻܡ ںڽܛڻڹڹ ށ

�nvestedݘasݘofݘ"ecemberڼںڸںݘܜڹڻݘ ہہں ڿڿܛںںڹ ށ

�he ŏeightedܭaverage grantܭdate fair value of RS�s granted during the years ended "ecember ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ and ٷٶٴٶ ŏas 
 �otal fair value of RS�s, as of their resĨective vesting dates, during the years ended ۽resĨectively ,ٽٹ۽ٻٽݝ and ٶٶ۽ٻٶٵݝ
"ecember ٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, and ٸٶٴٶ, ŏere ٽ۽ٷٶݝ billion, ٺ۽ٺٶݝ billion, and ݔٷ۽ٷٷݝbillion, resĨectively۽

As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, there ŏas ټ۽ٸٷݝ billion of unrecogniŝed comĨensation cost related to unvested RS�s۽ �his 
amount is exĨected to be recogniŝed over a ŏeightedܭaverage Ĩeriod of ٹ۽ٶ years۽
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Xote ۽ٸٵ AĉcoĈe �±xes
Income from continuing operations before income taxes consisted of the following (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

"omesticݘoĨerations ڿڸڻܜڹھ ށ ڸڸھܜڻڿ ށ ھڿڸܜۀڸڹ ށ

ForeignݘoĨerations ڹںڸܜڸڹ ڿڹڹܜںڹ ہڻڿܜڹڹ

Total ۀںڻܜڹڿ ށ ڿڹڿܜڽۀ ށ ڽڹۀܜہڹڹ ށ

Provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

Currentܝ

Federalݘandݘstate ڸںڹܜڿڹ ށ ڽںڹܜڿڹ ށ ڽۀڼܜںں ށ

Foreign ڼڻڼܜں ھںڽܜں ۀھڼܜں

Total ڼڽڽܜہڹ ڹڽھܜہڹ ڻڽہܜڼں

"eferredܝ

Federalݘandݘstate (ںڽڸܜۀܡ (ںۀڼܜڿܡ (ڸڽڻܜڽܡ

Foreign (ھڼڹܡ (ڿڼںܡ ڼہ

Total (ۀہڹܜۀܡ (ہںڿܜڿܡ (ھڽںܜڽܡ

Provisionݘforݘincomeݘtaxes ھڽڻܜڹڹ ށ ںںہܜڹڹ ށ ڿہھܜہڹ ށ

The reconciliation of federal statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax rate was as follows:

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

rateݘtaxݘstatutoryݘfederalݘܛSܛ� ޾ڸܛڹں ޾ڸܛڹں ޾ڸܛڹں

Foreignݘincomeݘtaxedݘatݘdifferentݘrates ڸܛڻ ڻܛڸ ڽܛڸ

Foreignܭderivedݘintangibleݘincomeݘdeduction (ڼܛڽܡ (ھܛڼܡ (ۀܛڻܡ

StocĀܭbasedݘcomĨensationݘexĨense (ںܛڹܡ (ۀܛڸܡ (ڽܛڹܡ

Federalݘresearchݘcredit (ںܛںܡ (ۀܛڹܡ (ڽܛڹܡ

"eferredݘtaxݘassetݘvaluationݘalloŏance ہܛڸ ھܛڸ ڼܛڸ

Stateݘandݘlocalݘincomeݘtaxes ۀܛڸ ڸܛڹ ڹܛڹ

Effectݘofݘtaxݘlaŏݘchange ڸܛڸ (ڼܛڹܡ ڸܛڸ

Other (ڸܛڹܡ (ڼܛڸܡ ںܛڸ

Effectiveݘtaxݘrate ޾ہܛڽڹ ޾ہܛڻڹ ޾ڼܛھڹ

In ٷٶٴٶ, the IRS issued a rule change alloŏing taxĨayers to temĨorarily aĨĨly the regulations in effect Ĩrior to ٶٶٴٶ related 
to U.S. federal foreign tax credits as well as a separate rule change with guidance on the capitalization and amortization of 
Rߞ" exĨenses۽ A cumulative oneܭtime adýustment for these tax rule changes ŏas recorded in ۽ٷٶٴٶ
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"eèerreÑ AĉcoĈe �±xes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of our 
deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

"eferredݘtaxݘassetsܝ

AccruedݘemĨloyeeݘbenefits ڽڽۀܜڹ ށ ڼڻۀܜڹ ށ

Accrualsݘandݘreservesݘnotݘcurrentlyݘdeductible ڹۀڼܜں ںڽڽܜں

�axݘcredits ہڸھܜھ ڼۀڻܜھ

XetݘoĨeratingݘlosses ڽھہܜں ںڿڼܜڻ

OĨeratingݘleases ھںڽܜڻ ھڻڻܜڻ

CaĨitaliŝedݘresearchݘandݘdeveloĨment ڿڽڿܜڿڹ ڻڸہܜڽں

Other ڹڽہܜڹ ھڿڻܜڹ

�otalݘdeferredݘtaxݘassets ڼڼڹܜڿڻ ڿڽۀܜڼڼ

�aluationݘalloŏance (ہہہܜڸڹܡ (ڻہڼܜڹڹܡ

�otalݘdeferredݘtaxݘassetsݘnetݘofݘvaluationݘalloŏance ڽڼڹܜھں ڼھڻܜڻڻ

"eferredݘtaxݘliabilitiesܝ

ProĨertyݘandݘeĪuiĨmentݘܜnet (ہۀڹܜۀܡ (ںڻہܜہܡ

Xetݘinvestmentݘgains (ڽڸڼܜںܡ (ۀڿہܜںܡ

OĨeratingݘleases (ڽھہܜںܡ (ھۀہܜںܡ

Other (ںڸہܡ (ۀڸڸܜڹܡ

�otalݘdeferredݘtaxݘliabilities (ڹھڼܜڼڹܡ (ڼڸہܜھڹܡ

Xetݘdeferredݘtaxݘassetsܡݘliabilitiesܢ ڼۀھܜڹڹ ށ ڸھڼܜھڹ ށ

As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, our federal, state, and foreign net oĨerating loss carryforŏards for income tax ĨurĨoses 
ŏere aĨĨroximately ٸ۽ټݝ billion, ٸ۽ٽٵݝ billion, and ٹ۽ٶݝ billion resĨectively۽ If not utiliŝed, the federal net oĨerating loss 
carryforŏards ŏill begin to exĨire in ٹٶٴٶ, foreign net oĨerating loss carryforŏards ŏill begin to exĨire in ٹٶٴٶ and the 
state net oĨerating loss carryforŏards ŏill begin to exĨire in ۽ٷٷٴٶ It is more liĀely than not that the maýority of the net 
operating loss carryforwards will not be realized. The net operating loss carryforwards are subject to various annual 
limitations under the tax laws of the different jurisdictions.

As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, our Federal and California research and develoĨment credit carryforŏards for income tax 
ĨurĨoses ŏere aĨĨroximately ݔٴٴٻݝmillion and ٸ۽ٺݝ billion, resĨectively۽ If not utiliŝed, the Federal Rߞ" credit ŏill begin 
to exĨire in ٻٷٴٶ and the California Rߞ" credit can be carried over indefinitely۽ �e believe the maýority of the federal tax 
credit and state tax credit is not likely to be realized.

As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, our investment tax credit carryforŏards for state income tax ĨurĨoses ŏere aĨĨroximately 
 �e ۽through method of accounting for investment tax creditsܭ�e use the floŏ ۽ٴٷٴٶ billion and ŏill begin to exĨire inݔٶ۽ٵݝ
believe this tax credit is not likely to be realized.

As of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, ŏe maintained a valuation alloŏance ŏith resĨect to California deferred tax assets, certain 
federal net operating losses, certain state net operating losses and tax credits, net deferred tax assets relating to Other Bet 
companies, and certain foreign net operating losses that we believe are not likely to be realized. We continue to reassess 
the remaining valuation allowance quarterly, and if future evidence allows for a partial or full release of the valuation 
allowance, a tax benefit will be recorded accordingly.

Cash Ĩaid for income taxes, net of refunds, ŏas ٽ۽ټٵݝ billion, ٶ۽ٽٵݝ billion, and ٸ۽ٻٶݝ billion as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, 
and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively۽
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Uncertain Tax Positions
The following table summarizes the activity related to our gross unrecognized tax benefits (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

Beginningݘgrossݘunrecogniŝedݘtaxݘbenefits ۀڽڹܜڽ ށ ڽڽڸܜڿ ށ ۀڻڼܜہ ށ

IncreasesݘrelatedݘtoݘĨriorݘyearݘtaxݘĨositions ڻڽں ڸڼڿ ھہۀ

"ecreasesݘrelatedݘtoݘĨriorݘyearݘtaxݘĨositions (ڿڻڼܡ (ںۀھܡ (ڻۀܡ

"ecreasesݘrelatedݘtoݘsettlementݘŏithݘtaxݘauthorities (ڸڼڹܡ (ڹںܡ (ڹڹڻܡ

IncreasesݘrelatedݘtoݘcurrentݘyearݘtaxݘĨositions ڹںںܜں ھڼڻܜں ہڿھܜں

Endingݘgrossݘunrecogniŝedݘtaxݘbenefits ڽڽڸܜڿ ށ ۀڻڼܜہ ށ ہڹھܜںڹ ށ

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our 
uncertain tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes. The total amount of gross unrecognized tax 
benefits ŏas ٵ۽ٻݝ billion, ٸ۽ٽݝ billion, and ٺ۽ٶٵݝ billion as of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٶٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ, and ٸٶٴٶ, resĨectively, of ŏhich 
۽billion, if recogniŝed, ŏould affect our effective tax rate, resĨectively ٴ۽ٴٵݝ billion, and ٸ۽ٻݝ ,billion ٷ۽ٹݝ

As of "ecemberٷٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ and ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe accrued ݔٶٶٺݝmillion and ٵ۽ٵݝ billion in interest and Ĩenalties in Ĩrovision for income 
taxes, respectively.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state and foreign jurisdictions. Our two major tax 
jurisdictions are the U.S. federal and Ireland. We are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns by 
the IRS and other tax authorities۽ �he IRS is currently examining our ٺٵٴٶ through ٵٶٴٶ tax returns۽ �e have also received 
tax assessments in multiple foreign jurisdictions asserting transfer pricing adjustments or permanent establishment. We 
continue to defend such claims as presented.

�he tax years ٺٵٴٶ through ٷٶٴٶ remain subýect to examination by the aĨĨroĨriate governmental agencies for Irish tax 
purposes. There are other ongoing audits in various other jurisdictions that are not material to our financial statements.

We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of 
our provision for income taxes. We continue to monitor the progress of ongoing discussions with tax authorities and the 
effect, if any, of the expected expiration of the statute of limitations in various taxing jurisdictions.

We believe that an adequate provision has been made for any adjustments that may result from tax examinations. However, 
the outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted with certainty. If any issues addressed in our tax audits are resolved in a 
manner not consistent with management’s expectations, we could be required to adjust our provision for income taxes in 
the period such resolutions occur. Although the timing of resolution, settlement, and closure of audits is not certain, we 
do not believe it is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits from certain U.S. federal, state, and non U.S. tax 
Ĩositions ŏill materially change in the next ٶٵ months۽
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Xote ۽ٹٵ AĉèorĈ±tioĉ ±Êout ~eéĈeĉts ±ĉÑ 9eoér±Ĩîic �re±s
We report our segment results as Google Services, Google Cloud, and Other Bets:

• Google Services includes products and services such as ads, Android, Chrome, devices, Google Maps, Google Play, 
Search, and YouTube. Google Services generates revenues primarily from advertising; fees received for consumer 
subscription-based products such as YouTube TV, YouTube Music and Premium, and NFL Sunday Ticket, as well as 
Google One; the sale of apps and in-app purchases; and devices.

• Google Cloud includes infrastructure and platform services, applications, and other services for enterprise customers. 
Google Cloud generates revenues primarily from consumption-based fees and subscriptions received for Google Cloud 
Platform services, Google Workspace communication and collaboration tools, and other enterprise services.

• Other Bets is a combination of multiple operating segments that are not individually material. Revenues from Other Bets 
are generated primarily from the sale of healthcare-related services and internet services.

Revenues, certain costs, such as costs associated with content and traffic acquisition, certain engineering activities, and 
devices, as well as certain operating expenses are directly attributable to our segments. Due to the integrated nature 
of Alphabet, other costs and expenses, such as technical infrastructure and office facilities, are managed centrally at a 
consolidated level. These costs, including the associated depreciation, are allocated to operating segments as a service 
cost generally based on usage, headcount, or revenue.

As announced in AĨril ٸٶٴٶ, ŏe consolidated teams that focus on building general AI models across Google Research 
and Google DeepMind to further accelerate our progress in AI. General AI model development teams previously under 
Google Research in our Google Services segment are reported within Alphabet-level activities prospectively beginning in 
the second Īuarter of ۽ٸٶٴٶ As further announced, in October ٸٶٴٶ, the Gemini aĨĨ team that is develoĨing the direct 
consumer interface to our Gemini models joined Google DeepMind. The costs associated with the Gemini app team 
continue to be reported within our Google Services segment.

Certain costs are not allocated to our segments because they represent Alphabet-level activities. These costs primarily 
include certain AI-focused shared R&D activities, including development costs of our general AI models; corporate 
initiatives such as our philanthropic activities; corporate shared costs such as certain finance, human resource, and legal 
costs, including certain fines and settlements. Charges associated with employee severance and office space reductions 
during ٷٶٴٶ and ٸٶٴٶ ŏere also not allocated to our segments۽ Additionally, hedging gains ܡlossesܢ related to revenue are 
not allocated to our segments.

Our Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) is our Chief Executive Officer, Sundar Pichai. Our CODM uses segment 
operating income (loss) to allocate resources to our segments in our annual planning process and to assess the 
performance of our segments, primarily by monitoring actual results versus the annual plan. Our operating segments are 
not evaluated using asset information.
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The following table presents revenue, profitability, and expense information about our segments (in millions):

£e±r EĉÑeÑ "eceĈÊer۾ٵٷݔ

ٶٶٴٶ ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

zeveĉuesܝ

GoogleݘServices ۀںڽܜڻڽں ށ ڻڼڽܜںڿں ށ ڸڻہܜڼڸڻ ށ

GoogleݘCloud ڸۀںܜھں ۀۀڸܜڻڻ ہںںܜڻڼ

OtherݘBets ۀھڸܜڹ ڿںڽܜڹ ۀڼھܜڹ

>edgingݘgainsܡݘlossesܢ ڸھہܜڹ ھڻں ڹڹں

�otalݘrevenues ھڻۀܜںۀں ށ ڼہڻܜڿڸڻ ށ ۀڹڸܜڸڽڻ ށ

^Ĩer±tiĉéݘiĉcoĈeܡݘăossܝܢ

GoogleݘServices ہہھܜںۀ ށ ۀڽۀܜڽہ ށ ڻھںܜڹںڹ ށ

GoogleݘCloud (ںںہܜڹܡ ھڹڿܜڹ ںڹڹܜھ

OtherݘBets (ھڻھܜڼܡ (ڽہڸܜڼܡ (ڼڼڼܜڼܡ

AlĨhabetܭlevelݘactivities (ہہںܜڹܡ (ھۀڹܜہܡ (ڹڼڽܜڸڹܡ

�otalݘincomeݘfromݘoĨerations ںڼۀܜڼڿ ށ ڻہںܜڼۀ ށ ڸہڻܜںڹڹ ށ

~uĨĨăeĈeĉt±ăݘiĉèorĈ±tioĉݘ±ÊoutݘourݘseéĈeĉtݘexĨeĉsesܝ

GoogleݘServicesܝ

EmĨloyeeݘcomĨensationݘexĨenses ہںڽܜڻڼ ށ ڼںںܜھڼ ށ ڸھڽܜڼڼ ށ

OtherݘcostsݘandݘexĨenses ڸڸڻܜڿںڹ ڹھڼܜڸڻڹ ڿڸڹܜہڻڹ

�otalݘGoogleݘServicesݘcostsݘandݘexĨenses ہںۀܜڸڿڹ ށ ڽۀھܜھڿڹ ށ ڿھھܜڻۀڹ ށ

GoogleݘCloudܝ

EmĨloyeeݘcomĨensationݘexĨenses ںڻڹܜھڹ ށ ڼڽڸܜہڹ ށ ہڹڽܜڸں ށ

OtherݘcostsݘandݘexĨenses ڸڿڸܜںڹ ۀڹڻܜںڹ ۀہڽܜھڹ

�otalݘGoogleݘCloudݘcostsݘandݘexĨenses ںڸںܜۀں ށ ںڿڻܜڹڻ ށ ڿڹڹܜڿڻ ށ

Google Services and Google Cloud employee compensation expenses include the costs associated with direct and 
allocated employees. Google Services and Google Cloud other costs and expenses primarily include direct costs, such 
as advertising and promotional activities and third party services fees as well as allocated costs, such as technical 
infrastructure and office facilities usage costs. Additionally, Google Services other costs and expenses include content and 
traffic acquisition costs and device costs.

See Xote ٶ for information relating to revenues by geograĨhy۽

The following table presents long-lived assets by geographic area, which includes property and equipment, net and 
operating lease assets (in millions):

�s oè "eceĈÊer ۾ٵٷ

ٷٶٴٶ ٸٶٴٶ

Longܭlivedݘassetsܝ

�nitedݘStates ڻڽڸܜڸڹڹ ށ ڻہہܜۀڻڹ ށ

International ڻۀڻܜۀڻ ڹڻھܜڽڼ

�otalݘlongܭlivedݘassets ھڻڼܜۀڼڹ ށ ڼںھܜڼۀڹ ށ

Xote ۽ٺٵ ~uÊseĪueĉt Eveĉt
In Manuary ٹٶٴٶ, ŏe recogniŝed an ݔٴ۽ټݝbillion unrealiŝed gain on our nonܭmarĀetable eĪuity securities related to our 
investment in a private company. The unrealized gain reflects an increase in the fair value measurement of our investment 
folloŏing an observable transaction in Manuary ۽ٹٶٴٶ See Xote ٷ andݔXote ݔٻfor further details on eĪuity investments and OIߞE۽
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AteĈ ݍݍ۽ٽ �î±ĉées iĉ ±ĉÑ "is±éreeĈeĉts ŏitî �ccouĉt±ĉts oĉ 
�ccouĉtiĉé ±ĉÑ 8iĉ±ĉci±ă "iscăosure

None.

AteĈ ۽�ٽ  �oĉtroăs ±ĉÑ wroceÑures
Ev±ău±tioĉ oè "iscăosure �oĉtroăs ±ĉÑ wroceÑures
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and Ĩrocedures Ĩursuant to Rule ٷٵaٹٵܭ under the Exchange Act, as of the end of 
the Ĩeriod covered by this Annual ReĨort on Form ܭٴٵO۽

Based onݔthis evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of "ecemberٵٷݔ, 
 our disclosure controls and Ĩrocedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to Ĩrovide ,ٸٶٴٶ
reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act 
is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that 
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief 
financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended 
"ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ that have materially affected, or are reasonably liĀely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting.

W±ĉ±éeĈeĉtܻs zeĨort oĉ Aĉterĉ±ă �oĉtroă over 8iĉ±ĉci±ă zeĨortiĉé
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as 
defined in Rule ٷٵaܡٹٵܭfܢ of the Exchange Act۽ Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of SĨonsoring Organiŝations of the �readŏay Commission ٷٵٴٶܡ frameŏorĀ۽ܢ Based on this evaluation, 
management concluded that our internal control over financial reĨorting ŏas effective as of "ecember۽ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ 
Management reviewed the results of its assessment with our Audit and Compliance Committee. The effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reĨorting as of "ecemberٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷݔ has been audited by Ernstߞݔ £oung LLP, an indeĨendent 
registered Ĩublic accounting firm, as stated in its reĨort ŏhich is included in Itemټݔ of this Annual ReĨort on Form ܭٴٵO۽

QiĈit±tioĉs oĉ Eèèectiveĉess oè �oĉtroăs ±ĉÑ wroceÑures
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and 
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired 
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are 
resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls 
and procedures relative to their costs.

AteĈ ۽�ٽ ^tîer AĉèorĈ±tioĉ
�r±Ñiĉé wă±ĉs ٵܭٹÊٴٵ
"uring the Īuarter ended "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ, each of the folloŏing Section ٺٵ director and officer adoĨted, modified, or 
terminated a ܸRule ٴٵbٵܭٹ trading arrangementܹ ܡas defined in Item ټٴٸ of Regulation SܭO of the Exchange Actܢ:

• John Hennessy, Chair of the Board of Directors of Alphabet, through the John L. Hennessy & Andrea J. Hennessy 
Revocable �rust adoĨted a trading Ĩlan on Xovember ܡ ٸٶٴٶ ,ٹŏith the first trade under the Ĩlan scheduled for March ٷٵ, 
 ٴٴٶ,ٵ shares of Class C CaĨital StocĀ and ٴٴٴ,ٺ to sell ٺٶٴٶ ,ٷٵ �he trading Ĩlan ŏill be effective until March ۽ܢٹٶٴٶ
shares of Class A Common Stock.
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• Sundar Pichai, Chief Executive Officer, together with the Pichai Family Foundation, adopted a trading plan on 
"ecember ܡ ٸٶٴٶ ,ٶŏith the first trade under the Ĩlan scheduled for AĨril ۽ܢٹٶٴٶ ,ٶ �he trading Ĩlan ŏill be effective until 
AĨril ٺٶٴٶ ,ټٵ to sell an aggregate of ٴٴٴ,ٺٻټ shares of Class C CaĨital StocĀ۽

�here ŏere no ܸnonܭRule ٴٵbٵܭٹ trading arrangementsܹ ܡas defined in Item ټٴٸ of Regulation SܭO of the Exchange Actܢ 
adoĨted, modified, or terminated during the Īuarter ended "ecember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٵٷ by our directors and Section ٺٵ officers۽ 
Each of the Rule ٴٵbٵܭٹ trading arrangements are in accordance ŏith our Policy Against Insider �rading and actual sale 
transactions made pursuant to such trading arrangements will be disclosed publicly in Section 16 filings with the SEC in 
accordance with applicable securities laws, rules, and regulations.

�oĈĨeĉs±torŕ �rr±ĉéeĈeĉts oè �ert±iĉ ^èèicers
On AĨril ٸٶٴٶ ,ٺٵ, the LeadershiĨ "eveloĨment, Inclusion and ComĨensation Committee of the Board of "irectors of 
Alphabet approved the accrual of dividend equivalent units to current and future holders of all unvested stock units in 
connection with any regular cash dividend that may be declared by the Board of Directors of Alphabet from time to time. 
As stock units are not outstanding shares of stock and thus would not otherwise be entitled to participate in any dividends, 
the crediting of dividend equivalent units is intended to preserve the equity-based incentives intended by the company 
when the stock units were granted and to treat the holders of unvested stock units consistently with all stockholders.

zeĪuireÑ "iscăosure wursu±ĉt to ~ectioĉ ܡٷٵrܢ oè tîe Excî±ĉée �ct
As previously disclosed, Google LLC, a subsidiary of Alphabet, filed notifications with the Russian Federal Security Service 
(FSB) pursuant to Russian encryption control requirements, which must be complied with prior to the import of covered 
items۽ �he information Ĩrovided Ĩursuant to Section ܡٷٵrܢ of the Exchange Act in Part II, Item ٹ of our yuarterly ReĨort on 
Form ܭٴٵy for the Īuarter ended SeĨtember ٸٶٴٶ ,ٴٷ is incorĨorated herein by reference۽

AteĈ ٽ� iscăosure zeé±rÑiĉé 8oreiéĉ MurisÑictioĉs tî±t wreveĉt" ݍݍ۽
Inspections

Not applicable.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item will be included under the caption “Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate 
Governance” in our Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 
120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 (2025 Proxy Statement) and is incorporated herein by reference. 
The information required by this item regarding delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K will be included 
under the caption “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted insider trading policies and procedures governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of securities 
of Alphabet by directors, officers, and employees that we believe are reasonably designed to promote compliance with 
insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and applicable Nasdaq listing standards. Our insider trading policy states, among 
other things, that our directors, officers, and employees are prohibited from trading in such securities while in possession 
of material, nonpublic information. The foregoing summary of our insider trading policies and procedures does not purport 
to be complete and is qualified by reference to our Policy Against Insider Trading filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item will be included under the captions “Director Compensation,” “Executive 
Compensation” and “Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance—Corporate Governance and Board 
Matters—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated 
herein by reference, except as to information disclosed therein pursuant to Item 402(v) of Regulation S-K relating to pay 
versus performance.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 
and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be included under the captions “Common Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial 
Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated 
herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and 
Director Independence

The information required by this item will be included under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” 
and “Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance—Corporate Governance and Board Matters—Director 
Independence” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this item will be included under the caption “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” 
in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 46

Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets 49

Consolidated Statements of Income 50

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 51

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 52

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 53

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 54

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
The table below details the activity of the allowance for credit losses and sales credits for the years ended December 31, 
2022, 2023, and 2024 (in millions):

Balance at
Beginning of Year Additions Usage

Balance at
End of Year

Year ended December 31, 2022 $ 1,389 $ 2,125 $ (2,301) $ 1,213

Year ended December 31, 2023 $ 1,213 $ 3,115 $ (2,737) $ 1,591

Year ended December 31, 2024 $ 1,591 $ 2,895 $ (2,850) $ 1,636

Note:   Additions to the allowance for credit losses are charged to expense. Additions to the allowance for sales credits are charged 
against revenues. 

All other schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is 
otherwise included.
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3. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description

Incorporated by reference herein

Form Date

2.01 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 2, 2015, 
by and among Google Inc., the Registrant and Maple 
Technologies Inc.

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580) 

October 2, 2015

3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of 
the Registrant

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580) 

June 3, 2022

3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, dated 
October 19, 2022

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 25, 2022

4.01 Specimen Class A Common Stock certificate Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

4.02 Specimen Class C Capital Stock certificate Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

4.03 u Alphabet Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

4.04 Transfer Restriction Agreement, dated October 2, 
2015, between the Registrant and Larry Page and 
certain of his affiliates 

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

4.05 Transfer Restriction Agreement, dated October 2, 
2015, between the Registrant and Sergey Brin and 
certain of his affiliates 

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

4.06 Joinder Agreement, dated December 31, 2021, among 
the Registrant, Sergey Brin and certain of his affiliates 

Annual Report on Form 10-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

February 2, 2022

4.07 Transfer Restriction Agreement, dated October 2, 
2015, between the Registrant and Eric E. Schmidt and 
certain of its affiliates

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

4.08 Class C Undertaking, dated October 2, 2015, executed 
by the Registrant

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

4.09 Indenture, dated February 12, 2016, between the 
Registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company, N.A., as Trustee

Registration Statement on Form S-3 
(File No. 333-209510)

February 12, 2016

4.10 Registrant Registration Rights Agreement dated 
December 14, 2015

Registration Statement on Form S-3 
(File No. 333-209518)

February 12, 2016

4.11 First Supplemental Indenture, dated April 27, 2016, 
between the Registrant and The Bank of New York 
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee

Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-37580)

April 27, 2016

4.12 Form of the Registrant’s 1.998% Note due 2026 Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

August 9, 2016

4.13 Form of Global Note representing the Registrant’s 
0.450% notes due 2025

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

August 5, 2020

4.14 Form of Global Note representing the Registrant’s 
0.800% notes due 2027

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

August 5, 2020

4.15 Form of Global Note representing the Registrant’s 
1.100% notes due 2030

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

August 5, 2020

4.16 Form of Global Note representing the Registrant’s 
1.900% notes due 2040

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

August 5, 2020

4.17 Form of Global Note representing the Registrant’s 
2.050% notes due 2050

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

August 5, 2020

4.18 Form of Global Note representing the Registrant’s 
2.250% notes due 2060

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

August 5, 2020
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Exhibit
Number Description

Incorporated by reference herein

Form Date

4.19 Description of Registrant’s Securities Annual Report on Form 10-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

February 3, 2023

10.01 u Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into 
between the Registrant, its affiliates and its directors 
and officers 

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

10.02 u Form of Offer Letter for Directors Annual Report on Form 10-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

January 31, 2024

10.03 u Letter Agreement dated June 3, 2024, between Anat 
Ashkenazi and Alphabet

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-36380)

June 7, 2024

10.04 u Compensation Plan Agreement, dated October 2, 2015, 
between Google Inc. and the Registrant

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

10.05 u Director Arrangements Agreement, dated October 2, 
2015, between Google Inc. and the Registrant

Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

10.06 u Alphabet Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-37580)

October 2, 2015

10.07 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-37580)

June 5, 2020

10.07.1 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan - 
Form of Alphabet Restricted Stock Unit Agreement

Annual Report on Form 10-K
(File No. 001-37580)

February 4, 2020

10.08 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan Current Report on Form 8-K 
(file No. 001-37580)

June 8, 2023

10.08.1 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan - 
Form of Alphabet Restricted Stock Unit Agreement

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
(file No. 001-37580)

July 28, 2021

10.08.2 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan - 
Form of Alphabet Restricted Stock Unit Agreement

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
(File No. 001-37580)

July 26, 2023

10.08.3 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan – 
Form of Alphabet Restricted Stock Unit Agreement

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
(File No. 001-37580)

April 26, 2024

10.08.4 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan - 
Form of Alphabet 2022 CEO Performance Stock Unit 
Agreement

Annual Report on Form 10-K 
(File No. 001-37580) 

February 3, 2023

10.08.5 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock 
Plan – Form of Alphabet CEO Performance Stock 
Unit Agreement

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
(File No. 001-37580)

April 26, 2024

10.08.6 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan - 
Form of Alphabet 2022 Non-CEO Performance Stock 
Unit Agreement

Annual Report on Form 10-K
(File No. 001-37580)

February 2, 2022

10.08.7 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan - 
Form of Alphabet 2023 Non-CEO Performance Stock 
Unit Agreement

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
(File No. 001-37580)

July 26, 2023

10.08.8 u Alphabet Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Stock Plan – 
Form of Alphabet Non-CEO Performance Stock Unit 
Agreement

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
(File No. 001-37580)

April 26, 2024

10.09 u Alphabet Inc. Company Bonus Plan, as amended Annual Report on Form 10-K
(File No. 001-37350)

February 2, 2023

19.01 * Alphabet Inc. Policy Against Insider Trading

21.01 * Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.01 * Consent of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm
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Exhibit
Number Description

Incorporated by reference herein

Form Date

24.01 * Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the 
signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

31.01 * Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

31.02 * Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.01 ‡ Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, 
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

97.01 u Clawback Policy Annual Report on Form 10-K
(File No. 001-37350)

January 31, 2024

101.INS * Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance 
document does not appear in the Interactive Data File 
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline 
XBRL document

101.SCH * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
Document

101.DEF * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
Document

101.LAB * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
Document

101.PRE * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
Document

104 * Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the 
Inline XBRL document and contained in Exhibit 101)

u Indicates management compensatory plan, contract, or arrangement.
* Filed herewith.
‡ Furnished herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 4, 2025

ALPHABET INC.
By: /S/ SUNDAR PICHAI

Sundar Pichai
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer 
of the Registrant)

Power of Attorney
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints 
Sundar Pichai and Anat Ashkenazi, jointly and severally, his or her attorney-in-fact, with the power of substitution, for him or her 
in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto 
and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming 
all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/S/ SUNDAR PICHAI

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer) February 4, 2025
Sundar Pichai

/S/ ANAT ASHKENAZI
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) February 4, 2025

Anat Ashkenazi
/S/ AMIE THUENER O’TOOLE

Vice President, Corporate Controller and Principal Accounting Officer February 4, 2025
Amie Thuener O’Toole
/S/ FRANCES H. ARNOLD

Director February 4, 2025
Frances H. Arnold
/S/ SERGEY BRIN

Co-Founder and Director February 4, 2025
Sergey Brin
/S/ R. MARTIN CHAVEZ

Director February 4, 2025
R. Martin Chávez
/S/ L. JOHN DOERR

Director February 4, 2025
L. John Doerr
/S/ ROGER W. FERGUSON JR.

Director February 4, 2025
Roger W. Ferguson Jr.
/S/ JOHN L. HENNESSY

Director, Chair February 4, 2025
John L. Hennessy
/S/ LARRY PAGE

Co-Founder and Director February 4, 2025
Larry Page
/S/ K. RAM SHRIRAM

Director February 4, 2025
K. Ram Shriram
/S/ ROBIN L. WASHINGTON

Director February 4, 2025
Robin L. Washington
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Directors

Larry Page
Co-Founder

Sergey Brin
Co-Founder

Sundar Pichai
Chief Executive OƂcer
Alphabet and Google 

John L. Hennessy
Chair of the Board of Directors
Former President
Stanford University

Frances H. Arnold
Linus Pauling Professor of 
Chemical Engineering, 
Bioengineering and Biochemistry
California Institute of Technology

R. Martin “Marty” Chávez
Partner and Vice Chairman 
Sixth Street Partners

L. John Doerr
Chair
Kleiner Perkins

Roger W. Ferguson Jr.
Chief Investment OƂcer 
Red Cell Partners

K. Ram Shriram
Managing Partner
Sherpalo Ventures

Robin L. Washington
President and Chief Operating 
and Financial OƂcer 
Salesforce

Directors and executive 
officers as of January 2025

Stockholder information

For further information about 
Alphabet Inc., contact:

Investor Relations
Alphabet Inc.
1600 Amphitheatre Parkway
Mountain View, California 94043
investor-relations@abc.xyz

You may also reach us by visiting the 
investor relations portion of our website at:
abc.xyz/investor/

Alphabet’s stock (GOOG, GOOGL) trades 
on the Nasdaq Global Select Market

Transfer Agent and Registrar
First Class/Registered/Certiƈed Mail: 
Computershare Investor Services
P.O. Box 43006
Providence, RI 02940-3006

Courier Services:
Computershare Investor Services
150 Royall Street, Suite 101
Canton, MA 02021

Shareholder Services Numbers: 
(866) 298-8535 (toll-free within the USA, 
U.S. territories, and Canada) or 
(781) 575-2879

Investor Centre™ Portal:  
computershare.com/investor

Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm
Ernst & Young LLP

Executive oƂcers

Sundar Pichai
Chief Executive OƂcer
Alphabet and Google

Anat Ashkenazi 
Senior Vice President
Chief Financial OƂcer
Alphabet and Google 

Ruth M. Porat 
President and Chief Investment OƂcer
Alphabet and Google

Philipp Schindler 
Senior Vice President
Chief Business OƂcer
Google

Kent Walker
President, Global Aſairs, 
Chief Legal OƂcer and Secretary
Alphabet and Google
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